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GLOSSARY TERMS

The Glossary assigns definitions to the listed terms.  The definition given to a term listed in this 

Glossary applies whenever the term appears in the Request for Proposals (RFP) and in any response, including a Proposal, to this Request for Proposals.

	TERMS
	DEFINITIONS

	Apparent Successful Proposer
	The Proposer approved by the Chief Executive Officer, subject to the execution of a completed contract.

	BAFO
	Best and Final Offer.

	Backup Data Center
	The back-up computer facility in the State of Wyoming, which is maintained and operated by the Successful Proposer.

	Business Day
	Lottery business day, Monday through Friday, 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. with considerations for holiday closures.

	CCTV
	Closed Circuit Television monitoring system.

	Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
	The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Wyoming Lottery is authorized to act, and, delegated by the Wyoming Lottery Board of Directors to enter into a contract between the Wyoming Lottery and the Successful Proposer.

	Contract
	The agreement entered into by the Wyoming Lottery and the Successful Proposer, which will incorporate the contents of this RFP and the Successful Proposer’s Proposal, except as specifically provided to the contrary in the Contract and any amendments to the Contract.

	Contract Award
	The signing of a Contract between the Wyoming Lottery and the Successful Proposer.

	Corporate Accounts
	Corporate Accounts – Retailers operating with more than one selling location; achieving a $20,000 minimum weekly sales average; and utilizing a single bank account for the Electronic Funds Transfer process.  

	Cost Proposal
	The base system and services pricing for any and all requirements, goods and services described in this RFP, including items specified as an invited option, submitted by a Proposer.

	CPA
	Certified Public Accountant.

	DAY
	A calendar day.

	DRAW GAMES
	A computer-generated ticket issued to a player as a receipt for the combination of numbers a player has selected, and generated on a Terminal (as defined herein) on official Wyoming Lottery paper stock, by either selecting his or her own numbers or by selecting Quick Pick.  That ticket shall be the only acceptable evidence of the combination of digits, numbers, or symbols selected.  Draw Game Tickets may be purchased only from authorized lottery retailers.

	Chief Executive Officer
	The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Wyoming Lottery is authorized to act, and, delegated by the Wyoming Lottery Board of Directors to enter into a contract between the Wyoming Lottery and the Successful Proposer.

	GANTT
	A Gantt chart is a type of bar chart that commonly illustrates the start and finish dates of elements relating to projects.

	Gaming Operations Officer
	The Gaming Operations Officer of the Wyoming Lottery is authorized by the CEO to manage the Lottery Operations and Gaming Services (Contract). 

	ICS
	Internal Control System.

	IRS
	Internal Revenue Service.

	Intellectual Property Rights
IP
	The worldwide legal rights or interests evidenced by or embodied in: (i) any idea, design, concept, personality right, method, process, technique, apparatus, invention, discovery, or improvement, including any patents, trade secrets and know-how; (ii) any work of authorship, including any copyrights, moral rights or neighboring rights; (iii) any trademark, service mark, trade dress, trade name, or other indicia of source or origin; (iv) domain name registrations; and (v) any other proprietary or similar rights. The Intellectual Property Rights of a party include all worldwide legal rights or interests that the party may have acquired by assignment or license with the right to grant sublicenses.

	Invited Option
	An Invited Option is identified as being of specific interest to the Wyoming Lottery; however, the Wyoming Lottery makes no commitment to any quantity or timing for acquisition.  The Proposer is not obligated to include a response to an Invited Option in the Proposal.  Costs for Invited Options should be segregated from any costs associated with the Proposal.

	LD
	Liquidated Damages.  Liquidated damages are most commonly associated with fees due for an inability to meet contractual terms.

	LAN
	Local Area Network. 

	LSIC
	List of Standard Industry Code for businesses.

	Lottery Gaming System or System, or Proposer’s System
	The system to be provided by the Successful Proposer that includes the set of Lottery software, Lottery network, Lottery equipment, Lottery gaming distribution method and any other components that perform all Lottery functions, including, but not limited to, sales, validations, inventory and retailer management, claims processing, marketing support, distributions, and reporting.  These systems will provide the ability to control, monitor and report all lottery activity.

	Lottery Operator
	The Successful Proposer that the Wyoming Lottery enters into a contract to perform functions, activities and / or services in connection with the operation of the Wyoming Lottery as required by this RFP.

	Lottery Products
	All games introduced during the Contract term.

	Lottery Representative (LR)
	An employee of the Successful Proposer responsible for dealing with the Retailer sales and field services in regard to Lottery Products.  The Successful Proposer will have multiple LR’s and a job family of LR’s that perform varying levels of retailer sales, consultation services, technical services, corporate account representatives and others as defined. 

	Lottery Corporate Manager
	An employee of the Successful Proposer responsible for Corporate level sales engagement.

	MUSL
	Multi-state Lottery Association

	NASPL
	North American Association of State and  Provincial Lotteries

	Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA)
	Party agrees to not share verbally, in writing or through any other communication methodology information that is protected under this agreement.

	OSHA
	Occupational Safety and Health Administration

	Offered Option
	Offered Options are not identified in this RFP, but may be identified by the Proposer and included in the Proposal.  This is an opportunity for Proposers to offer options that the Wyoming Lottery may not have been aware of at the time the RFP was written.  The Wyoming Lottery makes no commitment to quantity or obligated to include an Offered Option in the final Contract.

	On-Line Ticket
	For the purposes of this RFP, ‘On-line ticket’ is synonymous with ‘Draw Game ticket’.

	Operating Hours
	The period of time during a Day that the Wyoming Lottery designates, in its sole discretion, that Lottery Product sales, validations, reporting, and management functions are available.  The Wyoming Lottery’s operating hours are daily from 6 a.m. to 3:00 a.m.

	PMP
	Project Management Professional.

	Player Activated Sales Terminal
	A player-operated terminal installed at a Retailer location that communicates with the Lottery Gaming System for the purpose of printing Draw Game Tickets, communicating winning, non-winning and actual prize amount data and performing other functions as identified in this RFP and the Contract.

	Player Activated Self-Check Terminal
	A player-operated terminal installed at a Retailer location that communicates with the Lottery Gaming System for the purpose of communicating winning, non-winning and actual prize amount data.

	Primary Data Center
	The computer facility that supports the Lottery Gaming System and its location shall be designated mutually between the Successful Proposer and the Wyoming Lottery.

	Proposal
	All information and materials submitted by a Proposer in response to this RFP.  This includes the Cost Proposal, Technical Proposal, and other information and materials provided to the Wyoming Lottery by Proposers prior to an ‘Intent to Award’ notification.

	Proposer
	An individual or entity that submits a Proposal. The term includes anyone acting on behalf of the individual or entity that submits a proposal, such as agents, employees and representatives.

	QA
	Quality Assurance.

	Responsive Proposal
	A Proposal submitted which conforms in all material respects to the RFP.

	
	

	RNG
	Random Number Generator

	Retailer
	A Wyoming Lottery sales agent, licensed by the Wyoming Lottery to sell lottery tickets, as contemplated by Wyoming Lottery Corporate guidelines, rules and policies.

	Retailer Sales Terminal
	The clerk assisted terminal installed at a Retailer location that communicates with the Lottery Gaming System for the purpose of printing and validating Draw Game Tickets, validating Instant Tickets, performing pack management, accounting, reporting and other functions as identified in this RFP, Specified Options and the Contract. 

	RFP
	This Request for Proposals.

	Sales
	Sales are defined as sold tickets processed by the Lottery Gaming System, less any tickets that have been canceled or returned, less any promotional tickets or promotional coupons and less any retailer adjustments.

	Service Level or Service Level Agreements (SLA)
	Minimum performance requirement(s) that must be provided by the Successful Proposer.

	Specified Option
	A Specified Option must be proposed by the Proposer; however, the Wyoming Lottery does not commit to any quantity or timing for acquisition of a Specified Option.  A Proposal may be rejected if a Specified Option is not included.

	State
	The State of Wyoming and its agencies, boards, officers and employees.

	Subcontractor
	A person who contracts with the Successful Proposer to work, to supply commodities, or contribute toward completing work for the Wyoming Lottery.

	Successful Proposer
	The Proposer with whom the Wyoming Lottery executes a Contract to provide the goods and services that this RFP requires.

	Technical Proposal
	All information and materials submitted by a Proposer in response to this RFP with the exception of the Cost Proposal.

	Terminal
	Any online device that communicates with the Lottery Gaming System for the purpose of selling, validating or canceling draw game tickets and communicating winning, non-winning and prize amount data. See above: references to Retailer Terminal.

	UL CERTIFIED
	Underwriters Laboratories. UL provides safety-related certification, validation, testing, inspection, auditing, advising and training services to a wide range of clients, including manufacturers, retailers, policymakers, regulators, service companies, and consumers.

	WAN
	Wide Area Network

	Working Days
	Business days occurring Monday through Friday except for the legal holidays observed by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.  The terms “working days” and business days” may be used interchangeably.

	Works
	Any tangible or intangible items or things that have been or will be prepared, created, maintained, serviced or developed by a Successful Proposer (or such third parties as the Successful Proposer may be permitted to engage) at any time following the effective date of the Contract, for, or, on behalf of WLC under the Contract, including but not limited to any (i) works of authorship (such as literary works, musical works, dramatic works, choreographic works, pictorial, graphic and sculptural works, motion pictures and other audiovisual works, sound recordings and architectural works, which includes but is not limited to lottery games, game names, game designs, ticket format and layout, manuals, instructions, printed material, graphics, artwork, images, illustrations, photographs, computer software, scripts, object code, source code or other programming code, HTML code, data, information, multimedia files, text web pages or web sites, other written or machine readable expression of such works fixed in any tangible media, and all other copyrightable works), (ii) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, trade names, logos, or other indicia of source or origin, (iii) ideas, designs, concepts, personality rights, methods, processes, techniques, apparatuses, inventions, formulas, discoveries, or improvements, including any patents, trade secrets and know-how, (iv) domain names, (v) any copies, and similar or derivative works to any of the foregoing, (vi) all documentation and materials related to any of the foregoing, (vii) all other goods, services or deliverables to be provided to WLC under the Contract and (viii) all Intellectual Property Rights  in any of the foregoing.

	Wyoming Lottery Corporation, Wyoming Lottery, Lottery or WLC
	Agency created by Statute 9-17-104; Wyoming Government Code. The Wyoming Lottery Corporation may be referred to as the Wyoming Lottery, Lottery or the Wyoming Lottery Corporation (WLC) throughout this document.


SECTION 1
GENERAL INFORMATION

1.1
PURPOSE

The Wyoming Lottery Corporation is issuing this Request for Proposals (RFP) to solicit proposals from interested vendors to provide lottery operations services and equipment including, but not limited to, a Lottery Gaming System and sales, marketing, warehouse, distribution and related services to implement and operate the Wyoming Lottery games.
The Wyoming Lottery Corporation has been approved by the people of Wyoming to develop, organize and implement a Lottery in the State of Wyoming.  The Lottery will provide a wide range of goods and services essential to the delivery of lottery gaming services. This integrated approach for the provision of the Lottery Gaming System, sales, marketing, warehouse, distribution and other related services will ensure a cohesive approach to game development, system support, sales and the marketing of Wyoming Lottery games.

The Wyoming Lottery is not predisposed to any particular solution or service delivery methodology, nor does the Wyoming Lottery intend to limit the creativity of interested parties. Two or more entities may collaborate to file a Proposal, but they must designate a single entity that will contract with the Wyoming Lottery and be responsible for the delivery of all goods, services and requirements set forth in its Proposal.  All Proposals submitted shall completely define the responsibilities of the primary contractor and each participating Subcontractor. 

1.1.1 The goods and services required in this RFP can generally be categorized as follows:

1.1.1.1       Gaming System design, operation and maintenance for Draw and any new games added to the WLC portfolio (in the future).

1.1.1.2          Lottery management system design, operation and maintenance
1.1.1.3        Telecommunications network design, operation and maintenance
1.1.1.4        Terminal installation, maintenance, repair, relocation and removal

1.1.1.5        Call center support system (Retailer Services and System Operation)
1.1.1.6        Facilities 
1.1.1.7        Marketing personnel and services (i.e., advertising, media, point of sale, out-of-home, in-store)
1.1.1.8        Promotions personnel and services
1.1.1.9        Sales, service and merchandising personnel
1.1.1.10 Claims and Payment services
1.1.2 Proposers shall provide information in their Proposals that will permit awarding a Contract in a manner that provides the best value to the Wyoming Lottery.  A Proposers failure to respond in the manner required in this RFP may result in disqualification of its Proposal.
1.2 BACKGROUND
1.2.1 The Wyoming Lottery is presently at ‘start-up’ and requires the selection and support of an experienced lottery gaming vendor to implement the Lottery in the state of Wyoming. 

1.2.2 The Lottery, in its sole discretion, shall make all final decisions regarding the development and implementation of lottery games for implementation in the State of Wyoming.
1.2.3 The Successful Proposer shall be required to provide goods and services as specified in this RFP and shall fully understand the Wyoming Lottery’s history and background.

1.3 CURRENT LOTTERY OBJECTIVES
Proposals submitted in response to this RFP shall reflect the objectives of the Wyoming Lottery, as described below:
a. To operate the Wyoming Lottery in an efficient manner, optimizing revenues for the cities, counties and education.
b. To operate the Wyoming Lottery emphasizing security and integrity by maintaining public confidence in the fair and ethical operation of the Wyoming Lottery and its games; and

c. To meet or exceed the statutory requirements for equal employment opportunity in the provision of goods and services to the Wyoming Lottery.
1.4 OUR VISION AND MISSION
1.4.1 Vision – To operate and execute a Lottery in Wyoming through innovative leadership, efficient and effective business practices and to be recognized as a model for the industry. 
1.4.2 Mission - The Wyoming Lottery is committed to generating revenue for the state of Wyoming through the responsible management and sale of entertaining lottery products. The Wyoming Lottery will incorporate the highest standards of security and integrity, set and achieve challenging and innovative goals, provide quality customer service and utilize a TEAM approach. 

1.5 OUR CORE VALUES
1.5.1 Integrity and Responsibility – The Wyoming Lottery Corporation works hard to maintain the public trust by protecting and ensuring the security of our lottery games, systems, drawings and operational facilities.  We value and require ethical behavior by our employees, licensees and vendors.  
1.5.2 Innovation – We will strive to incorporate innovation into our products to provide the citizens of Wyoming with the best entertainment experience available through our products.  We will pursue the use of technology that enhances the services that we provide to our players and reduces our operating expenses.
1.5.3 Fiscal Accountability – We will emphasize fiscal accountability by ensuring that all expenditures directly or indirectly generate revenue, enhance security, fulfill regulatory requirements, improve customer service and / or boost productivity.  We recognize our responsibility in generating revenue for the State of Wyoming without unduly influencing players to participate in our games.
1.5.4 Customer Responsiveness – The Wyoming Lottery Corporation takes pride in providing exemplary service to the people of Wyoming through the courteous dissemination of clear and accurate information about our products, services and regulatory functions.  We will seek and respond to feedback expressed by our employees, retailers, licensees and the playing and non-playing public.  Applying feedback, we will develop products and services that meet public preferences.
1.5.5 Teamwork – We are committed to creating an environment of mutual respect where open, honest communication is our cornerstone. We embrace the diversity of our team and individual perspectives in working together to achieve our common goals.
1.5.6 Excellence – We strive for excellence by taking a position of leadership on issues that impact the Wyoming Lottery Corporation and achieve challenging goals by focusing on our core values.

1.6 SCHEDULE OF EVENTS
The following time periods are set forth for informational and planning purposes only.  The Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to change any of the time periods and will post all changes in the form of amendments, electronically on FindRFP.com 
	DATE
	EVENT

	December 3, 2013 
	Issuance of the RFP

	December 18, 2013
	Written Questions Due

	December 24, 2013
	Responses to Written Questions Issued

	January 17, 2014
	Deadline for Cost Proposal and Proposer’s Commitment

	January 22, 2014
	Deadline for Proposal, Bid Bond/ Proposal Surety and Protest/Litigation Bond

	January 27, 2014
	Oral Presentations (to be conducted at the Wyoming Lottery’s sole discretion)

	February 03, 2014
	Site Visits (to be conducted at Wyoming Lottery’s sole discretion)

	February 19, 2014
	Announcement of Intent to Award

	February 26, 2014
	Protest’s Due to WLC

	March 05, 2014
	Lottery Protest Response Deadline

	April 04, 2014
	Contract Signed


1.7
SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER’S / LOTTERY RELATIONSHIP

The Wyoming Lottery Corporation will fulfill its duties and responsibilities in accordance with Wyoming Statute 9-17-104 and as such, the State of Wyoming does not have any authority or responsibility in the outcomes of this RFP, or, the subsequent contract.  The Wyoming Lottery will not relinguish control over lottery operations.  The Successful Proposer shall function under the supervision of the Wyoming Lottery.  Its operations will be subject to the same scrutiny and oversight that would apply if all operations were performed by Wyoming Lottery employees.  Accordingly, all operations must be conducted in adherence to applicable statutes and the highest ethical standards. 

1.8 PROCUREMENT AUTHORITY

This RFP and all activities leading toward the execution of a written contract pursuant to this RFP are being conducted in accordance with Wyoming statute.  All Proposers should read and be familiar with the Wyoming statute 9-17-104.
1.9 PROPOSALS SUBJECT TO WYOMING PUBLIC RECORDS
1.9.1
Proposals submitted to Lottery are subject to the Wyoming Public Records Law, Article 2, 16-4-201 through 16-4-205.  If a Proposer claims that particular sections of its Proposal may be exempt from public disclosure under the Wyoming Public Records Law, Proposer must specifically identify those Proposal sections and the specific page numbers on which they appear.  Proposer also must specify the particular exemptions from disclosure under Wyoming Public Records Law upon which the exemption claim is made.  Marking an entire Proposal as “confidential” or copyrighted is unacceptable.  

If the Lottery receives a public records request for disclosure of any information Proposer claims is exempt from disclosure, Lottery will make a reasonable attempt to notify Proposer of the request prior to release.

1.9.2
The Wyoming Lottery assumes no responsibility for asserting legal arguments on behalf of Proposers.
1.10 MISUNDERSTANDING OR LACK OF INFORMATION 

By submitting a Proposal, a Proposer covenants and agrees that it fully understands and will abide by the terms and conditions of the RFP and it will not make any claims for, or have any rights to, cancellation or relief without penalty because of any misunderstanding or lack of information.  The Chief Executive Officer reserves the right to accept Proposals by waiving minor technicalities therein if the Chief Executive Officer, within his sole discretion, determines it to be in the best interests of the Wyoming Lottery.  The decision of the Chief Executive Officer shall be conclusive.
1.11
REJECTION OF PROPOSALS AND CANCELLATION OF RFP

Issuance of this RFP and / or retention of Proposals do not constitute a commitment on the part of the Wyoming Lottery to award a Contract.  The Wyoming Lottery maintains the right to reject any or all Proposals and to cancel this RFP if the Chief Executive Officer, in his sole discretion, considers it to be in the best interests of the Wyoming Lottery to do so.
1.12

OWNERSHIP OF PROPOSALS
All materials submitted by a Proposer will become the property of the Wyoming Lottery and may be used as the Wyoming Lottery deems appropriate.

1.13

INCURRED EXPENSES

The Wyoming Lottery accepts no obligations for costs incurred in preparing and submitting a Proposal.  Proposals shall be submitted at the sole expense of the Proposer.  All Proposers shall be prepared simply and economically, providing a straightforward, concise delineation of the Proposer’s capabilities to satisfy the requirements of this RFP.

1.14

PROPOSAL TENURE

All Proposals shall be valid for a period of three hundred and sixty-five (365) Days from the deadline for submitting Proposals.

1.15

NO WYOMING LOTTERY OBLIGATIONS

The Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to select qualified Proposals to this RFP without discussion of the Proposals with Proposers.  It is understood that all Proposals will become a part of the Wyoming Lottery’s official procurement files after a Contract has been awarded or the procurement has been terminated, and will be available for public inspection except for portions that the Proposer has designated as proprietary and confidential.
1.16
SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER’S OBLIGATIONS
The Successful Proposer shall always be responsible for the performance of any contractual obligations that may result from the award of a Contract based on this RFP and shall be liable for the non-performance of any or all Subcontractors.
1.17
CAPTIONS

The captions to the Sections of this RFP are for convenience only and are not part of the RFP’s substantive terms.

1.18

SURVIVAL

Provisions of this RFP which of their nature and effect are necessary to enable the Lottery to function normally and to meet all of its obligations shall survive any termination of any Contract resulting from this RFP.  These provisions include, but are not limited to, all of the warranties and representations and any provision that by its terms provides for applicability beyond the end of any Contract period.

1.19

PARTS INCORPORATED

All attachments and appendices listed in the Table of Contents, and all materials provided to a prospective Proposer pursuant to the Non-Disclosure Agreement required under Section 2.3 below are incorporated into and expressly made a part of this RFP. 
SECTION 2
PROPOSAL PROCESS
2.1

CONTACT PERSONS

The sole point of contact for communication concerning this RFP, bonds, delivery of Start-up Cost Proposals, Cost Proposals, Proposal, Commitment, etc., is Jon Clontz, CEO of the Wyoming Lottery.   The Wyoming Lottery headquarters’ physical address for deliveries is as follows:

Jon Clontz
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
1620 Central Ave, Suite 100
Cheyenne, WY   82001
jon.clontz@wyoboards.com
2.2

PROHIBITION AGAINST UNAUTHORIZED CONTACT

2.2.1
The Wyoming Lottery is committed to a procurement process that maintains the highest level of integrity.  Accordingly, Proposers, as well as their agents, liaisons, advocates, lobbyists, ‘legislative consultants’, representatives or others promoting their position, are limited to those communications authorized by and described in this RFP, Section 1.6.  Any attempt to influence any of the participants, whether that attempt is oral or written, formal or informal, direct or indirect, outside of this RFP process is strictly prohibited.
2.2.2
Should allegations of improper contact be made prior to any Contract Award, the Chief Executive Officer may investigate those allegations and in his sole discretion, disqualify a Proposer. 

2.3

NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT
Each prospective Proposer will be required to submit a Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) (see Attachment 7) in order to participate in the RFP process.  The NDA shall be signed by an authorized representative of the prospective Proposer, and the original must be delivered to the Wyoming Lottery with the Proposer’s Cost Proposal, no later than January 17, 2014.  
A Proposer’s failure to submit and to comply with the NDA will result in disqualification of its Proposal.  All participants will be required to maintain the confidentiality of all confidential information provided either in writing or orally pursuant to the NDA, including information relevant to Lottery security or information that is proprietary to third parties. 

2.4 
 
INQUIRIES

2.4.1.
Written inquiries concerning this RFP will be accepted and responses will be faxed or emailed to prospective Proposers according to the timetable established in the Schedule of Events, Section 1.6.  Inquiries received after the deadline may be reviewed by the Wyoming Lottery, but will not be answered.  Any addenda or amendments, whether made as a result of a prospective Proposer’s written inquiries or otherwise, will be faxed or e-mailed only to prospective Proposers who have signed the NDA.

2.4.2
Inquiries shall be submitted by email by the inquiry submission deadline.  If there is any discrepancy between the electronic version (e-mail) and the printed version (facsimile) of a document, the printed version will control.  Emailed inquiries shall be emailed to:





jon.clontz@wyoboards.com
2.5
STATEMENT OF WORK FORMAT


Section 6 of this RFP constitutes the Statement of Work and is structured to provide Proposers with a thorough understanding of the goods and services required for the Wyoming Lottery’s operations.  Some sections of the Statement of Work describe in detail the business process and / or functions that must be provided.  Other sections are written in more general terms to allow Proposers to offer a range of solutions.   In this section there are statements provided as ‘Response Note’.   Proposers are to provide in their proposal a written response addressing each ‘Response Note’. 
2.6

Proposals, Bid Bonds/Proposal Surety and Protest/Litigation Bonds must be received by January 22, 2013 in a sealed container addressed and designated conspicuously as “Technical Proposal for RFP 0003”.  No exceptions will be made.  Proposers may deliver Technical Proposals and bonds prior to the due date and time.  DO NOT INCLUDE A COST PROPOSAL WITH THE SUBMISSION. COST PROPOSALS MUST BE SUBMITTED SEPARATELY.
2.6.1
Proposers must submit Technical Proposals and bonds through the U.S. Postal Service or commercial delivery service.  The Lottery assumes no responsibility for any delays caused by mail or delivery service.  It is the Proposer’s responsibility to allow sufficient time for delivery to ensure timely receipt by the contract person.  A U.S. Postal Service (USPS) postmark or round validation stamp; a mail receipt with the date of mailing stamped by the USPS; a dated shipping label, invoice, or receipt from a commercial carrier; or any other documentation in lieu of the on-site time stamp will not be accepted.

2.6.2
The Proposer shall submit one (1) signed original and five (5) copies of its Technical Proposal.  All Technical Proposals submitted must be bound in a three-ring binder, organized and arranged to correspond directly with the numbered sections of this RFP and all pages must be numbered.  For Parts 1 and 2 only, Proposers may provide a blanket acknowledgment and acceptance in lieu of a section-by-section response.  For all other parts, Proposers shall provide a section-by-section response for each Response Requirement.  If a Proposer is claiming any part(s) of its Proposal is confidential, the Proposer must provide a detailed response as specified in Section 1.9.  A Proposer may not amend a commitment to comply with a specific section of this RFP by a later reference back to that section.
2.6.3
Attachment 3 must be signed by an officer or agent of the Proposer with authority to contractually bind the Proposer, and the attachment must be included with the original Cost Proposal.

2.6.4
Proposers are required to propose a complete solution to the Wyoming Lottery’s requirements in their Technical Proposal.  Any items not specifically requested, but integral to the requested services, shall be included in a Proposer’s Technical Proposal and identified in the appropriate sections thereof.

2.6.5
Proposers responding to this RFP must fully and completely address all goods, services and other requirements as described by this RFP.  Incomplete or partial Technical Proposals will not be considered.  A Proposer shall provide all information that the Proposer believes would be helpful to the Wyoming Lottery in evaluating the Proposer’s ability to fulfill the RFP requirements.
2.6.6
In addition to the printed Technical Proposal, a Proposer must also submit one copy of its Technical Proposal on a compact disk in a searchable PDF file.  If there is any disparity between the contents of the printed Technical Proposal and the contents of the Technical Proposal contained in the electronic format, the contents of the printed Technical Proposal shall take precedence.   The electronic or soft copy provided herein will not be accepted in lieu of the signed original and copies.
2.6.7
Technical Proposals that have been copyrighted by any Proposer are unacceptable and may be rejected as non-responsive.

2.6.8
Proposers may not contact the Wyoming Lottery to inquire whether a Technical Proposal has been received.  No such inquiries will be answered.  Confirmation of receipt will be provided via facsimile or e-mail.

2.7
  BID BOND / PROPOSAL SURETY

 
2.7.1
Surety in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) is required of all vendors submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, to insure that the Proposer will accept any resulting Contract Award within (45) Days after notice of an award to the Proposer and furnish the performance bond required of the Successful Proposer pursuant to section 2.8.  The Proposal surety may be in the form of a bid bond naming the Wyoming Lottery as oblige, a certified check or cashier’s check payable to the Wyoming Lottery, or (subject to section 2.7.2) a letter of credit with the Wyoming Lottery as beneficiary.  Proposers shall submit the proposal surety with the Technical Proposal.  The proposal surety submitted by the Proposer will returned following Contract Award.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE THE REQUIRED SURETY WITH THE TECHNICAL PROPOSAL WILL RESULT IN DISQUALIFICATION OF THE PROPOSAL.
2.7.2
A letter of credit may be submitted as proposal surety only if the proposed letter of credit, in substantially the form prescribed by the Wyoming Lottery is submitted to the Wyoming Lottery for review at least five (5) Working Days prior to the Proposal submission deadline and is accepted in writing by the Wyoming Lottery prior to submission with the Proposer’s Proposal.  If a Proposer submits a letter of credit which has not been reviewed and accepted by the Wyoming Lottery with its Proposal, the Proposal shall be disqualified.  The letter of credit must be in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), must name the Wyoming Lottery as beneficiary, must be payable in part or in full upon the Wyoming Lottery’s demand or against Proposer’s drafts at sight, must be open, and may not be subject to modification or revocation without the written consent of the Wyoming Lottery for a term ending no sooner than two (2) years after receipt of the Proposal. 
 2.8
PROTEST / LITIGATION BOND
2.8.1
Proposers must provide a Protest/Litigation Bond in the name of the Wyoming Lottery for the amount of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000) with the Technical Proposal.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE THIS BOND WITH THE PROPOSAL WILL RESULT IN DISQUALIFICATION OF THE PROPOSAL.
2.8.2
The Protest/Litigation Bond shall entitle the Chief Executive Officer of the Wyoming Lottery, or any of the officers, employees, or agents of either to recover, and shall guarantee payment of, all damages, including consequential damages and reasonable attorney’s fees, resulting from any legal proceedings brought against the Wyoming Lottery on behalf of the Proposer, or any Subcontractor, agency and or assign of the Proposer, which are dismissed without trial or in which the tribunal rules against the person bringing a claim against the Wyoming Lottery in such proceedings.  The purpose of the Protest/Litigation Bond is to discourage unwarranted litigation.  The Protest/Litigation Bond shall remain in effect for a period of three years (3) after receipt of the Proposal.
2.9
RESPONSE FORMAT AND CONTENTS

The Proposer must demonstrate its understanding of the requested goods and services and must address specifically, in writing, the Proposer’s approach to providing each requirement in this RFP.  Each Technical Proposal must be organized in the manner described below:
a. Letter of Transmittal
b. Executive Summary
c. Section-by-section response to the RFP
d. Applicable Attachments 
2.10
    LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

2.10.1
Proposers must submit a Letter of Transmittal that identifies the entity submitting the Proposal and includes a commitment by that entity to provide the goods and services required by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation in this RFP.  The Letter of Transmittal must state that the Proposal is valid for three hundred and sixty-five (365) Days from the Day after the date that the Proposal is delivered to the Wyoming Lottery.  Any Proposal containing a term of less than three hundred and sixty-five (365) Days for acceptance shall be rejected.  The Letter of Transmittal must be signed by a person(s) legally authorized to bind the Proposer to the representations in the Proposal.  The Proposer should also indicate, in its Letter of Transmittal, why it believes it is the most qualified Proposer to provide the goods and services required by the Wyoming Lottery in this RFP.  
2.10.2
The Letter of Transmittal must include a statement of acceptance of the terms and conditions set forth in Part 3 of this RFP that will be included in any Contract resulting from this RFP.  If any Proposer takes exception to any of the proposed terms and conditions, those exceptions must be noted in the Letter of Transmittal.  The Proposer should realize, however, that failure to accept the terms and conditions specified in Part 3 of the RFP may result in disqualification of the Proposal. 

2.11
     EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.11.1   Proposers must provide an executive summary of the Proposal, (excluding cost information) that asserts that the Proposer is providing, in its Technical Proposal, all the requirements of this RFP.  If the Proposer is providing goods or services beyond those specifically requested, those goods or services must be identified.  If the Proposer is offering goods and services that do not meet the specific requirements of this RFP, but in the opinion of the Proposer are equivalent or superior to those specifically requested, any such differences must be noted in the Executive Summary.  The Proposer should realize, however, that failure to provide the goods and services specifically required may result in disqualification.


2.11.2
The Proposer must demonstrate its understanding of the requested goods and services and must address specifically, in writing, the Proposer’s approach to providing each requirement in this RFP.


2.11.3
The Executive Summary must not exceed five (5) pages and should represent a full and concise summary of the contents of the Technical Proposal.

2.12
    PROPOSER’S CONTRACTING AUTHORITY

The Proposer warrants and represents that the person named on the Proposer’s Commitment (Attachment 3) has the full right, power and authority to execute a Contract resulting from this RFP on behalf of the Proposer.  Commitments must be unqualified, not limited, and fully commit the Proposer to provide the goods and services required under this RFP.
2.13
    SUBMISSION OF COST PROPOSAL, PROPOSER’S COMMITTEMENT AND START-UP COSTS
2.13.1
Cost Proposals (Attachment 1) must be submitted separately from the remainder of any Technical Proposal filed in response to this RFP.  Cost Proposals must be submitted, along with the Proposer’s Commitment (Attachments 3 & 4) and Start-up Costs (Attachment 5), no later than the deadline established in the Schedule of Events.  The Proposer’s Start-Up Costs must be included in the delivery with the Proposer’s Cost Proposal, but each must be in a sealed envelope separate from the sealed envelope containing the Proposer’s Cost Proposal. 

2.13.2
Cost Proposals, Proposers’ Commitments (Attachments 3 & 4)  and Start-Up Costs must be delivered according to the instructions provided in Section 2.1 above.
2.13.3
Cost Proposals must be received by January 17, 2014 and arrive in a sealed envelope addressed and designated conspicuously as “Cost Proposal for RFP 0003”.  Cost Proposals received after the deadline will be rejected and the Proposer will be disqualified.  Proposers may deliver Cost Proposals prior to the due date and time.

2.13.4
Proposers must submit Cost Proposals through the U.S. Postal Service or commercial delivery service.   The Lottery assumes no responsibility for any delays caused by mail or delivery service.  It is the Proposer’s responsibility to allow sufficient time for delivery to ensure timely receipt by the contact person.  A U.S. Postal Service (USPS) postmark or round validation stamp; a mail receipt with the date of mailing stamped by the USPS; a dated shipping label, invoice, or receipt from a commercial carrier; or any other documentation in lieu of the on-site time stamp will not be accepted.

2.13.5
A Proposer must submit a signed original and five (5) copies of its Cost Proposal.  The original Cost Proposal must be signed by an officer or agent of the Proposer with authority to contractually bind the Proposer.
2.13.6
In addition to the printed Cost Proposal, the Proposer must also submit one electronic copy of the Cost Proposal on a compact disk compatible with Microsoft Excel for Office 2008.  If there is any disparity between the contents of the printed Cost Proposal and the contents of the Cost Proposal contained in electronic format, the contents of the printed Cost Proposal shall take precedence.  The electronic or soft copy provided will not be accepted in lieu of the signed original and copies as required by Section 2.13.5.
2.13.7
The pricing for the required services is to be presented only in the format set forth in Attachment 1 of the RFP.  All Cost Proposals must be typewritten.  No Cost Proposal will be accepted in the form of a letter or by facsimile, telephone call, telegram or mail.

2.13.8
The Proposer must state its pricing for all services rendered during the course of the proposed Contract, including any and all costs involved that are to be paid or reimbursed by the Wyoming Lottery.  No reimbursement is available to the Successful Proposer beyond the amount agreed to be paid for the goods and services provided.  Pricing agreed to in any resulting Contract shall be firm for the initial Contract term and will be mutually agreed to by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation and the Successful Proposer for any extension period(s).

2.13.9
The Proposer shall not disclose its Cost Proposal or other cost information in the body of the written Technical Proposal.  Including cost information in the written Technical Proposal may be cause for disqualification.

2.13.10
Absolutely no inquiries may be made to Jon Clontz, CEO of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation regarding the receipt of Cost Proposal deliveries.  No such inquiries will be answered.  Confirmation of receipt will be provided via facsimile or e-mail.

2.14
    MULTIPLE PROPOSALS

The Proposer may submit only one Proposal.  If a Proposer submits more than one Proposal, all Proposals from that Proposer may be rejected.

2.15

ORAL PRESENTATIONS

Specific Proposers shall be required to make oral presentations to the Lottery Committee and potentially, specific, non-voting subject matter experts and legal counsel for the Wyoming Lottery.  See the Schedule of Events for the oral presentations date window.

2.15.1
Proposers invited for an oral presentation shall make their presentation under the following guidelines:

· 30 set-up period

· 90 – 120 minute presentation

· 30 minute question and answer period

· 30 minute tear down

Proposers may be required, as part of the presentation, to respond to questions developed by the Lottery committee.
215.2
The oral presentation must substantially represent material included in the original written proposal with emphasis placed on the creative response.   Proposers will be provided with equal advance notice of oral presentation assignments and guidelines.
2.16     CHANGES, MODIFICATIONS AND CANCELLATION

The Wyoming Lottery Corporation reserves the right to make changes to and/or cancel this RFP and will post all changes and modifications, whether made as a result of a potential Proposer’s written inquiries or otherwise, and cancellation notices on FindRFP.com.  It is the responsibility of the Proposer to check the web site for any additional information regarding this RFP.  If the Proposer fails to monitor the FindRFP.com for any changes or modifications to the RFP, such failure will not eliminate the Proposer’s obligation to fulfill the requirements posted.
2.17    
UPDATES TO INFORMATION SUPPORTING A PROPOSAL

Following the submission of Proposals and prior to the signing of a Contract, the Proposer is under a continuing obligation to notify the Wyoming Lottery Corporation in writing of any updates or changes to information offered in support of its Proposal that might reasonably be expected to affect the Wyoming Lottery’s consideration of the Proposal.  Nothing in this Section shall be interpreted to permit the unilateral modification by a Proposer of its commitment to provide goods and services described in its Proposal as filed for the cost stated therein.
2.18    ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

By submitting a Proposal, a Proposer grants the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) the right to obtain any information from any lawful source regarding the past history, practices, conduct, ability and eligibility under the Wyoming State Lottery Act of a Proposer to supply goods, services and to fulfill requirements under this RFP, and the past history, practices, conduct, ability and eligibility of any director, officer or key employee of a Proposer.  By submitting a Proposal, the Proposer generally releases from liability and waives all claims against any party providing information about the Proposer at the request of the CEO.  Such information may be taken into consideration in evaluating Proposals.

2.19    PROPOSAL EVALUATION AND CONTRACT AWARD

2.19.1
The Lottery intends to conduct a fair, comprehensive and impartial evaluation of all Proposals received in response to this RFP using a Lottery committee.  
2.19.2
Members of the Lottery committee will score each Proposal responsive to this RFP through a consensus judgment using a scale (see Attachment 11).  Lottery committee members may seek, obtain and consider the opinions of other committee members when evaluating particular areas of the Proposals.

2.19.3
The Lottery committee may request clarification of information or representations in a Proposal before completing the initial evaluation.  Requests for clarification and responses to requests for clarification will be in writing and will become part of the evaluation record.
2.19.4
At a minimum, the factors to be considered by the Lottery committee in evaluating the Proposals shall include:

a.
the financial status of the proposer;

b.
the probable quality of the offered goods or services;

c.
the proposer’s price to provide the goods and services;

d.
the qualifications of the proposer’s personnel

e.
at minimum and as demonstrated in the oral presentation, the experience of the proposer in providing the requested goods or services; and

f.
the quality of the proposer’s past performance in contracting with other state entities, or with private sector entities.
A copy of the scoring matrix is included as Attachment 11.
2.19.5
A written notice of Contract Award will be sent to all Proposers immediately following execution of a written Contract.

2.20    PROTEST PROCEDURE

Any protest shall be governed by Wyoming Lottery Corporation policies. Proposers have the right to protest the Chief Executive Officer’s (CEO) proposed award of the Contract as announced in the Notice of Intent to Award.  Unless otherwise stated, a Proposer’s protest must be submitted to the CEO within five (5) business days after receipt of written notification that its Proposal has not been accepted or that an award of Contract has been made.  In the public interest, the CEO may shorten this protest period but shall provide at least 48 hours for Proposers to respond to a proposed award.  In cases of emergency, stated in the record, the CEO may waive the appeal period.

2.21    SITE VISITS 
2.21.1
The Wyoming Lottery, in its sole discretion, reserves the right to conduct site visits and/or to require Proposers to make oral presentations prior to the Contract Award.   Site visits may include visits to a state lottery(ies) with whom the Proposer currently contracts.  Proposers will be notified in writing and will be provided with equal advance notification of site visits.
2.22
JOINT VENTURE

If a joint venture is submitting a Proposal, the agreement between the parties relating to such joint venture should be clearly documented in the Proposal.  Authorized signatories from each party comprising the joint venture must sign the Proposal.  Separate Ownership Disclosure Forms, Disclosure of Investigations and Actions Involving Proposer and Business Registration Certificates must be submitted with the Proposal for each party of the joint venture. 
SECTION 3
CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

3.1    INTRODUCTION
3.1.1
The Contract award as a result of this RFP shall consist of this RFP, any Addenda to this RFP, the Contractor’s Proposal and the Notice of Award.

In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this RFP, including any Addenda to this RFP and the Proposer’s Proposal, the RFP and/or the Addenda shall govern.

3.1.2
The following terms and conditions will apply to all contracts made with the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.  If a Proposer proposes changes or modifications or takes exception to any of the terms and conditions, the Proposer must so state specifically and in writing in Proposal.  Any proposed change, modification or exception in the terms and conditions by a Proposer must be submitted during the Q&A period.  No changes, modification or exception to the terms will be considered.
3.1.3
All of the terms and conditions as set forth in this will become a part of the Contract awarded as a result of the Request for Proposal, whether stated in part, in summary or by reference.  In the event the Proposer’s terms and conditions conflict with the Wyoming Lottery’s Corporation (WLC) policies and/or governing statute, the WLC policies and statute will prevail.
3.1.5
If awarded the Contract, the Proposer’s status shall be that of an independent Contractor /Vendor. 
3.2    STATE LAW REQUIRING MANDATORY COMPLIANCE BY ALL CONTRACTORS
3.2.1
Business Registration 




The Proposer must be registered and duly authorized to conduct business in Wyoming.  Failure to submit evidence of authority to conduct business within the State of Wyoming may be cause for rejection of the Proposal.






The Proposer and all Subcontractors providing goods and performing services under the Contract and each of their affiliates, shall, during the term of the Contract, follow all Wyoming State and Federal Tax Laws.  It is the Contractor’s responsibility to be fully informed of Wyoming State and Federal Tax Laws and maintain compliance.  For assistance, call the Wyoming Department of Revenue.

3.2.2
Anti-Discrimination



 All parties to any contract with the Wyoming Lottery Corporation must agree not to discriminate in employment and agree to abide by all anti-discrimination laws.  In response to this RFP and as such, the selected Proposer shall provide policies or other evidence that demonstrates their ability to abide by these laws.
3.2.3
Prevailing Wage



The Wyoming Statutes pertaining to Wage cited under Articles 2, 3 and 4, Wyoming’s Prevailing Wage Act of 1967 (27-4-401) are hereby made part of this contract.  The Proposer’s signature on the Proposal is the Proposer’s guarantee that neither it nor any of its subcontractor’s it might employ to perform the work covered by this Proposal has been or will be in violation of the provisions detailed in the statutes. 

3.2.4
Americans with Disabilities Act


The Contractor must comply with all provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in hiring and in accordance with provisioning retailers with equipment.
3.2.5
Compliance to OSHA



The Contractor shall exercise compliance with all OSHA standards, including, the proper labeling and of hazardous materials.  The selected Proposer will provide WLC with procedures and standards exhibiting compliance to OSHA standards.
3.2.6
Ownership Disclosure


Contracts for any work, goods or services cannot be issued to any corporation or partnership unless prior to or at the time of the Proposal submission the Proposer has disclosed the names and addresses of all its owners holding 10% or more of the corporation or partnership’s stock or interest.  

3.2.7
Compliance - Laws



The Contractor must comply with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations applicable to this Contract and to the goods delivered and/or services performed hereunder.

3.2.8
Compliance to Codes



The Contractor will be responsible for adherence to building codes, zoning requirements, OSHA regulations, Laramie County ordinances and all other applicable Wyoming Laws as they pertain to this section.
3.2.9
Contractor Certifications & Disclosure of Political Contributions



All Contractors are required to comply with the disclosure requirements to submit certification and disclosure of political contributions.  In addition, the Contractor is under a continuing duty to disclose during the time of the Contract all contributions made during the term of the Contract.

3.2.10
Compliance with Requirements for Performance



Contracts that are “primarily for the performance of services” shall be performed within the United States.  

3.3
LIABILITIES

3.3.1
Patent and Copyright Indemnity



The Contractor shall hold and save the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, its officers, agents, servants, employees and the State of Wyoming and its officers, agents, servants and employees, harmless from liability of any nature or kind for or on account of the use of any copyrighted or un-copyrighted composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, article or appliance, or other intellectual property furnished or used in the performance of the Contract.

3.3.2
The Wyoming Lottery Corporation agrees: (1) to promptly notify the Contractor in writing of such claim or suit; (2) that the Contractor shall have control of the defense of the settlement of such claim or suit; and (3) to cooperate with the Contractor in the defense of such claim or suit, to the extent that the interests of the Contractor and the Wyoming Lottery corporation are consistent.

3.3.3
In the event of such claim or suit, the Contractor, at its option, may: (1) procure for the Wyoming Lottery Corporation the legal right to continue the use of the product; or (2) replace or modify the product to provide a non-infringing product that is the functional equivalent.
3.3.4
To the extent that the Contractor utilizes or relies upon the Intellectual Property of a third party in fulfilling its obligations under the Contract, the Contractor shall provide the Lottery with whatever assurance the Lottery deems necessary that the use of such third party Intellectual Property is permissible.  In addition, in the event of failure to perform or breach of Contract the Contractor must ensure continued right of use of licensed Intellectual Property by the Lottery.
3.4
INDEMNIFICATION


The Contractor shall assume all risk of and responsibility for and agrees to indemnify, defend and save harmless the Wyoming Lottery Corporation and the State of Wyoming, its employees and agents from and against any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, recoveries, judgments, costs and expenses in connection therewith on account of claims, including but not limited to, the loss of life, property, injury or damage to the person, body or property of any person or persons whatsoever, which shall arise from or result directly or indirectly from the work and/or materials supplied under this Contract.  This indemnification obligation is not limited by, but is in addition to the insurance obligations contained in this agreement.

3.5
INSURANCE


All required bonds and insurance must be issued by companies which are A – Excellent or higher rated by A.M. Best & Co or Weiss Rating; have a record of successful continuous operation, are licensed, admitted and authorized to do business in the State of Wyoming.  The Contractor shall secure and maintain in force for the term of the contract liability insurance as provided herein.  The Contractor shall provide the Wyoming Lottery Corporation with current certificates of insurance for all coverage’s and renewals thereof, naming the Wyoming Lottery Corporation as an additional Insured, except for Workers’ Compensation Insurance and shall contain the provision that the insurance provided in the certificate shall not be canceled for any reason except after thirty (30) days written notice to:






Wyoming Lottery Corporation






Jon Clontz, CEO






1620 Central Ave, Suite 100






Cheyenne, WY  82001


The insurance to be provided by the Contractor shall be as follows:

a.    Comprehensive General Liability Insurance or its equivalent:  The minimum limit of liability shall be $2 million per occurrence as a combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage.  The above required Comprehensive General Liability Insurance policy or its equivalent shall name the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, its officers and employees as additional insured.  The coverage to be provided under these policies shall be at least as broad as that provided by the standard basic, un-amended, and unendorsed Comprehensive General Liability Insurance occurrence coverage forms or its equivalent currently in use by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation which shall not be circumscribed by any endorsement limiting the breadth of coverage.

b.    Automobile Liability Insurance which shall be written to cover any automobile used by the insured.  Limits of liability for bodily injury and property damage shall not be less than $1 million per occurrence as a combined single limit. 

c.    Worker’s Compensation Insurance and/or Employers Liability Insurance with limits not less than:




$2,000,000
Bodily Injury, Each Occurrence




$1,000,000
Disease Each Employee




$1,000,000
Disease Aggregate Limit
3.6
TERMS GOVERNING ALL PROPOSALS TO WYOMING LOTTERY CORPORATION

3.6.1
Bid Bond and Litigation Bond


3.6.1.1
Proposal Security – The Proposer must submit with the Proposal a bid bond in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).  Acceptable forms of Proposal security are as follows:

i.
A properly executed individual or annual bid bond issued by an insurance or security company authorized to do business in the State of Wyoming; a certified or cashier’s check drawn to the order of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation; or, an irrevocable letter of credit drawn naming the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, as beneficiary issued by a federally insured financial institution.
ii.
The Wyoming Lottery Corporation will hold all Proposals security during the evaluation process.  As soon as is practicable after the completion of the evaluation, the Wyoming Lottery Corporation will:

a. Issue an award notice to the successful Proposer

b. Return all bond securities to those who were not selected




               All bid security from the successful Proposer (i.e., Contractor) shall be held until the successful execution of all required contractual documents and bonds (performance bond, insurance, etc.).  If the contractor fails to execute the required contractual documents and bonds within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of ward notice, the contractor may be found in default and the contract terminated by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.  In case of default, the Wyoming Lottery Corporation reserves all rights inclusive of, but not limited to, the right to purchase material and/or to complete the required work in accordance with the Wyoming Administrative Code and to recover any actual excess costs form the Contractor.  Collection against the Contractor security shall be one of the measures available toward the recovery of any excess costs.

3.6.1.2
Litigation Bond – The Proposer must submit with the Proposal a litigation bond in the amount of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000).




A claim upon the bond may be made by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation under the following conditions: the Proposer sues the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, or any of their officers and employees, other Contractors, or retailers with regard to any matter relating to the award of the Contract pursuant to this RFP and the Proposer is not the prevailing party in such suit.




The purpose of the bond is to permit the Wyoming Lottery Corporation or other defendants to recover damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and court costs resulting from such litigation.  The litigation bond shall remain in effect for a period of four (4) years from the date of submission of the Proposal.  Following signing of the Contract with the successful Proposer, the litigation bond of any Proposer may be released upon acceptance by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation of a covenant not to sue.

3.7
CEO’s RIGHT OF FINAL PROPOSER ACCEPTANCE


The CEO reserves the right to reject any or all Proposals or to award in whole or in part if deemed to be in the best interest of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation to do so.  The CEO shall have authority to award Contracts to the vendor or vendor’s best meeting all specifications and conditions.  Tied Proposals will be awarded by the CEO and at the CEO’s discretion.
3.8

BID ACCEPTANCES AND REJECTIONS

The CEO has the right to waive minor elements of non-compliance with Proposer specifications and which defines causes for automatic Proposal rejection which applies to all Proposals.

3.9

WYOMING LOTTERY - RIGHT TO INSPECT PROPOSER’S FACILITIES

The Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to inspect the Proposer’s facilities before making an award, for the purposes of ascertaining whether the Proposer has the necessary facilities for performing the Contract.

Wyoming Lottery Corporation may also consult with clients of the Proposer during the evaluation of Proposals.  Such consultation is intended to assist the Wyoming Lottery in making the Contract award and determining which is most advantageous to the Lottery.

3.10

WYOMING LOTTERYS’ -  RIGHT TO REQUEST FURTHER INFORMATION

The CEO reserves the right to request all information which may assist in determining the Contract award, including factors necessary to evaluate the Proposer’s financial capabilities to perform the Contract.  Further, the CEO reserves the right to request a Proposer explain, in detail, how the Proposed Price was determined.

3.11

COMPLAINTS

Where a Proposer has a history of performance problems as demonstrated by formal complaints and/or contract cancellations for cause, a Proposer may be bypassed for this award.
3.12

BASE CONTRACT TERMS

3.12.1
Contract Amount – The estimated amount of the Contract, when stated on the Advertised Request for Proposal form, shall not be construed as either the maximum or minimum amount which the Wyoming Lottery shall be obliged to order as the result of this Request for Proposal or any Contract entered into as a result of this Request for Proposal.

3.12.2
   Contract Period and Extension Option – The Contract term shall include five (5) years of production operations and implementation period as proposed by the Proposer and accepted by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation. The anticipated “Contract Effective Date” is April 4, 2014.  If delays in the Proposal process result in an adjustment of the anticipated Contract Effective Date, the Proposer agrees to accept a Contract for the full term of the Contract.




   The Contract term may run a shorter period as determined by the State of Wyoming in conjunction with the Board of Directors and the CEO, due to causes such as Contract termination or loss of statutory authority.




The Contract may be extended for additional periods of time at the sole discretion of the Wyoming Lottery CEO.  However, the maximum overall extension(s) shall not exceed three (3), five (5) year extensions, unless authorized by the CEO for the following reasons:

a. To maintain Lottery operations due to contractual delays for the follow-on contract

b. If it is deemed in the best interest of the State of Wyoming

3.13

EMERGENCY EXTENSION AND SYSTEM READINESS



In the event that a new contractor is selected to perform the contract subsequent to this Contract and the new contractor’s system does not meet the requirements of the Lottery, the Lottery reserves the right to further extend the Contract, at the same terms, conditions and pricing in effect at the time of the extension.



The Wyoming Lottery Corporation will endeavor to provide as much notice as possible; however, notice may be as little as twenty-four (24) hours.  Therefore, to meet this requirement, the Contractor must maintain the System in a state of readiness through the date of full conversion and for thirty (30) calendars thereafter, unless reduced by the Wyoming Lottery.



The length of the emergency extension shall not exceed thirty (30) days.  Should the Wyoming Lottery decide to extend the Contract beyond the thirty (30)-day limit of this section, then section 3.12.2 shall apply.



Exercising an emergency extension shall not be construed as obligating the Lottery to repeat the procurement process for any subsequent contract or conferring any right or expectation for the Contractor to continue operating the System after the expiration of any such emergency extension period.

3.14

END OF CONTRACT CONVERSION



It is contemplated that the Lottery, approximately eighteen (18) months prior to the expiration of the Contract resulting from this RFP will award a new contract for the replacement of the system.  The parties understand and agree that the Lottery may utilize part of the last year of the Contract resulting from this RFP, or any renewal or extension thereof, for conversion to the replacement gaming system.



The Contractor shall cooperate fully and in good faith during the conversion period.  Cooperation may include, but is not limited to, sharing of liability files, instant ticket pack inventory files, retailer authority files and cross –validation of winning tickets.  Additionally, the Lottery may determine, in its sole discretion, that cooperation by the Contractor shall include providing information to allow ticket bar codes to be read by a third-party system for validation during the implementation period.



The Contractor further shall remove all equipment and materials relating solely to the Contractor’s gaming system from each retailer location and from Lottery property after final conversion to a new gaming system, within a reasonable period as set by the Lottery.  Equipment and materials not so removed by the Contractor shall be considered abandoned and shall be disposed of at the Lottery’s discretion at the cost of the Contractor.

3.15
PERFORMANCE SECURITY


     The Contractor shall furnish performance security in the amount of two million dollars ($2,000,000) within thirty days (30) of award of Contract; that shall remain in effect for the full Contract term and any extensions.  Acceptable forms of performance security are as follows: 
3.15.1
The Contractor shall be required to furnish an irrevocable security in the amount listed in the Request for Proposal payable to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation binding the Contractor to provide faithful performance of the Contract.
3.15.2
The performance security shall be in the form of a properly executed individual or annual performance bond issued by an insurance or security company authorized to do business in the State of Wyoming, a certified or cashier’s check drawn to the order of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, or an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a federally insured financial institution.



The Performance Security must be submitted to the State within 30 days of the effective date of the Contract award and cover the period of the Contract and any extensions thereof.  Failure to submit performance security may result in cancellation of Contract for cause and nonpayment for work performed.




Within thirty (30) days of the anniversary of the Contract effective date, the Contractor shall provide proof to the CEO that the performance bond in the required amount is in effect.  Failure to provide such proof may result in the suspension of payment to the Contractor until such time the Contractor complies with this requirement.




Although the performance bond is required for the full term of the Contract, the CEO recognizes that the industry practice of sureties is to issue a one year performance bond for goods and services contracts.  Thus, the Contractor is required to submit one year performance bond for the amount required under the Contract and, on each succeeding anniversary date of the Contract, provide a continuation or renewal certificate to evidence that the bond is in effect for the next year of the Contract.  This procedure will remain in place for each ear of the Contract thereafter until the termination of the Contract.  Failure to provide such proof on the anniversary date of the Contract shall result in suspension of the Contract, and possibly, termination of the Contract.

3.16

CLAIMS AND REMEDIES

3.16.1
In the event that the Contractor fails to comply with any material Contract requirements, the CEO may take steps to terminate the Contract for cause.  If the Contractor fails to perform any service or provide any commodity required under this Contract, the CEO may acquire such services or commodities from another source by any available means.  The Contractor shall be liable for any such additional cost.  The Contractor shall remit any such additional cost to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation within thirty (30) days of demand.

3.16.2
No Waiver of Warranties or Remedies at Law or Equity

Nothing in the Contract shall be construed to be a waiver by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation of any warranty, expressed or implied except as specifically and expressly stated in a writing executed by the CEO.  Further, nothing in the Contract shall be construed to be a waiver by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation of any remedy available to the Wyoming Lottery under the Contract, at law or equity except as specifically and expressly stated in a writing executed by the CEO.

3.16.3
Right of Use – If, for any reason other than a material breach of the Contract by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, the Contractor should lose its ability or refuse to service the Lottery as provided by the Contract, the Lottery shall have the right to continue to use the source code and object program instructions, and the documentation for those programs owned or licensed by the Contractor, in conjunction with any products or services to the Lottery which are necessary to provide the central facility, the back-up facility, the communications network, all terminals, related equipment, procedures and production gaming scripts.


Such right shall be limited to the right of the Lottery to possess and make use of these items solely for the use and benefit of the Lottery to maintaining, altering and improving the operational characteristics of the programs and systems being used under the Contract.  Such right shall be limited in time for the duration of the Contract and in scope to those items being used by the Lottery and on the Lottery’s behalf under the Contract.  The Lottery shall keep all items, including modifications or alterations thereof, confidential except for (1) disclosure and distribution to employees or contractors of the Lottery, and only to such an extent that is reasonably necessary to allow the Lottery use the items to operate the System, or (2) to the extent that nay of the items is deemed to be a public record. 

If there has been a determination, in the sole discretion of the Lottery, that continuity of the Contractor’s operations are in jeopardy and that this provision must be exercised, the Contractor shall provide training to the Lottery in the operation of the System, at the Lottery’s request.

3.16.4
Source Code Escrow

At the Lottery’s option, prior to the commencement of the Contract, at the Contractor’s expense, the Contractor shall enter into a source code escrow agreement with a third party escrow company, in a form acceptable to the Lottery (“Escrow Agreement”), which provides for the deposit of a complete set of the Contractor’s software source code programs, program object code, operations manuals, service manuals, written procedures, and any such other materials necessary for the Lottery to operate the System, including installation packages for third party software products licensed by the Contractor (“Escrowed Materials”).  The software source code and object programs and documentation may be delivered on mutually agreeable media.  The Escrow Agreement shall provide for the release of the Escrowed Materials to the Lottery upon the occurrence of any one of the following specified occurrences:

a. Contractor, or any successor or assignee (hereinafter, “Contractor”), commits a material breach of the Contract such that, the Contractor becomes unable or refuses to provide the services required by the Contract, and such breach remains uncured beyond any applicable cure period set forth in the Contract; or,
b. Contractor becomes insolvent or generally fails to pay, or admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due; or
c. Contractor applies for or consents to the appointment of a trustee, receiver or other custodian for Contractor; or

d. Any bankruptcy, reorganization, debt arrangement or other proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or any dissolution or liquidation proceeding is commenced by or against the Contractor; or

e. Contractor ceases to do business; or

f. Contractor takes any corporate or other action to authorize or, in furtherance of any of the foregoing.

g. The Wyoming Lottery Corporation determines that it is in its own best interest.

Upon the occurrence of any of the foregoing events, Contractor grants to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation the limited right to use the source code and object program instructions, and the documentation for those programs owned or licensed by the Contractor, in conjunction with any products or services to the Lottery which are necessary to provide the central facility, the backup facility, the communications network, all terminals, related equipment, procedures, and production gaming scripts.  In such event, the Wyoming Lottery Corporation agrees that it shall maintain the Escrowed Materials as confidential in accordance with the terms of the Contract, and shall not disclose or distribute any of the Escrowed Materials, except for (1) disclosure and distribution to employees or contractors of the Lottery, and only to such an extent that is reasonable necessary to allow the Lottery use to the items to operate the System or (2) to the extent that any of the Escrowed Materials is deemed to be a public record. The Wyoming Lottery Corporation shall not take any action that impairs or infringes the ownership rights of Contractor.

3.17
TERMINATION OF CONTRACT

3.17.1
For Convenience – Notwithstanding any provision or language in this RFP to the contrary, the CEO may terminate at any time, in whole or in part, any Contract entered into as a result of this Request for Proposal for the convenience of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, upon no less than thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor.

3.17.2
For Cause 

i.
Where a Contractor fails to perform or comply with a Contract, and/or fails to comply with the complaints procedures determined by the CEO.  The CEO may terminate the Contract upon ten (10) days’ notice to the Contractor with an opportunity to respond. 

ii.
Where a Contractor continues to perform a Contract poorly as demonstrated by formal complaints, late delivery, poor performance of service, short-shipping, excessive liquidated damages, etc., so that the CEO is repeatedly required to use the complaints procedure; the CEO may terminate the Contract upon ten (10) day notice to the Contractor with an opportunity to respond.

iii.
The CEO’s right to terminate the Contract award for cause includes any reason set forth in any other provision contained in the Contract.
iv.
The failure of a Contractor to respond to the CEO’s notice of intent to terminate the contract award within the ten (10) day notice period automatically converts said notice into a final agency decision without further action of the CEO.

v.
The CEO’s right to terminate the Contract award for cause includes notification of Contractor’s violation of state or federal law (as demonstrated by the Contractor’s admissions of same or a final decision of an appropriate decision-making body), or any reason related to the ability of the Contractor to fulfill its contractual obligations.  The CEO may also terminate any Contract with a federally debarred Contractor or a Contractor, which is presently identified on the list of  parties excluded from federal procurement and non-procurement contracts.

3.17.3
In cases of emergency the CEO may shorten the time periods of notification and may dispense with an opportunity to respond.

3.17.4
In the event of termination under this section, the Contractor will be compensated for work performed in accordance with the Contract, up to the date of termination.  Such compensation may be subject to adjustments.
3.18
THE WYOMING LOTTERY CORPORATION’S OPTION TO REDUCE SCOPE OF WORK


The Wyoming Lottery Corporation has the option, in its sole discretion, to reduce the scope of work for any task or subtask called for under this Contract.  In such an event, the CEO shall provide advance written notice to the Contractor. 
 


Upon receipt of such written notice, the Contractor will submit, within five (5) working days to the CEO an itemization of the work effort already completed by task or subtask.  The Contractor shall be compensated for such work effort according to the applicable portions of its price schedule.

3.19
SUSPENSION OF WORK


The Wyoming Lottery Corporation CEO may, for valid reason, issue a stop order upon five (5) day notice directing the Contractor to suspend work under the Contract for a specific time.  The Contractor shall be paid until the effective date of the stop order.  The Contractor shall resume work upon the date specified in the stop order or upon such other date as the CEO may thereafter direct in writing.  The period of suspension shall be deemed added to the Contractor’s approved schedule of performance.  The CEO and the Contractor shall negotiate an equitable adjustment, if any, to the Contract price.
3.20
FORCE MAJEURE


A force majeure occurrence is an event or effect that cannot be reasonably anticipated or controlled and without the fault or negligence of the non-performing party.  As herein used, force majeure includes but is not limited to fire, explosion, action of the elements, strike or labor disturbance, rationing, war, terrorism, act of any governmental authority or agency, civil disturbance, governmental interference, or any other cause which is beyond the control of the party affected, and which, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, said party is unable to prevent delays arising as a result thereof or to predict and through advance planning avoid such delays.

Except as otherwise provided herein, neither the Contractor nor the Lottery shall be liable to the other for any delay in, or failure of performance of, any covenant contained herein nor shall any such delay or failure is caused by force majeure.  The existence of such causes of delay or failure shall extend the schedule for performance to such extent as may be necessary to complete the performance in the exercise of reasonable diligence after the causes of delay or failure have been removed.


Any such delay in or failure of performance shall not in and of itself give rise to any liability for damages; however, the Lottery, in its sole judgment, may elect to terminate the Contract should the Lottery’s continuing operations be materially threatened or harmed by reason of extended delay or failure of performance.


During a period of non-performance due to force majeure, payments from the Lottery to the Contractor will be suspended. 

3.21
CONTRACT AMENDMENTS – ADDITIONAL WORK AND/OR SPECIAL PROJECTS


The Contractor shall not begin performing any additional work or special projects without first obtaining written approval from the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) or the CEO’s delegate.


In the event of additional work and/or special projects, the Contractor must present a written proposal to perform the additional work to the CEO or delegate.  The Proposal should provide justification for the necessity of the additional work.  The relationship between the additional work and the base Contract work must be clearly established by the Contractor in its Proposal.

The Contractor’s written Proposal must provide a detailed description of the work to be performed broken down by task and subtask.  The Proposal should also contain details on the level of effort, including hours, labor categories, etc., necessary to complete the additional work.


The written Proposal must detail the cost necessary to complete the additional work in a manner consistent with the Contract.  Whenever possible, the price schedule should be a firm, fixed cost to perform the required work. 

Once the approved work is completed and subject to the Contract/Proposal terms, the Contractor will provide an invoice which will be paid within the terms of net 30.  

No additional work and/or special project may commence without the CEO or delegate  written approval.  In the event the Contractor proceeds with additional work and/or special projects without appropriate approvals, it shall be at the Contractor’s sole risk.  The Wyoming Lottery Corporation shall be under no obligation to pay for work performed without the CEO’s or delegate written approval.


Without exception, if the CEO or delegate is unavailable to approve work, the work is unauthorized and cannot commence.
 3.22
SUBCONTRACTING OR ASSIGNMENT

The Contract may not be subcontracted or assigned by the Contractor, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the CEO.  No substituted or additional Subcontractors are authorized to begin work until the Contractor has received written approval from the CEO.  Such consent, if granted, shall not relieve the Contractor of any of its responsibilities under this Contract.

In the event the Proposer proposes to subcontract for the services to be performed under the terms of the Contract award, the Proposer shall state so in the Proposal and attach for approval a list of said ‘Subcontractors’ and an Itemization of the products and/or services to be supplied by the Subcontractor(s).


Nothing contained in the specifications shall be construed as creating any contractual relationship between any Subcontractor and the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.


If it becomes necessary for the Contractor to substitute a Subcontractor, add a Subcontractor or substitute its own staff for a Subcontractor, the Contractor will identify, in writing, the proposed new Subcontractor or staff member(s) and the work to be performed.  The Contractor must provide detailed justification documenting the necessity for the substitution or addition.


The Contractor must provide detailed resumes and any other information requested by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation of its proposed replacement staff or of the proposed Subcontractor’s management, supervisory and other key personnel that demonstrate knowledge, ability and experience relevant to that part of the work, which Subcontractor is to undertake.

The qualifications and experience of the replacement(s) must equal or exceed those of similar personnel proposed by the Contractor in its Proposal.


The Contractor shall forward a written request to substitute or add a Subcontractor or to substitute its own staff for a Subcontractor to the CEO for consideration.  The substitute or subcontractor shall be subject to Wyoming Lottery Corporation security and background investigation.  All security requirements, including information required for the background investigation must be included in the written request for approval.  


No substitute or subcontractor is authorized to begin work until the Contractor has received written approval to proceed from the CEO.

3.23
REMOVAL OF SUBCONTRACTOR(S) OR APPROVED EMPLOYEES

The CEO shall have the right to direct the Contractor to remove subcontractors or key personnel, including by the way of example but not limitation, the project manager, major task manager and subcontractor(s), whose continued performance the Wyoming Lottery has determined not to be in its best interest.  The Contractor shall have a reasonable period of time in which to replace any such Subcontractor or personnel directed to be removed.
3.24
MERGERS, ACQUISITIONS


If, subsequent to the award of any Contract resulting from this Request for Proposal, the Contractor shall merge with or be acquired by another firm, the following documents must be submitted to the CEO.

         3.24.1
Corporate resolutions prepared by the awarded Contractor and new entity ratifying acceptance of the original Contract, terms, conditions and prices.


3.24.2
Proof of ability to lawfully conduct business in the State of Wyoming


3.24.3
Vendor Federal Employer Identification Number


The documents must be submitted within thirty (30) days of completion of the merger or acquisition.  Failure to do so may result in termination of Contract.

If subsequent to the award of any Contract resulting from this RFP, the Contractor’s partnership or corporation shall dissolve, the CEO must be so notified.  All responsible parties of the dissolved partnership or corporation must submit to the CEO in writing, the names of the parties proposed to perform the Contract, and the names of the parties to whom payment should be made.  No payment shall be made until all parties to the dissolved partnership or corporation submit the required documents to the CEO. 
3.25

CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITES


The Contractor shall have sole responsibility for the complete effort specified in the Contract.  The Contractor is responsible for the professional quality, technical accuracy and timely completion and submission of all deliverables, services and commodities required to be provided under the Contract.



The Contractor shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any errors, omissions, or other deficiencies in its deliverables and other services.  The approval of deliverables furnished under this Contract shall not in any way relive the Contractor of responsibility for the technical adequacy of its work.  The review, approval, acceptance or payment for any of the services shall not be construed as a waiver of any rights that the Wyoming Lottery Corporation may have arising out of the Contractor’s performance of this Contract.



Payment will be made only to the Contractor.  The Contractor shall have sole responsibility for all payments due any Subcontractor.

3.26

AUDIT AND ACCOUNTING REQUIREMENTS



Under the Contract, the Contractor must meet specific auditing and accounting obligations:
3.26.1
The Contractor shall have a complete corporate financial audit conducted annually, at its own expense.  The audit must follow generally accepted auditing standards.  A copy of the Contractor’s certified financial statements shall be provided within one quarter after the close of the Contractor’s fiscal year.

3.26.2
The Contractor shall provide the Lottery with Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 10-K reports (or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent) as they are issued, together with any other reports required pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
3.26.3
A third party review of the Contractor’s Wyoming operations must also be conducted annually.  This audit will be a Statement on Auditing Standard (SAS) 70 audit and shall be paid for by the Contractor.  For this review the Contractor will suggest, for the Lottery’s approval, the firm(s) to perform the work.  All aspects shall be conducted pursuant to auditing standards as issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  Annual reviews shall occur on July-to-June basis and will be reported not later than August 31st to the Lottery.  The first audit shall cover a partial year ending with the State’s fiscal year.

3.26.4
The Contractor is required to maintain its books, records and all other evidence pertaining to the Contract in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) or the appropriate non-U.S. equivalent and such other procedures specified by the Lottery.  These records shall be available to the Lottery, its selected auditor and other designees at all times during the Contract period and for five (5) years from the Contract expiration date or final payment on the Contract, whichever is later.

3.27
         TICKET PURCHASE AND PRIZE PAYMENT RESTRICTIONS
Restrictions apply to the purchase of tickets and payments of prizes regarding individuals related to the Contractor and the Contractor’s significant Subcontractors.  No officer, employee, or immediate supervisor or such employee, or relative living in the same household as these individuals shall purchase or be paid a prize in any Wyoming Lottery game if (1) they conduct duties directly pursuant to the Contract; or (2) they have access to information made Confidential by the Lottery.  The Contractor shall ensure that this requirement is made known to each affected individual.

To ensure compliance with this requirement, the Contractor and its Subcontractor(s) shall provide a list of such individuals.  The list shall include name, address, date of birth, and social security number and shall be updated to maintain current information.  This requirement applies throughout the life of the Contract.  Refer to the Lottery Conflict of Interest Attachment 10.
3.28

OWNERSHIP OF MATERIAL

All data, technical information, materials gathered, originated, developed, prepared, used or obtained in the performance of the Contract, including, but not limited to, all reports, surveys, plans, charts, literature, brochures, mailings, recordings (video and/or audio), pictures, drawings, analyses, graphic representations, software computer programs and accompanying documentation and print-outs, notes and memoranda, written procedures and documents, regardless of the state of completion, which are prepared for or are a result of the services required under this Contract shall be and remain the property of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation and shall be delivered to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation upon 30 day notice unless otherwise stated by the CEO.

Should the Proposer anticipate bringing pre-existing intellectual property into the project, the intellectual property must be identified in the Technical Proposal.  Otherwise, the language in the first paragraph of this section prevails.  If the Proposer identifies such intellectual property (“Background IP”) in its Proposal, then the Background IP owned by the Proposer on the date of the Contract, as well as any modifications or adaptations thereto, remain the property of the Proposer.  Upon Contract award, the Proposer/Contractor shall grant the Wyoming Lottery a non-exclusive, perpetual royalty free license to use any of the Contractor’s Background IP delivered to the Wyoming Lottery for the purposes contemplated by the Contract.

While the Lottery and Contractor agree that intellectual property associated with any product or service provided by (or developed solely by) the Contractor during the term of this Contract and used by the Lottery will remain the property of the Contractor, the Contractor shall grant a license or authority to the Lottery to make use of any such Intellectual Property on a perpetual basis with respect to Lottery conduct of games and business.  There shall be no additional charge for this right of the Lottery.

The Contractor will retail ownership of the retailer terminals, terminal peripherals, gaming computer systems, network systems, system documentation, software and other materials originally supplied by the Contractor.

3.29

LICENSES AND PERMITS



The Contractor shall obtain and maintain in full force and affect all required licenses, permits and authorizations necessary to perform this Contract.  The Contractor shall supply the Gaming Operations Officer with evidence of all such licenses, permits and authorizations.  This evidence shall be submitted subsequent to the Contract award.  All costs associated with any such licenses, permits and authorizations must be considered by the Proposer in its Cost Proposal.



The Contractor shall assign all licenses to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation for all third party software that the Contractor incorporates in the deliverables required under the terms and conditions of the Contract.

3.30

COMPENSATION FOR THIRD PARTY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY



Intellectual Property fees for third-party products, logos, trademarks, brands, or labels that the Contractor deploys in the system under the Contract shall be addressed under Section 3.47 (Equipment & Software Corrections and Upgrades) of this RFP.  The Contractor may not separately charge the Lottery an Intellectual Property fee for any items owned by the Contractor.

3.31

EXCLUSIVE USE OF THE TRANSACTION PROCESSING SYSTEM



Use of the Contractor’s hardware and software configuration that processes ticket transactions for the Wyoming Lottery must be exclusive to the Lottery.  Transactions from other sources shall not be commingled with the gaming transactions of the Wyoming Lottery.

3.32

ATTACHMENT OF THIRD PARTY SYSTEMS, TERMINALS OR PRODUCTS



The Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to attach to the System or otherwise install terminals, terminal peripherals, games, software, products or systems other than those required by this RFP.



The Contractor shall be required to supply to the Wyoming Lottery, interface specifications to permit other products to carry out all functions and capabilities desired by the Lottery.  The Contractor shall provide support to the Lottery in conducting future procurements for such products including providing facilities and support to allow other vendors to attach or install and test products during the evaluation process.  The Wyoming Lottery will monitor progress to ensure full cooperation.



If appropriate, the third party may be required to complete a non-disclosure agreement to protect the Contractor.



Should the Lottery propose to add terminals, products, systems or services not required to be supplied by the Contractor but for which the Contractor would gain responsibility or obligations, appropriate remuneration of the Contractor shall be negotiated under Section 3.47 (Equipment and Software Corrections and Upgrades).
3.33

DATA CONFIDENTIALITY



All financial, statistical, personnel and/or technical data supplied to the Contractor by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation after the award of the Contract, any data gathered by the Contractor in fulfillment of the Contract and any analysis thereof (whether in fulfillment of the Contract or not) shall be considered confidential and shall be solely for the use of the provider of the information.  The Contractor is required to use reasonable care to protect the confidentiality of the data including, but not limited to, requiring incorporation of this term into its contract with its Subcontractor(s), if any.  Any use, sale or offering of this data in any form by the Contractor, its employees, Subcontractors or assignees will be considered a violation of this Contract.  Penalties for violations of such guarantees include, but are not limited to, rescission of the Contract award, immediate termination of the Contract and/or legal action without the Wyoming Lottery Corporation being liable for damages, costs and / or attorney fees.  The Contractor shall be liable for any and all damages arising from its breach of this confidentiality provision.


Confidential information shall not include information that:

3.33.1 The equipment offered is standard new equipment and is the manufacturer’s latest model in production with parts regularly used for the type of equipment offered; that such parts are all in production , or, ready for production and likely to be discontinued; and that no attachment or part has been substituted or applied contrary to manufacturer’s recommendations and standard practice.
3.33.2 All equipment supplied to the Wyoming Lottery and operated by electrical current is UL listed where applicable.
3.33.3 All new machines are to be guaranteed as fully operational for the period stated in the RFP from time of written acceptance by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.  The Proposer shall render prompt service without charge, regardless of geographic location.
3.33.4 Sufficient quantities of parts necessary for proper service to equipment shall be maintained at distribution points and service headquarters.
3.33.5 Trained technicians are regularly employed to make necessary repairs to equipment within a 48 period and as designated by the RFP service level agreement or as designated by liquidated damages specified, whichever is the most restrictive.
3.33.6 During the warranty period the Contractor shall replace immediately any material which is rejected for failure to meet the requirements of the Contract.
3.33.7 During the term of the Contract, the Contractor shall provide reasonable notice to the CEO and Gaming Operations Officer on all equipment and product (including IT hardware and software) that the Contractor will no longer support.  In these instances, the Contractor will immediately cease selling such equipment and product to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation and provide the CEO and Gaming Operations Officer with a plan to support and service such equipment and product.  
3.33.8 Reasonable notice shall be within 30 days that the Contractor has made the decision to cease manufacture and support of such equipment and product.  Failure to provide such notice to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation shall permit the Wyoming Lottery to return such equipment and product to the Contractor and rescind the purchase order unless the Wyoming Lottery has had use of and support from the Contractor of the equipment and product for three (3) years.
3.33.9 All services rendered to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation shall be performed in strict and full accordance with the specifications stated in the Contract.  The Contract shall not be considered complete until final approval by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation CEO.

3.34 LATE DELIVERY

The Contractor must immediately advise the Wyoming Lottery’s CEO of any circumstance or event that could result in late completion of any task or subtask called for to be completed on a specified date.

If the Contractor cannot meet the Contract completion date for any task or subtask required to be completed by a specified date or time period, the Contractor shall be liable to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation in accordance with Section 4 Liquidated Damages.

Such sums shall be treated as liquidated damages and not as penalty.

3.35 MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS

The Contractor shall maintain and retain weekly payroll, overhead, cost and accounting records and all other records related to the services performed on the Contract, including expenses pertaining to additional services required by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation on the Contract.  Such records shall be maintained and available for the Wyoming Lottery’s inspection as to all aspects of the work, whether performed by the Contractor or any independent firms.  These records shall be kept in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and practices for a period of three (3) fiscal years after the expiration of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation’s fiscal year in which the Contract expires or in which final payment is received by the Contractor under the Contract, whichever occurs later.  (The Wyoming Lottery’s fiscal year is July 1 – June 30). 

The CEO has the right to request and Contractor agrees to furnish free of charge all information and copies of all records which the CEO requests.  The Contractor shall allow the CEO or designee to visit the office(s) of the Contractor periodically, upon reasonable notice, in order to review any document(s) relating to the Contract or to otherwise monitor work being performed by the Contractor pursuant to the Contract.  Any failure by the Contractor to maintain or produce such records or to otherwise cooperate with the CEO may be, at the CEO’s discretion, cause for rescission of the Contract award and/or suspension.

3.36      ASSIGNMENT OF ANTITRUST CLAIM



The Contractor recognizes that in actual economic practice, overcharges resulting from antitrust violations are in fact usually borne by the ultimate purchaser.  Therefore and as a consideration for executing this Contract, the Contractor, acting herein by and through is duly authorized agent, hereby conveys, sells, assigns and transfers to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, for itself, all right, title and interest to all claims and causes of action it may now or hereafter acquire under the antitrust laws of the United States of America or the State of Wyoming, relating to the particular goods and services purchased or acquired by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation pursuant to this Contract.


In connection with this assignment, the following are the express obligations of the Contractor:


3.36.1
It will take no action which will in any way diminish the value of the rights conveyed or assigned hereunder.

3.36.2
It will advise the CEO and the Wyoming Lottery Corporation’s Legal Counsel in advance of its intention to commence any action on its own behalf regarding any such claim or cause(s) of action; and

3.36.3
Immediately upon becoming aware of the fact that an action has been commenced on its behalf by some other person(s) of the pendency of such action.

3.36.4
It will notify the defendants in any antitrust suit of the fact of the within assignment at the earliest practicable opportunity after the contractor has initiated an action on its own behalf or becomes aware that such an action has been filed on its behalf by another person.  A copy of such notice will be sent to the Wyoming Lottery’s legal counsel.



Legal Counsel for the Wyoming Lottery Corporation




Matthew Kaufman,




2515 Warren Ave, Suite 500




P.O. Box 1208 




Cheyenne, WY  82003

3.37

TERMS RELATING TO CONTRACT PRICE

3.37.1
Unless otherwise noted by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, all prices quoted shall be firm through issuance of the Contract order and shall not be subject to increase during the period of the Contract.



In the event of a manufacturer’s or Contractor’s price decrease during the Contract period, the Wyoming Lottery shall receive the full benefit of such price reduction on any undelivered purchase order and on any subsequent order placed during the Contract period.  The CEO must be notified in writing of any priced reduction within five (5) days of the effective date.


Failure to report price reductions will result in cancellation of the Contract for cause, pursuant to Section 3.17.2.

3.37.2
C.O.D. Terms are not acceptable as part of the Proposal and will be cause for rejection of a Proposal.

3.37.3
The Wyoming Lottery Corporation is exempt from State sales or use taxes and Federal excise taxes.  Therefore, price quotations must not include such taxes.  The Wyoming Lottery State Federal Excise Tax Exemption number is 46-316-5539.

3.37.4
All invoices must be approved by the Wyoming Lottery Gaming Operations Officer and the CEO before payment will be authorized.



The Contractor shall be entitled to compensation beginning from the time that the retailer network is fully functional and in production.  Contractor compensation shall end at the time every retailer terminal has been replaced under any subsequent Contract.



The Contractor shall be compensated as follows:


                3.37.4.1
The sum of net on-line game sales plus net instant game sales, multiplied by the percentage bid on the price schedule.


                3.37.4.2
Invoices shall be submitted on a monthly schedule.


                3.37.4.3
In addition, the Contractor must provide on a monthly and cumulative basis, a breakdown of all monies paid to any small business Subcontractor(s).  This breakdown shall be sent to the Wyoming Lottery CFO.
3.37.4.4
Invoices must also be submitted for any special projects, additional work or other items properly authorized and satisfactorily completed under the Contract.  Invoices shall be submitted according to the payment schedule agreed upon when the work was authorized and approved.  Payment can only be made for work when it was received all required written approvals and has been satisfactorily completed.  
3.38
    WYOMING LOTTERY CORPORATION PAYMENT POLICY


Under statute 9-17-101 et. seq., the Wyoming Lottery Corporation is required to pay for goods and services within thirty (30) days of the agency’s receipt of a properly executed invoice and acceptance of goods and services, whichever is later.  Properly executed performance security, when required, must be received by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation prior to processing any payments for goods and services.  Interest will not be paid until it exceeds $5.00 per properly executed invoice. 

3.38.1
The Contractor is encouraged to offer cash discounts based on expedited payment by the Wyoming Lottery.  The Wyoming Lottery will make efforts to take advantage of discounts but discounts will not be considered in determining the lowest Proposal.

3.38.1.1
Discount periods shall be calculated starting from the next business day after the Wyoming Lottery has accepted the goods and services and received a properly signed and executed invoice.

3.39

CHANGE IN LAW



Whenever an unforeseen change in applicable law or regulation affects the services that are the subject of this Contract, the Contractor shall advise the CEO and the Gaming Operations Officer in writing and include in such written transmittal any estimated increase or decrease in the cost of its performance of the services as a result of such change in law or regulation.  The CEO or delegate and the Contractor shall negotiate an equitable adjustment, if any, and upon CEO approval, the adjustment will be identified in an addendum to the Contract price.

3.40
CONTRACT PRICE INCREASE (PREVAILING WAGE)



The Contractor may apply to the Director, on the anniversary of the effective date of the Contract, for a Contract price increase.  The Contract price increase will be available only for an increase in the prevailing wages of trades and occupations covered under this Contract during the prior year.  The Contractor must substantiate with documentation the need for the increase and submit it to the CEO for review and determination of the amount of the requested increase, which shall be available for the upcoming Contract year.  No retroactive increases will be approved by the CEO.

3.41

STANDARDS PROHIBITING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST



The following prohibitions on vendor activities shall apply to all Contracts or purchase agreements made with the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.

3.41.1
No vendor shall pay, offer to pay, either directly or indirectly, any fee commission, compensation, or gratuity to any Board Member or Wyoming Lottery Corporation officer or employee.


3.41.2
The solicitation of any fee, commission, compensation or gratuity by any Wyoming Lottery officer, employee or Board Member shall be reported to the CEO and the Chairman of the Board of Directors in writing forthwith by the vendor.  If the solicitation of fee involves the CEO or Chairman of the Board, the next level Officer should be contacted.


3.41.3
No vendor may, directly or indirectly, undertake any private business, commercial or other agreement, express or implied, or sell any interest in such vendor to, any member of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, including the Board of Directors. Any relationships subject to this provision shall be reported in writing forthwith to the CEO and the Chairman of the Board of Directors.


3.41.4
No vendor shall cause or influence, or attempt to cause or influence, any Wyoming Lottery officer, employee or Board member to use, or attempt to use, his official position to secure unwarranted privileges or advantages for the vendor or any other person.

3.42

CONTRACTOR ETHICS AND INTEGRITY



The Contractor is obligated to meet high standards for ethics and integrity under this Contract.  The Contractor and employees:

3.42.1
Shall accept no pay, remuneration or gratuity of any value for performance on or information derived from this project from any party other than the lottery as described in this Contract, or from any party under Contract to the Lottery or seeking to Contract with the Lottery with respect to this Contract.

3.42.2
Shall not offer or give any gift, gratuity, favor, entertainment, loan or any other thing of material monetary value to any employee or representative of the Wyoming Lottery.

3.42.3
Shall not disclose any business sensitive or confidential information gained by virtue of this Contract to any party without the consent of the Lottery.

3.42.4
Shall take no action in the performance of this Contract to create an unfair, unethical, or illegal competitive advantage for itself or others.

3.42.5
Shall not have any financial or personal interests relating to this project (other than the Contract itself) without the explicit written consent of the Lottery.
3.43

APPLICABLE LAW


This Contract and any and all litigation arising from or related to this Contract shall be governed by applicable laws and regulations of the State of Wyoming.
3.44

NEWS RELEASES



This Contract is not permitted to issue news releases pertaining to any aspect of the services being provided under this Contract without the prior written consent of the CEO.

3.45

ADVERTISING



The Contractor shall not use the Wyoming Lottery Corporation name, logos, images or any data or results arising from this Contract as part of any commercial advertising without first obtaining the prior written consent of the CEO.

3.46

PRODUCTION-READY ACCEPTANCE TEST FOLLOWING AWARD



At the discretion of the CEO, the Lottery will conduct a series of acceptance tests to fully determine the passing or failing of the Contractor’s installation in accordance with the specifications of this RFP, the Proposal, the Contract and software requirements and specification documents developed jointly by the Contractor and the Lottery.  The Contractor’s assistance in arranging and cooperating with these tests is obligatory.  


The Lottery will not consider System components ready for Lottery acceptance testing while still under development by the Contractor, or still subject to quality assurance verification by the Contractor.  The Lottery may establish standards for readiness of the System for acceptance testing.



All defects discovered during acceptance testing must be corrected in a timely manner by the Contractor and according to the agreed-upon schedule.  For quality assurance purposes, all defects will be retested unless otherwise determined by the Lottery.  If the software is shown to contain such number of defects as to render the system un-testable in a practical sense and their remedy is untimely, the Lottery reserves the right to halt acceptance testing until the System is corrected and testable in a practical sense once again.  Acceptance testing halts may lead to delays in Contract milestones and result in liquidated damages for the Contractor.

The Lottery, at its sole discretion, will determine whether performance against the acceptance tests is adequate and whether conversion can proceed to production as scheduled.  Passing each and every acceptance test is the obligation of the Contractor to meet all documented specifications.  Failure of the Contractor to pass these tests may result in the Contractor having to make corrections, delay conversion or installation, pay liquidated damages or pay up to the full amount of the Performance Bond.
3.46.1
The Contractor shall be responsible for subcontracting with a reliable Gaming Testing Lab for all quality assurance testing.  Quality Assurance testing is required prior to Go-Live of the Gaming System and prior to any software or hardware released or scheduled to be used in production.  Although the Lottery will collaborate with the Contractor on all decisions regarding testing, passing 3rd party testing is solely the responsibility of the Contractor. 
3.46.2
The Contractor shall involve the Lottery and its Officers in the selection of the Gaming Testing Lab subcontractor.  The proposed Gaming Lab is subjected to CEO approval.

3.46.3
The CEO and Gaming Operations Officer shall be involved in developing and approving all testing lab criteria, oversight and approval on suggested performance remedies and involvement in Risk Mitigation.
3.46.4
The Contractor shall bare full responsibility for any and all gaming and administrative performance in production and adherence to production time lines.

3.47

EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE CORRECTIONS AND UPGRADES

3.47.1
Corrections and Supported Products




The Contractor must report any relevant deficiencies in its own software or licensed third party software used in the System and is responsible for ensuring that corrections are incorporated in the configuration in a timely and responsible manner.  At the time the Contractor is notified by any supplier that a software release or hardware component in the configuration is scheduled to have support dropped, it is the Contractor’s obligation to acquire and install an appropriate replacement (with the Lottery’s prior approval) at no additional cost to the Lottery.



3.47.2
Workload Growth




The Contractor must provide equipment and software changes necessary to support increased System workload at no additional cost to the Lottery for the following:





3.47.2.1

Overtime, increased volumes of on-line transactions and the system must be capable of supporting future growth including, the inclusion of additional draw and instant ticket games (if approved).





        3.47.2.2
Fulfillment of expanded requirements from multi-jurisdictional organizations (e.g., MUSL, M2G2) in which the Lottery participates or elects to participate in the future.



        3.47.2.3
The Contractor must provide, at no additional cost to the Lottery, scheduled administrative reports, ad hoc reports, Dashboard for receiving reports, data warehouse for storing raw data, processing options and other features required for the Lottery to manage the gaming system, meet reporting obligations and respond to new business needs or rules.  This section shall pertain to any expanded reporting and new reporting necessary for management information applications, as well as to the interface reporting necessary for accurate tracking by Lottery staff for service and repair calls.
3.48

OTHER CHANGES

Changes and enhancements to the equipment and software which exceed RFP – specified requirements such as additional terminal peripherals, game enhancements, game options, promotions, new games, new terminal types and new retailer user interface features will be handled as follows:

3.48.1
Software changes shall be provided at no additional cost, even if additional developments, coding and engineering are required to create or adapt software for the Wyoming Lottery’s needs.

3.48.2
The cost of capital equipment, facilities, third-party licenses or substantive service additions or changes will be negotiated.

3.49

APPROVAL OF HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE CHANGES AND UPGRADES
Any engineering changes or variations from the designs and specifications of the RFP, the Proposal, the Contract or Contract amendments, signed working papers must be approved in writing by the CEO, or his designee, prior to installation or implementation.

3.50

SECURITY PROGRAM UNDER THE CONTRACT

During the implementation period, the Contractor shall establish a security program for the entire System, subject to the written approval of the Lottery.  This security program must be updated, reviewed and approved annually by the Lottery.  As part of this security program the Contractor must maintain an approved Operations Security Plan.

3.50.1
Personnel Security (Background Investigations)

The Lottery may initiate investigations into the backgrounds of any officers, principals, investors, owners, subcontractors, employees, retailers, retailers’ staff, or any other associate of the Contractor it deems appropriate.  The purpose of the background investigations is to determine the integrity, background and character of the investigated persons.  Such background investigations may include fingerprint identification.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the cost of the background checks.  The Contractor must consent to cooperate with such investigations and to instruct its associates to cooperate.
At the sole discretion of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, the Lottery reserves the right to disqualify an individual from working on this Contract.  In the event an individual is disqualified, the Contractor shall be required to replace the individual with a person of equal or better qualifications.  Also, the Wyoming Lottery may terminate the Contract based upon adverse results of these background investigations if the Lottery determines that its integrity, security, or goodwill may be in jeopardy.

The ability to conduct such investigations is a continuing right of the Lottery throughout the life of the Contract.

3.50.2
Security Violation Reporting

The Contractor shall immediately report any security violation, system compromise, suspected violation of law (e.g. theft) or disappearance of any game slips, draw game ticket stock, validation files, instant tickets, equipment, software or materials used or to be used in the performance of this Contract.

In particular the Contractor must report the involvement of any of the Contractor’s employees, owners, or agents in any known criminal arrest (exclusive of minor traffic violations) or investigation.

3.50.3
Security Information (Disclosure) Updates



The Contractor shall report any change in, addition to, or deletion from, the security information previously disclosed to the Lottery.  The report shall be in the form of a letter addressed to the Lottery and shall be delivered to the Lottery’s Security Director within thirty (30) days of the effective date of the change, addition or deletion.
3.50.4     Compliance with Association Standards



All services, products, systems and procedures to be employed by the Contractor must comply with the game security and operational standards current at the time of Contract performance as issued by any multi-jurisdictional association of which the Lottery is a member or in the event the Lottery becomes a member.
3.51
TRAVEL

The Wyoming Lottery does not reimburse for travel related expenses.  In the event that the Wyoming Lottery requires the Successful Proposer to travel for TV, radio or other marketing/advertising related activities, or, event management reasons, any such travel costs will be at the Contractor’s expense.
LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

SECTION 4

SECTION 4
LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

4.1 
LIQUIDATED DAMAGES PROVISIONS

In all the below liquidated damages sections, the Lottery and the Contractor agree that it would be extremely impractical and difficult to determine actual damages which the Lottery will sustain.  The goods and services to be provided under the Contract are not readily available on the open market; any breach by the Contractor will delay and disrupt the Lottery’s operations and will lead to damages.  Therefore, the parties agree that the liquidated damages (LD) as specified in all the sections below are a reasonable estimate of the damages the Lottery will sustain from the Contractor’s performance deficiencies set forth within this section are not to be construed as a penalty.

In no case shall liquidated damages be measured in terms of potential lost revenue or potential lost net profit to the Lottery, unless and to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that a liquidated damages provision as written below is unenforceable as a matter of law.

Assessment of liquidated damages shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, such other remedies as may be available to the Lottery.  Except and to the extent expressly provided herein, the Lottery shall be entitled to recover liquidated damages under each section applicable to any given incident.

For the paragraphs to follow on liquidated damages, the term “terminal” refers to the retailer’s clerk operated terminal chiefly, but also to the extent applicable, any ticket selling device, such as a player-activated terminal, kiosk, or vending machine.

Some breach incidents have different impacts under different circumstances. One incident may have different impacts based upon the time of day it occurs or degree to which delivery is late or which date is missed.  An incident that is subject to impact categorization must occur and be identified before its impact can be determined from the following impact categories. 

“HIGH IMPACT” means the missed due date or incident may impact Lottery’s revenue, integrity, security, may significantly increase Lottery’s expenses, or may have a seriously adverse impact on one or more retailers or on the Lottery.

“MEDIUM IMPACT” means the missed due date or incident may impact new or desired features or may have a moderately adverse impact on one or more retailers or on Lottery. 

“LOW IMPACT” means that the missed due date or incident may have a work-around or may have minimal impact on one or more retailers or on Lottery.

1. Terminal and Peripheral Provisioning: Moves, Adds, Deletions, Removal, Changes; 

Contractor shall install a new Retailer Terminal, delete or remove a retailer terminal, move a retailer terminal to new premises, or conduct an inside move for a retailer (including in each case associated Contractor-supplied peripherals) in accordance with the provisioning schedule to be determined. 

Contractor shall provide regular preventative maintenance on all Lottery equipment.
2. Host and Other Systems Down

Potential Incident #1 – Contractor will ensure that the gaming host systems are not “down” for more than three (3) minutes during the operational hours for sales or validations on any day.  Gaming host systems are considered “down” if gaming tickets cannot be sold, gaming tickets cannot be activated, gaming tickets cannot be canceled (pursuant to permitted conditions), or winning gaming tickets cannot be validated during the operational sales period each day.
HIGH IMPACT: $500 per minute or pro-rated fraction thereof; greater than three minutes unless chronic, in which second downtime in any given week, the grace period shall be rescinded.  

MEDIUM IMPACT: $1,500 per hour or pro-rated; greater than three minutes 
Potential Incident #2 – Games Management Applications Down

Note:  “Games Management Application” means the applications(s) delivered by the Contractor that manages and controls of Draw Games)   Examples:  Games Management System slow requiring system correction.  Note:  If the system is slow for more than one hour, refer to damages listed in #4 Gaming Host Systems Degraded Performance.

HIGH IMPACT: $500 per hour or pro-rated fraction thereof after 5 minute grace period

MEDIUM IMPACT: $250 per hour or pro-rated fraction thereof after 5 minute grade period

LOW IMPACT: $100 per hour or pro-rated fraction thereof after 5 minute grace period
Potential Incident #3 – Solutions Unsupported Examples – Retailer Management System, Retailer Services (Hotline), etc.   Contractor will ensure that it supports all Solutions in accordance with any software support requirements agreed to between Lottery and Contractor for the Solution.

HIGH IMPACT: $500 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof

MEDIUM IMPACT: $250 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof

LOW IMPACT:  $100 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof 
Potential Incident #4 – Solutions Unavailable

Contractor will ensure that all solutions are available and usable by Lottery as set forth in the specifications for the Solution.  Contractor is not responsible for the unavailability of the Solution or Lottery’s inability to use the Solution due to a failure in Lottery’s hosting or operation of the Solution.

HIGH IMPACT: $500 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof

MEDIUM IMPACT: $250 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof

LOW IMPACT:  $100 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof 


3. Gaming Host Systems Degraded Performance

Contractor will ensure that the gaming host systems do not evidence “degraded performance” for more than three (3) minutes during the operational hours of sales or validations on any day. The gaming host systems shall be considered as having degraded performance if: 

a. Retailer terminals on average exceed the response time requirements, or the gaming system is incapable of meeting the throughput specifications set for the in the Statement of Work.

b. The gaming system processes transactions from less than 95% of the installed and operational retailer terminals

c. The gaming system processes transactions from all retailer terminals but not for all gaming products and retailer-related activities (degraded performance exists if the gaming host systems do not allow sales, cashes, cancellations, or reporting)
d. Transactions do not log to at least two (2) local systems, one remote to the Lottery’s ICS

e. Critical functions of gaming system management cannot be conducted (Dashboard functionality, CFO Reporting, Player Services, Retailer Management, etc.)

f. During a defined promotional period the gaming system cannot issue tickets or conduct transactions to support an intended promotion.
HIGH IMPACT: $500 for each minute of degraded time, or pro-rated fraction thereof.

MEDIUM IMPACT: $750 PER HOUR of degraded time, or pro-rated fraction thereof 

LOW IMPACT: $150 PER HOUR of degraded time, or pro-rated fraction thereof 

4. Timely and Accurate Reports

Contractor shall produce and deliver timely, sufficient, and accurate management reports within the time frames specified in writing by Lottery. Reports are categorized into two groups A and B according to time criticality and importance. Group A reports are defined as reports that are required for Operations, necessary for balancing (i.e., ICS, etc.).  Group B reports are informational. 

Group A: $1,000 per day (22 hrs.), or pro-rated fraction thereof, for late reports

Group B: $100 per day (22 hrs.), or pro-rated fraction thereof, for late reports
5. Timely and Accurate Files

Contractor shall produce and deliver timely, sufficient, and accurate files within the time frames specified in writing by Lottery as set forth in the Statement of Work (SOW).  Files are categorized into two groups A and B according to time criticality and importance. Group A files are defined as files that are required for Operations (i.e., balance so Lottery can pay tickets, balance so Lottery can invoice retailers, etc.).  Group B files are those files that provide internal information.

File Examples

Group A Files:  Daily snapshot, winner summary, sales for each draw game

Group B Files:  Draw Games with various statuses

Group A: HIGH IMPACT - $2,000 per day (22 hrs.), or pro-rated fraction thereof, for late files

Group B: HIGH IMPACT - $1,000 per day (22 hrs.), or pro-rated fraction thereof, for late files
6. Terminal and Peripheral Repair

Critical Repairs.  If, following notice from Lottery to repair a Retailer Terminal that cannot sell or cancel Lottery products (under permitted conditions), that cannot perform Validations, or that has a reader or scanner that cannot process wagers or play slips, Contractor fails to repair the Retailer Terminal or a Lottery to Go terminal within the time period specified below for the Lottery-defined area of the state in with the Retailer Terminal is located, Contractor shall pay Lottery according to the following schedule until Contractor has repaired the malfunctioning Retailer Terminal:

Thirty dollars ($30.00) per malfunctioning Retailer Terminal for the first hour, or any portion of the first hour, after the applicable time period for repair (excluding Gaming System non-operating hours);

Sixty dollars ($60.00) per malfunctioning Retailer Terminal for the second hour, or any portion of the second hour, after the applicable time period for repair (excluding Gaming System non-operating hours);

Ninety dollars ($90.00) per malfunctioning Retailer Terminal for the third hour, or any portion of the third hour, after the applicable time period for repair (excluding Gaming System non-operating hours); and

One hundred twenty ($120.00) per malfunctioning Retailer Terminal for each hour and any portion of an hour, following the third hour after the applicable time period for repair (excluding Gaming System non-operating hours)

Contractor shall complete repairs between 7:00 a.m. to 12:00 midnight, Mountain Time in the following areas within in the specified time periods:  

Noncritical Repairs.  If, following notice from Lottery to repair a Retailer Terminal that is malfunctioning but continues to sell and cancel Lottery products (under permitted conditions), perform Validations, and has a reader or scanner that can process wagers or play slips, Contractor fails to repair the Retailer Terminal within twenty-four (24 hours, Contractor shall pay Lottery one hundred twenty dollars ($120.00) per malfunctioning Retailer Terminal per Day (excluding Gaming System non-operating hours), or until Contractor has repaired the malfunctioning Retailer Terminal.
Recurring Repairs.  If Lottery provides notice to Contractor under this section 5 more than three (3) times in any one (1) month for repair of the same Retailer Terminal (including repair of any replacement Retailer Terminal for a malfunctioning Retailer Terminal for each month this occurs unless Lottery concludes that the need for recurring repair is caused by Force Majeure events or from tampering or abuse by the Retailer or its customers.
7. Terminal Preventative Maintenance 
Contractor shall perform scheduled preventive maintenance for all retailer terminals as stated in the SOW. If there is a delay in scheduled preventative maintenance for any Retailer Terminal beyond the first Day of the month following the scheduled service cycle, Lottery may impose Liquidated Damages of up to $100 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, until the condition is rectified.
8. Failure to Modify Existing Draw Games or to Install Additional Games

Contractor shall make Modifications to existing games or install additional games and their supporting controls within one hundred twenty (120) Days from delivery of the Lottery’s written approval for a set of game specifications, unless an extension is authorized in writing by the Lottery or a schedule is otherwise established following Lottery’s written request for Modification or installation of games.  Contractor shall also successfully complete QA Testing and receive Lottery’s written approval of such Modification or additional game within the one hundred twenty (120) Day time period.

HIGH IMPACT:  Lottery may impose Liquidated Damages of up to ten thousand U.S. dollars ($10,000.00) for each Day of delay, or pro-rated fraction thereof, that the Modification or additional game is not installed.  Contractor is not obligated to pay Liquidated Damages if Lottery opts in writing to release the change at a later time than the agreed-upon schedule.

9. Failure to Produce an Administrative Software Change
Contractor shall make Modifications to or add software to the Gaming System to produce reports, screen displays, inquiries, and other administrative applications as may be specified in the Statement of Work within sixty (60) Days from delivery of written approval by the Lottery of a set of change specifications, unless an extension is authorized in writing by the Lottery or a schedule is otherwise established following written request of Lottery for changes. Contractor shall also successfully complete QA Testing and receive Lottery’s written approval of such Modification or additional software within the sixty (60) Day time period. 

MEDIUM IMPACT:
Lottery may impose Liquidated Damages of up to five hundred U.S. dollars ($500.00) per Day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, that the Modification or additional software is not installed. 
10. Unauthorized Software / Hardware Modifications

Contractor shall not make modifications to any software or hardware without the prior written consent of Lottery, and Contractor shall design and implement configuration management practices to obviate this possible problem. 

Contractor fails to perform as required under the Contract.
HIGH IMPACT:  $10,000 per violation

       MEDIUM IMPACT:  $5,000 per violation
11. 
Security Incident / Gaming System Compromise
Contractor shall implement and maintain effective operations and security controls to preclude personnel or systems (either authorized or not authorized) from accessing, modifying or otherwise compromising the integrity of or interfering with any Gaming System components (i.e., any host system, network device, software application, hardware or data involved in Gaming System operations) by any person or system in any manner that has not been authorized by the Lottery (“Security Incident”).  Contractor shall report all Security Incidents immediately to the Lottery. 

Contractor fails to perform as required under the Contract.
HIGH IMPACT: $10,000 per security incident with a Not To Exceed of $10,000 per Security Incident.

MEDIUM IMPACT: $5,000 per security incident with a Not To Exceed of $10,000 per Security Incident.

LOW IMPACT: $2,500 per security incident with a Not To Exceed of $10,000 per Security Incident.
12. 
Supply Shortage
If Contractor fails to maintain at each Retailer location a sufficient inventory of ticket stock necessary for Retailers to sell and validate all game tickets, point-of-sale advertising materials, pencils, etc., the LD’s are as follows:

HIGH IMPACT: $100 per retailer, per hour of downtime (i.e., ticket stock) 

MEDIUM IMPACT:  $100 per retailer, per day
13.  Failure to Report Incidents

Contractor shall immediately report all significant incidents related to the operation of the Gaming System, either personally or by telephone within one hour of the discovery of the incident, followed by a letter addressed to Lottery’s Contract Manager within 24 hours of the incident. Contractor shall send all written reports and notifications by courier and fax. At a minimum, contractor shall provide a written report for each of the following incidents, which Lottery considers insignificant. 

HIGH IMPACT: $1,000 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, from the day the incident occurs until the incident is correctly reported. 

MEDIUM IMPACT: $500 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, from the day the incident occurs until the incident is correctly reported.  

LOW IMPACT: $100 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, from the day the incident occurs until the incident is correctly reported.   
14.  Failure to Comply


Contractor shall comply with all commitments contained in this contract, including the RFP and the Proposal, and all clarifications and amendments to these documents.
Contractor fails to perform as required under the Contract.

HIGH IMPACT: $500 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, for each individual failure until the condition is corrected. 

MEDIUM IMPACT: $250 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, for each individual failure until the condition is corrected.  

LOW IMPACT: $100 per day, or pro-rated fraction thereof, for each individual failure until the condition is corrected.   

15.  Data Center (Inter-site) WAN Outages

Contractor shall ensure that WAN connections and related network services are not lost or operating at a degraded level of performance. Potential Incidents:  Feed to ICS, reports and file transfers.  

Anything related to #3 host and other systems down or #4 gaming host systems degraded would be assessed under these respected LDs. 

HIGH IMPACT: $3,000 per hour until services are restored to the required level, or pro-rated fraction thereof, during the operational hours for sales or validation on any day.

MEDIUM IMPACT: $1,000 per hour until services are restored to the required level, or pro-rated fraction thereof, during the operational hours for sales or validations on any day.

LOW IMPACT: $100 per hour until services are restored to the required level, or pro-rated fraction thereof, during the operational hours for sales or validation on any day. 
16.  Failure to Comply with Required Standards or to Remedy System Audit or Security Review Recommendations

Contractor shall correct or address to Lottery’s satisfaction, all recommendations made to Contractor as a result of a system audit or security review. (i.e., Security Audits, etc.)

HIGH IMPACT:  If, according to the written delivery schedule agreed to by the Parties, Contractor fails to comply with all required Lottery Standards, including but not limited to security standards and all current and future rules, practices and processes as issued by any gaming organization (e.g., MUSL) of which Lottery is or may become a member, Contractor shall pay Lottery $5,000 per failure per incident, plus $5,000 for each 7-Day period, or pro-rated portion thereof, until the failure to comply is remedied.
MEDIUM IMPACT:  If, according to the written delivery schedule agreed to by the Parties, Contractor fails to address to Lottery’s satisfaction, all recommendations made to Contractor as a result of an audit or security review, Contractor shall pay Lottery $500 per un-addressed audit recommendation and $500 per un-addressed security review recommendation, plus $500 for each 30-Day period, or pro-rated portion thereof, until the specific recommendations are addressed to Lottery’s satisfaction.

Lottery and Multi-Jurisdictional Standards – Contractor shall comply with all required Lottery standards, including but not limited to security standards, and all current and future rules, practices and processes as issued by any gaming organization (i.e. MUSL).
17.
Failure to Provide Software Testing and Quality Software Turnovers

Contract shall meet the agreed upon production date for each Release. The Release Date and the Impact (high/med/low) will be established and agreed upon as part of the Project Scope for each Release.  It is Lottery’s expectation that the quality of software meet sufficiency (pass quality assurance testing) in order to meet the agreed upon production time lines.
HIGH IMPACT: $5,000 for each day of delay to production (MUSL compliance, legal compliance, financial, regulatory, new game launch, etc.)
MEDIUM IMPACT: $2,500 for each day of delay to production (administrative, promotional add, etc.) 
LOW IMPACT:  $1,000 for each day of delay to production (defined as a ‘low impact’ administrative fix, etc.)
Once in Contract Negotiations, the Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to add to this section, including, service level agreements for the following:

· Placement, removal and disabling terminals and peripherals 
· Field staffing service level

· Retailer management

· Marketing and Advertising performance management
SECTION 5

STATEMENT OF UNDERSTANDING
5.1      STATEMENT OF UNDERSTANDING
5.1.1 
The proposer shall include with its technical proposal a certificate executed by an authorized representative of the proposer certifying that (i) the proposer has read this RFP prior to the submission of its proposal, (ii) the proposer understands the information contained in this RFP, (iii) the proposer has had an opportunity to consult with any experts it deems knowledgeable or helpful in any way, (iv) the proposer is a sophisticated business entity capable of analyzing the risks and potential benefits inherent in responding to this RFP and in entering into any contract resulting from this RFP, (v) the proposer has been and is represented by counsel of its choice, (vi) the proposer has fully investigated any facts that it deems relevant, (vii) the proposer is not under duress to respond to this RFP or to enter into any contract resulting from this RFP, and (viii) after careful consideration and investigation, and after receiving the advice of counsel, the proposer has analyzed the risks associated with responding to this RFP and with performing under any contract resulting from this RFP. The proposer waives any claim that the exercise by the Wyoming Lottery of any of the rights or remedies specified hereunder, to which proposer has not objected and negotiated out from inclusion in any contract resulting from this RFP based upon due process concerns, violates Proposers rights of due process.

5.1.2 
Any exceptions to the requirements contained in this RFP must be specifically and clearly stated at the time the certificate described in the preceding paragraph is delivered. The proposer should be aware, however, that exceptions taken to any requirements set forth in this RFP may, at the sole discretion of the Lottery, result in (i) rejection of the proposal submitted, and/or (ii) disqualification from submitting any proposal to this RFP.

5.2 
EXPERIENCE OF RESPONDING FIRM AND PRODUCT

      
The proposer shall provide the following information relating to its experience:

5.2.1   
Years of experience. The proposer must indicate the number of years’ experience the proposer has in providing the services as specified in this RFP and shall include detailed descriptions documenting its experience for all engagements of comparable complexity and scale for the past ten (10) years.

5.2.2 
The description of experience shall be detailed and cover all contracts and any subcontractors they have or have had that provided experience similar to this contract which qualifies the proposer to meet the requirements of this contract, including but not limited to:




(a) Size of contract.




(b) Reason for contract termination/expiration, if contract is no longer in effect.


Types of services directly provided by the proposer and whether the proposer was the proposer or subcontractor.

(d) Term and type of contract, including effective dates.

(e) Any problems encountered.

5.2.3 
The proposer shall state in its response whether or not any of the following have occurred during the last five (5) years:

(a) The proposer has had a contract terminated and, if so, shall provide full details, including the other party’s name, address and telephone number.

(b) The proposer has been assessed any sanctions or liquidated damages under any existing or pasty contracts with any state, provincial or other Lottery, and if so, note the jurisdiction, the reason for and the amount of the sanction or liquidated damages for each incident.

The proposer has provided goods or services in consideration of contractual sanctions or liquidated damages that would have been assessed, and if so, note the jurisdiction, the reason for the penalty or liquidated damages and the goods or services provided in lieu of the assessment.

(d) The proposer has had any material or significant audit findings.

(e) The proposer was the subject of (i) any disciplinary action for substandard work and unethical practices or (ii) any order, judgment or decree of any federal or state authority barring, suspending or otherwise limiting the right of the proposer to engage in any business, practice or activity.

(f) The proposer has been involved in any material civil or criminal litigation or indictment either threatened or pending as fully described in Section 3.43.

(g) The proposer has applied for, has sought renewal of, has received, has been denied, has pending, or has had revoked a gaming license of any kind, or had fines, penalties sanctions or liquidated damages assessed against its gaming license, contract or operation, and the disposition of such in each such state or jurisdiction. If any Lottery or gaming license or contract has been revoked or terminated or has not been renewed or any Lottery or gaming license or application has been either denied or is pending and has remained pending for more than six (6) months, all of the facts and circumstances underlying then revocation, termination, non-renewal or the failure to receive such a license shall be disclosed.

5.3 
EXPERIENCE OF PERSONNEL

5.3.1 
Proposers must provide an organizational chart which identifies all staff that will support the Wyoming Lottery account. The organizational chart should include the positions, titles, number of positions, and where applicable names of personnel (e.g., key management staff). The organizational should include corporate directors and/or officers who will provide direction and oversight to the Wyoming Lottery account.                       

5.3.2 
Proposers must provide resumes for all key management staff. This should include, without limitation, the following positions:

(a) Executive Management-General Manager/Site Director, Assistant General Manager, and other key officers or key personnel who will provide direction or oversight to the Wyoming Lottery account.

(b) Data Center Operations-Data Center Supervisor, Software Development Manager, Wyoming Lottery Liaison and any other staff who will have oversight or who will manage system operations for the Wyoming Lottery account.

(c) Call Center- Call Center Manager, Retailer Support Supervisor, Dispatch and Supply Inventory Supervisor or other key personnel who will provide direction or oversight to the Wyoming Lottery account.

(d) Sales and Marketing-Sales Manager, Marketing Manager, Promotions Manager/Coordinator, District/field Sales Managers, Corporate/Chain Account Manager, New Business Development Recruitment Manager, Research Associate, and any other staff who will provide sales or marketing input, direction or recommendations for the Wyoming Lottery account.

(e) Warehouse and Distribution-Warehouse Manager.

(f) Project Manager and key personnel assigned to the implementation of the Wyoming Lottery.

5.3.3 
Each resume must include (i) the proposed position to which the individual will be assigned for the contract; (ii) the position such individual currently holds with the proposer or its subcontractor(s); (iii) a brief description of such individual’s responsibilities for the contract; and (iv) a description of the experience that qualifies the individual to perform such responsibilities.

5.3.4 
The Lottery reserves the right to verify all information in the resumes submitted by the proposer, including contacting previous employers or firms for which work experience is indicated. Intentional or negligent misstatements of experience, scope of prior projects or results of work on prior projects may be grounds for disqualification of the proposal.

5.3.5 
Proposers must provide a staffing schedule indicating the projected dates that each of the unfilled positions will be filled.

5.3.6 
Proposers must indicate when key management employees will be available to commence providing services under any contract awarded hereunder.

5.4 
REFERENCES

Proposers must provide verifiable references which include contact person, name of company, phone, fax number and e-mail address if available for each engagement identified in section 5.3. The Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to verify all information in the proposal submitted by the proposer and seek other information it deems necessary to conduct a thorough review.

5.5 
CONTACT PERSON

      
The proposer shall provide the name, address, telephone number, email address, and facsimile number of a person to contact concerning questions regarding its proposal.

5.6 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST

  5.6.1 
The proposer must disclose any actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest relative to the performance of the requirements of this RFP. The proposer must disclose any personal or business relationship of (a) itself, (b) any of its principles, officers, directors, investors, owners, partners, and employees (collectively, Proposer Personnel); (c) any spouse, child, brother, sister, or parent residing as a member of the same household in the principle place of residence of any proposer personnel; (d) any affiliate, or (e) any subcontractor with any employee or representative of the Wyoming Lottery (including the Wyoming Lottery Officers and its Board Members) or its prime vendors.

5.6.2 
This is a continuing disclosure requirement. The proposer shall disclose to the Wyoming Lottery in writing any actual, potential or perceived conflict of interest, relative to the performance of the requirements of this RFP, during the period prior to the award of any contract pursuant to the RFP, at the time the conflict is identified. Failure to promptly notify the Wyoming Lottery will be sufficient grounds for rejecting the proposal.

5.7 
FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS

5.7.1
 In order to evaluate the proposer’s financial ability to perform under the contract, the Wyoming Lottery requires the following information:

5.7.2 
Ability to Finance Performance. The ability to finance or otherwise fund performance under the contract shall be demonstrated by each proposer through submission of a written analysis of its estimated initial or start- up costs for the period from the start of the contract to, to the end of the first complete calendar quarter of operation under the contract. Such cost analysis must be submitted at the same time as the proposers cost proposal, but in a separately sealed and marked envelope. The cost analysis will be used in conjunction with the information described below to evaluate the sufficiency of the proposer’s financial resources to deliver the goods and services proposed. The proposer must provide start-up costs through conversion plus estimated first quarter operating costs in the format as provided in attachment 1. The start-up costs must be submitted in a separate sealed envelope. The sealed envelope must be addressed as outlined in section 2.1.
5.7.3
Financial Viability.

In order to ensure the Proposer’s financial ability to perform under the contract, the Lottery requires the following financial information.

Response Note:  An original and two (2) copies of the following information must be provided and should be submitted with the original Proposal (not bound with all copies).  

If the information is not supplied with the Cost Proposal, the Wyoming Lottery may deem the Proposer non-responsive.

All submissions must employ US currency or include a US currency conversion formula.  If the Proposer is not based in the US, the foreign equivalent of the required filings must be tendered.

5.7.3.1
Submission of Financial Statements. All Proposers and substantial Subcontractors should submit certified financial statements, or, federal income tax returns.  The federal income tax returns would be in lieu of the unavailable financial statements.  The Proposer’s certified financial statements must be submitted for the last two fiscal years. The Certified financial statements must be the result of an audit of the entities records, prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS) by a certified accountant.

The certified financial statements shall be prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and must include balance sheets, income statements, statements of cash flow, statements of retained earnings, notes to the financial statements for both years and any management letters that have been received for those years.  

The Proposal shall include the most recent 10-K or 10-Q statements (when 10-K statements are not available) for two (2) years (or the international equivalents to the extent available). 

5.7.3.2
Subsidiaries.  If a Proposer or Substantial Subcontractor is a subsidiary of a parent entity and the Proposer or Substantial Subcontractor does not have its own, separate financial statements, the Proposer or Subcontractor may satisfy its financial responsibility submission requirements by submitting the consolidated financial statements of its parent entity if the consolidated financial statements include the activity of the Proposer or Subcontractor.  If a Proposer or Substantial Subcontractor submits the consolidated financial statements of its parent entity, the parent entity must serve as financial guarantor of the Proposer or Substantial Subcontractor.

5.7.3.3
Parent Corporation Resources.  If the Proposer is a subsidiary and will rely on the financial resources of the parent entity to perform this contract, the parent should certify in writing the availability of its resources to the Proposer.  Parent entities that serve as financial guarantors of subsidiary firms shall be held accountable for all terms and conditions of the RFP and the resulting contract and shall execute the Contract as guarantor.
5.7.3.4 External Borrowing. If the proposer plans to fund its obligations under the contract with borrowing from one or more external sources, the proposer must provide a commitment letter in an appropriate amount and in form and substance acceptable to the Lottery, from a creditor or other obligors acceptable to the Lottery.
5.7.3.5        The proposal must include and undertaking by the successful proposer to notify the Wyoming Lottery of a change in financial condition during the contract term and any renewal thereof. If a proposer experiences a material adverse change during the period prior to the award of any contract pursuant to the RFP, or if the successful proposer experiences a material adverse change during the term of the contract or any extension thereof, the proposer shall notify the Wyoming Lottery in writing of such change at the time the change occurs or is identified. Failure to notify the Wyoming Lottery of such material adverse change will be sufficient grounds for rejecting the proposal or terminating any contract. The term “material adverse change” shall mean any change or changes that individually or in the aggregate are materially adverse to (i) the assets, properties, business, results of operations or financial condition, taken as a whole, of the proposer or other applicable obligor, (ii) the ability of the proposer or such other obligor to perform its or their obligations under the contract, or (iii) the legality or enforceability against the proposer or such obligor of the contract.

5.8 SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Provide the following information in narrative form in order to assist the Lottery staff in evaluating the financial soundness of the proposer:

5.8.1 Off-Balance sheet arrangements.    Describe the proposer’s off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on the proposers financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that could reasonably be deemed to be material to the financial soundness of the proposer. 
5.8.2 Defaults on Securities. If there has been any material default in the payment of principle, interest or any other material default not cured within 30 days, with respect to any indebtedness of the proposer or any of its significant subsidiaries exceeding 5 percent of the total assets of the proposer and its consolidated subsidiaries, describe the indebtedness (including the amount thereof) and the nature of the default.
5.8.2.1 If any material arrearage in the payment of dividends has occurred or if there has been any other material delinquency not cured within 30 days, with respect to any class of preferred stock of the proposer, or with respect to any class of preferred stock of any significant subsidiary of the proposer, give the title of the class and state the nature of the arrearage or delinquency. In the case of an arrearage in the payment of dividends, state the amount and the total arrearage.
5.8.3 Business Plans.  Describe any business plans, including any planned acquisitions that proposer or any of its significant subsidiaries has which, if implemented, could be reasonably expected to constitute a significant risk factor to the future financial soundness of the proposer.
5.8.4 Liquidity and Capital Resources. Describe any known trends or any known demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will result in or that are reasonably likely to result in the proposer’s liquidity increasing or decreasing in any material way. If a material deficiency is identified, indicate the course of action that the proposer has taken or proposes to take to remedy the deficiency. Also identify and separately describe internal and external sources of liquidity, and briefly discuss any material unused sources of liquid assets.  
5.8.4.1 Describe the proposers material commitments for capital expenditures as of the end of the latest fiscal year for which financial statements are being furnished, and indicate the general purpose of such commitments and the anticipated source of funds needed to fulfill such commitments. Also describe any known material trends in the proposer’s capital resources. Indicate any expected material changes in the mix and relative cost of such resources. The discussion shall consider changes between equity, debt and any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

5.8.5
The Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to require any additional information necessary to evaluate the financial soundness of the proposer or other applicable obligors, or their ability to perform the obligations under the contract.

5.9 

BACKGROUND INVESTIGATIONS

5.9.1 
The Wyoming Lottery may initiate investigations into the background of any (a) apparent successful proposer; (b) any of the apparent successful proposer’s officers, directors, investors, owners, partners and other principles, (collectively, apparent successful proposer principles); (c) any of apparent successful proposer’s employees; (d) any of apparent successful proposer’s subcontractors, or subcontractors officers, directors, investors, owners, partners, principles or employees (collectively, subcontractor personnel); or (e) any other associates of the apparent successful proposer it deems appropriate. The Wyoming Lottery may also request background information for a spouse, child, parent, brother, sister or anyone residing as a member of the same household in the principle place of residence of the apparent successful proposer, any apparent successful proposer’s principles, or apparent successful proposer employees described above. Such background investigations may include fingerprint identification by the Wyoming Department of Criminal Investigations and Department of Public Safety, The Federal Bureau of Investigation, and any other law enforcement agency. The Wyoming Lottery may reject a proposal and/or terminate any contract resulting from this RFP based solely upon the results of these background investigations.

5.9.2 
In order to facilitate the background investigations, the apparent successful proposer, including the parent or subsidiary of the apparent successful proposer, shall complete and return:

   a.
The Wyoming Lottery’s background information certified list of vendor principals form (Attachment 8) within (3) working days after the written announcement of the apparent successful proposer by the Wyoming Lottery.
b.
The Wyoming Lottery’s background packet (Attachment 9) for all apparent successful proposer principals and any spouse, child, brother, sister, or parent residing as a member of the same household in the principal place of residence of an apparent successful proposer principal within twenty (20) working days after the written announcement of the apparent successful proposer by the Wyoming Lottery.

5.9.3 
Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to require additional background information.
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STATEMENT OF WORK

SECTION 6
STATEMENT OF WORK
6.1

STATEMENT OF WORK 
This section describes the systems and services specifications for the Lottery Gaming System (the “System”).  Prior to the detailed responses to each paragraph of Section 6, the Proposer must provide the following summary level responses for the paragraphs below.

Response Note:  Only an overview is required here. These capabilities must be described in detail by response to other RFP sections to follow. 
Overview.  Present an overview of the System’s design and operating experience in the field.
Certified Equipment.  The proposed equipment must have been inspected for safety and approved by a reputable Gaming Laboratory (e.g. GLI or equivalent), must be in compliance with electronic technology manufacturing standards (IEEE, NEMA, OSHA) and all proposed equipment must be in compliance with FCC regulations suitable for devices of the types proposed (FCC Part 15 Subpart B).

New and Unused Equipment.  All proposed transaction processing administrative computers and database computers, front-end processors, networking equipment, retailer terminals and associated peripherals, diagnostic equipment, etc., must be new an unused.  Equipment proposed must be current manufacture by the Contractor or its suppliers.  All hardware models and software versions installed at start-up must represent the then-current equivalent or better version in case a proposed offering is no longer available by the manufacturer or superseded. 
6.2 CENTRAL CONFIGURATION

The Wyoming Lottery requires a configuration capable of handling the immediate (start-up) and long-range needs of the Lottery as defined in the following sections.

Response Note:  Configuration block diagrams down to the component level of the proposed System must be submitted with the Proposal.
 
Each hardware and software item must be identified by manufacturer, product name and model number, as applicable.  For software, version numbers must be provided, or such will be assumed to be the latest release at the time of start-up.  Any deviations from the suppliers’ standard hardware and software products must be disclosed and an explanation provided.  (Installation of any such deviations requires prior approval from the CEO).   
6.2.1 Gaming Host Systems at the Primary Data Center



Transaction  Processing / Database / Games Administration Host System.  

All games, databases and games administration functions for mission-critical draw and instant games support must be supported by a protective redundant configuration.  The Primary and Secondary Data Centers must be located within the boundaries of Wyoming.  The Primary Data Center must be within the Cheyenne city limits and the secondary system no further in distance than 50 miles.  There must be a tertiary system in a location agreeable to both the successful Proposer and the Wyoming Lottery.  These physically separate Systems must mirror each other and all three Systems must be configured to allow one to back-up and operate independently of the others; flawlessly.  A component failure in the Primary System must not cause a failure in either Back-up System.  


6.2.2
Failover.  The remaining system(s) shall immediately provide access and assume the load in case of a failure in one of the other systems, without loss or corruption of any data and transactions received prior to the time of the failure.
6.2.3
Operations Procedures. Procedures for computer operations staff, especially regarding failure situations, must be an easy-to-understand, documented procedure.  It is required that in addition to operator-prompted failover, the System must be able to recover from failures without operator intervention (“auto-failover”).  At any time and for any reason, should a failover be necessary, both the CEO and the Gaming Operations Office of the Wyoming Lottery must be notified.  This step must be documented in the procedures.

Response Note: The Proposal must discuss a typical failure scenario and describe the procedures that operators would use for corrections. 
6.2.4
Time Synchronizing. All gaming hosts at the Primary Data Center must have a time-synchronizing mechanism to ensure consistent time recording and reporting for events and transactions.  Synchronization with an external time source is required.

6.2.5
Disaster Recovery.  In the event of irreparable damages at the Primary Data Center, or, of an unplanned, extended abandonment of the Primary Data Center, the Contractor shall perform the necessary tasks to ensure the Back-up or Tertiary system is operational within 4 hours of the disaster. 


Contractor will also provide at no additional cost those host systems, facilities and other components necessary to continue Lottery sales under a replacement primary operational system.  Such host systems, facilities and other components shall be furnished, installed, updated, maintained and operational during the remaining life of the Contract.  Contractor will ensure the replacement Primary Data Center is operational within 3 months of the initial disaster. 


All three system facilities must meet Lottery-approved environmental, security and system approval. 

6.3 GAMING HOST SYSTEMS AT THE BACK-UP DATA CENTER

The Contractor shall provide two (2) or more remote back-up systems that will take over for the Primary Data Center systems if necessary.  Data transferred to and recorded at the remote back-up systems shall always contain the most recent transactions, allowing a takeover.  The wide-area-network (WAN) connection will provide routing of gaming transactions from the Lottery’s retailers to the Primary, Back-up and Tertiary systems, as well as being available remotely by communications from the Primary Data Center.  
The Contactor shall demonstrate on a scheduled basis that the Back-up Data and Tertiary System Centers are fully functional by operating in production from those sites on an agreed upon schedule.  

6.3.1

Gaming System Back-up Sizing. The remote backup systems must be a mirror configuration of the same processing capacity and architecture as the Primary Data Center host systems. 
6.3.2

Time Synchronizing.  Gaming hosts at the Backup and Tertiary Data Centers must have a time synchronizing mechanism to ensure consistent time recording and reporting for events and transactions.  Synchronization with an external time source is required.

6.3.3

Disaster Recovery.  This section has the same specification as Section 6.2.5 above and the response may reference that response, if identical.  

6.4

LOTTERY MANAGEMENT ACCEPTANCE TESTING 
A quality assurance testing system for the Lottery must be provided at the Contractor’s facility.  The testing system must replicate Lottery’s production system and have full capabilities for redundant testing. This and all production systems must be available to Lottery for testing by the Lottery or the selected gaming laboratory testing contractor with full support from the Contractor.  

The Lottery will collaborate with the Contractor to identify and assess any possible risks or impacts on production operations and to determine any course of action.
6.4.1

Lottery Testing System.  The Contractor must provide a separate system for testing by the Lottery.  The testing system must be located at the Primary Data Center and support certain types of testing as requested by the Lottery.  The testing system must be identical in architecture and capacity to each of the production systems. 

6.4.2
Lottery Testing Retailer Terminals.  The Contractor must equip the Primary Data Center quality assurance testing lab with ten (10) full function retailer terminals configured with the Lottery designated release of software.  The Contractor must also include two (2) of any other ticket selling device that support draw games.  At any time, Lottery may require the installation of more retailer terminals and peripherals for specialized tests.
6.4.3

Management and Other Testing Terminals and Devices.  In the Primary Data Center Quality Assurance (QA) area, the Contractor must provide connectivity and support for three (3) management computers that replicate management services provided to the lottery; two (2) of every Lottery Jackpot Sign and two (2) of any other device used at retailer locations.
6.4.4

Testing System / Communications. The testing terminals must be configured with any and all communication mechanisms employed by the Contractor’s retailer terminals.

6.4.5

Contractor’s Development and Test System.  The Contractor must not conduct software development or its own quality assurance activities on any of the production systems.

6.5

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM (ICS) CONFIGURATION



All components for the ICS, including but not limited to, hardware, operating system software, any MUSL required components, third-party ICS software, software development tools, interface components (if needed) and associated hardware and software licensing, maintenance and support, shall be provided by the Contractor.  The ICS primary and backup system shall be located at Lottery Headquarters in Cheyenne and the tertiary system shall be located within the state of Wyoming at a secondary location.  



The tertiary ICS system location shall be selected in collaboration with the Lottery.  The cost of the location and its provisioning (as described above) is at the cost of the Contractor.  


The backup ICS is required to ensure timely processing in event of failure of the primary ICS.  Maintenance of these infrastructure systems must be continued by the Contractor for the term of the contract.  This configuration must be used solely to support the ICS system and must comply with MUSL rules.

6.6

GAMING SYSTEM QUANTITATIVE PERFORMANCE CRITERIA


6.6.1
The System must initially support a network of 2,000 new retailers. 

6.6.2
The ability to expand the System to accommodate up to 3,000 active retailer clerk operated terminals must be available should such an expansion opportunity be desired by the Lottery.  The Lottery makes no guarantees or representations that the System will expand during the term of the contract.


6.6.3
The System as delivered must be capable of handling up to seventy-five thousand (75,000) sales transactions per minute on a continuous basis.

6.6.4
The System as delivered must be capable of processing up to three thousand (3,000) validations (combination of all games) and cancel transactions per minute, while selling at the rate stipulated above.


6.6.5
Each draw game ticket shall be produced in no more than four (4) seconds from completion of entry (game slip or manual entry- once SEND is pressed) regardless of the number of ‘plays’ selected (i.e., 5 sets of numbers multiplied by $3 = $15 Powerball ticket)


6.6.6
All other transactions (i.e., instant ticket transactions; winning ticket validations, cancels, reports, etc.) shall be produced in no more than five (5) seconds after the ‘SEND’ key is pressed.


6.6.7
Primary Data Center system recovery in auto-failover mode from a one system failure must be accomplished in no more than two minutes while still maintaining current transactions.


6.6.8
Backup Data Center system recovery from a Primary Data Center failure must be accomplished in no more than ten (10) minutes without loss of any transactions or interruption of user access.


6.6.9
The System must have the ‘as delivered’ capacity in all hardware and software aspects to accommodate one hundred fifty (150) concurrent instant games being in any status (i.e., available, unavailable, picked, packed, shipped, confirm shipment, activated, promotional, validated, returned, damaged, recalled, destroyed, archived, etc.).

6.6.10
The System shall support over a one billion dollar ($1,000,000,000) draw game jackpot amount.  


6.6.11
The System shall sell a minimum of fifty (50) single play Quick Pick tickets without requiring operator re-entry.


6.6.12
The System must have the as-delivered capacity in all hardware and software to allow winning draw game and instant tickets to be retained (able to validate) up to 365 days after the official draw (draw games) and after the official end of an instant game.


6.6.13
The System must have the as-delivered capacity in all hardware and software instant “ticket level accounting”.  This is the ability to track the status on (electronically) every instant ticket produced, sold, used for promotions, destroyed, etc.

6.6.14
System ‘up time’ must be 97% or better. 
6.7
SYSTEMS MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING



Systems management and monitoring capabilities must be available at both the primary, backup and tertiary data centers.  System management tools must create visual and/or audible alarms to provide warning of problems with the host operating system or system hardware components.  The capability must be included to identify whether a failure has occurred in any of the host systems at the Primary or Backup Data Center.

6.8       OPERATING HOURS

The ability to accommodate near twenty-four (24) hour-a-day operations is required for processing, making system changes and other practical operations.  Selling hours will be from 6 a.m. to 3 a.m. 
6.9       HOST SYSTEMS SECURITY

The Contractor shall be responsible for the security of the host systems, which is critical to ensure the integrity of the System.  The following security requirements apply to all systems in the Contractor’s Primary,  Backup Data Center and Tertiary configurations including the production, backup and testing systems as well as any administrative host systems supporting games management or other applications operated by the Contractor.

6.9.1
Systems Access and Authentication.  All systems and users requiring access (for any purpose) must be approved by the Lottery.  Host systems must also support controls and procedures that allow the Lottery to audit all system access. The Proposer’s proposal must clearly identify controls relating to user authentication, authorization and access controls for operating systems.


6.9.2
Principal of Least Privilege.  All systems must be configured to support only those services required to provide the intended System functions.  System users must be granted access only to the functions and file systems needed to perform their job functions.


6.9.3
Compliance with Security Requirements.  Systems must be compliant with all systems security and fault tolerance requirements accepted as operating principles by the Lottery, or promulgated by any multi-jurisdictional game organization (i.e., Mega Millions) of which the Lottery may be a member.


6.9.4
Protection against Unauthorized Access or Service Disruption.  The Contractor shall ensure that host systems are not vulnerable to unauthorized access.  The Proposal must specify the methods by which host systems will be protected against unauthorized access, malware (viruses, spyware, etc.) denial of service and other attacks.

Response Note:  The Proposal must provide any additional information on other systems security components and controls that will be implemented including host intrusion protection, operating system hardening, login and password controls, system security log management, etc.  The acceptability of all system security controls shall be subject to Lottery approval.


6.10 RETAILER TERMINALS, PERIPHERALS AND OTHER DEVICES
The Contractor is required to supply the Lottery with terminals and other equipment as specified in this section.  The initial counts are set forth below and the Contractor must be able to deliver, install and support additional equipment as ordered by the Lottery under the terms defined in the contract.
6.10.1
Retailer / Clerk Operated Terminals.  At Go-Live, the system shall support approximately two thousand (2,000) fully functional clerk operated terminals with the capability of supporting, up to, three thousand (3,000) with growth.  

6.10.1.1
The Contractor must also supply up to one hundred-ten (110) training terminals, testing terminals (as described above) and spares.  Five (5) training and two (2) live terminals will be placed at Lottery Headquarters.



‘Live’ terminal provisioning (for the Lottery Headquarters) will be determined closer to our Go-Live date.


6.10.2
Terminal Identification. No manufacturer or vendor logo / identification shall be attached to any ticket-selling device.  The terminal may bear a serial number or bar code for maintenance and logistical purposes.


6.10.3
Clerk Operated Terminals / Features & Functions.  Reliability is considered a critical feature of the retailer terminal and the response to this section should identify any features that enhance reliability.  Requirements include, but are not limited to:



6.10.3.1
Size.  A compact size is required.  If the terminal is modular, then it is important that the connecting data and power cables not be obtrusive.

Response Note:  The Proposer shall list the dimensions and weight of the proposed terminal and its peripherals and shall identify the power, power cables required.
6.10.3.2
Touch Screen.  The clerk operated terminal must include a touch screen that will automatically display the entire transaction being processed and will accommodate graphics as well as text.




The screen must be capable of displaying retailer messages, reports and transactions using such readability features as 12-font, colors, icons and screen layouts to provide displays easily read and operated by the user.




There shall be sufficient screen functions to provide for our start-up ‘approved’ games and flexibility for reasonable expansion into new games and game options.  The colors, locations, graphics and text will be at the discretion of the Lottery.  




The screen must be readable from a variety of user distances and viewing angles, including under various lighting condition.

6.10.3.3 ID Card Reader.  The terminal shall be capable of reading identification cards using a bar code or comparable machine-readable identifier.  The ID cards will be furnished by the Contractor at no additional cost to the Lottery.




The ID cards will be required to identify, at minimum, four distinct users, the owner/retailer, clerks, field staff and technicians.  Each ID Card reader will have an identifying mark or be produced in a different color to distinguish one classification from another. The ID card shall cause certain capabilities to be made available to the individual via a menu of options and the system shall record any transactions that may be performed by that individual.  Privileges for these identifications cards shall be established through a games management application.

6.10.3.4      The Contractor shall provide ten (10) ID Cards specified to each retailer location.  Three of the cards will be designated retailer/owner and the remaining cards will be clerk cards.  

Response Note:  The Proposer shall provide a solution for managing the ID Cards designated for Retailer / Clerk use and/or proposer another solution that will provide the same level of security and data required.



6.10.3.5
The Contractor shall provide and manage the ID cards used by field staff and technicians.



6.10.3.6
Training Module.  The Clerk Operated Terminal must be capable of providing a Video or equivalent, training module.  The module must display the features and components necessary for Clerks and Owners to operate the terminal and features explaining the games.  



In Training Mode and when operable, should the Clerk or Owner print “TRAINING TICKETS”, the tickets must be clearly marked as “TRAINING DEMO / NOT FOR SALE”.  



6.10.3.7      When a terminal is in Training Mode, the activity must be registered on the Central System.  Training Mode must be capable of simulating all transactions allowed without updating production files, such as the Winner File.

Self-Diagnostics.  The terminal must be equipped with self-diagnostics and indicators that enable the retailer and service technicians to monitor the operating status of the terminal.  Terminal diagnostics and internal status conditions must be initiated and observed remotely by technicians or call center operators.

Response Note:  Bidders must submit a listing of all such indicators and operator messages available.


6.10.4
Ticket / Report Printer and Stock.  A thermal printer or essentially equivalent alternative and MUSL approved ticket stock must be provided by the Contractor.  The printer must provide high-resolution images (no less than 200 dots per inch) suitable for rendering logos, messages, symbols as well as play data.  The printer must be fast, quiet and reliable.


6.10.4.1
The printer must be capable of producing tickets and reports using a variety of fonts as approved by the Lottery.  Graphics, such as Logo’s and Promotional Coupons must also be producible.



6.10.4.2
The printer must be capable of issuing tickets having uniform size or variable length as determined by the Lottery.  Tear off tickets are not acceptable.  Each ticket, regardless of length, must contain a pre-printed stock number on the back. 



6.10.4.3
The printer must provide stacking for printed tickets which will accommodate up to fifty (50) tickets printing serially in a multiple ticket request (repeat buy / Quick Pick).



6.10.4.4
Ticket stock for the printer must be able to be pre-printed front and back with text, images and colors using designs provided by, or approved by the Lottery.



6.10.4.5
Tickets must be readable for a period of at least one and one half (1.5) years under ordinary consumer use in the Wyoming environment (i.e., ticket folding, hot or extreme cold weather, rain, fluid spills, etc.).  Thermal ticket stock must withstand at least 170 degrees Fahrenheit ambient temperature for greater than four (4) hours, must be top and back coated.



6.10.4.6
The Contractor must provide methods to investigate and verify damaged and altered tickets.  Contractor shall include security features on the ticket stock.

Response Note:  Security features of the Proposer’s ticket stock and methods to investigate and verify damaged and altered tickets must be addressed in the Proposal.
Response Note:  Bidders should include one (1) roll of sample ticket stock with the Proposal.  If a roll of sample ticket stock is not included with the Proposal, the Wyoming Lottery reserves the right to request the Proposer to provide the sample ticket stock.  If the Proposer fails to provide the roll of sample ticket within five (5) days of the request, the Proposer’s (Proposal) may be deemed non-responsive.


6.10.5
Software Loading.  Gaming software and data must be available via downloading to the terminals and must also be available through a local load by a service technician.



6.10.5.1
Unless agreed upon by the lottery, downloading (for terminal enhancements, game changes, game loads, etc.) must take place during non-selling hours.  



6.10.5.2
Should downloading or system activity, other than typical transactions due to sales, validations, reporting, etc., take place during ‘selling hours’, the system must be capable of all activities with no interruption of service.  Up time and all other service levels must be maintained. 




All downloads and/or Release activities must be approved by the Lottery.  If issues arise during a download / release, the system must be capable, upon prompting, to return to the prior system version.




Downloading options must be available so that individual retailers, groups of retailers, regions of retailers and full-state retailer releases can be done. 

6.10.6
Secure Sign-On.  The terminal must prohibit unauthorized use through a coded sign-on procedure.  The System must permit changing of the code without a service call and manual interface with the terminal.  A password, for security purposes, is not to be displayed, printed or visible in any manner whatsoever at the terminal.  



The password facility must permit multiple levels of secure access, including, field representatives, field technicians, retailers/owners and clerks.  This capability could be used to restrict privileged transaction types to authorized users.  For example, retailers/owners may be able to display retailer financial reports and monitor transactions by individual clerks and clerks would not have access to this information.

6.10.7
User Interface Design.  The design must minimize keystrokes and minimize navigation through levels of nested screens to ensure utility and productivity for the user.  Each game shall be set up with default play parameters and a subsequent wager shall use the same parameter setting unless the wager is altered by the retailer.

6.10.8
Bar codes.  The terminal must be capable of validating winning tickets through bar code scanning and manual entry.  The terminal must support other administrative functions which employ machine readable codes such as the interleaved two (2) of five (5) bar code, PDF 417, two-dimensional matrix bar codes, UPC and other standards.  



6.10.8.1    
The terminal must be capable of reading and processing serialized, bar coded coupons. 

Response Note:  Examples must be provided in the Proposal to depict selling a ticket.  The final user interface design shall be developed jointly with the Lottery.

Response Note:  Proposer must provide a scenario in which stakeholder (retailers/clerk) feedback would be collected as a deliverable of the ‘Design Phase’ of the Clerk Operated Terminal.  


6.10.9
Play Slip and Document Scanner.  The Contractor shall provide game slips and document scanners able to read player-completed game slips and other gaming relevant documents.



6.10.9.1
At a minimum, the reader must be capable of scanning game slip sized documents.



6.10.9.2
The reader must provide flexibility in terms of its ability to read various colors and graphics on the game slips and the latitude it allows for markings by players.  Special markers shall not be needed for game slips.



6.10.9.3
The reader must provide flexibility in the manner the documents can be inserted.  For example, top or bottom first.



6.10.9.4
The reader must allow the retailer to quickly process a stack of game slips.

Response Note:  Proposers shall describe the speed and manner in which the reader is capable of processing game slips.



6.10.9.5
The reader shall be jam-resistant and have a simple mechanism for immediately clearing a jam or non-readable document.



6.10.9.6
The reader must accommodate documents/forms which purpose is to collect information at the retailer location.  The Contractor may be called upon to collect such data and furnish a data file to the Lottery.


6.10.10
Random Numbers / Quick Picks.  The terminal must support generating one (1) or more random (quick pick) set of numbers as requested by the retailer or via a completed player game slip. 



During implementation and as noted on the Project Schedule, the Contractor’s RNG must be certified by a Lottery-approved and designated testing agency. 

Response Note:  The Proposer shall describe the algorithms and furnish a network diagram and any other support information that ensures the RNG produces random outcomes.

6.10.11
Ticket Serial Numbers.  Tickets produced by the terminals must bear a unique serial number in Arabic numerals and in bar code that is readable by the terminal.  The serial number must allow tickets to be unambiguously identified for the term of the contract.


6.10.12
Ticket Reader.  The terminal must include a ticket reader for checking tickets and must have a first-read rate of 95% or better.  



6.10.12.1
The ticket reader must default to ticket validation mode unless the operator selects another option.



6.10.12.2
The ticket reader must read bar codes for both draw and instant ticket games.



6.10.12.3
The bar code reader must not be a pen wand.



6.10.12.4
The terminal’s bar code reader must be movable/removable and thus, must be wireless, have a cable, or, other means to reach twelve inches (12”) from the terminal.  

6.10.13
Transaction Integrity with Consumables.  The terminal must provide a method of preserving the integrity of the transaction when a reader fault, printer fault, misprint, jam, or, end-of-ticket-stock condition occurs.



6.10.13.1
The terminal must return to service after fault resolution without notable delay or disruption to the retailer.


6.10.14
Peripheral Slots/Ports.  The Lottery anticipates the possibility of using various peripheral attachments for the retailer terminals (Point of Sale Jackpot Signs; Wireless Window Jackpot Signs, Monitors, etc.).  In addition to the interfaces for terminal features and peripherals identified in this RFP as required upon delivery, there must be a minimum of three (3) additional, unoccupied slots/ports for other peripherals.  The slots/ports shall be physically or logistically secured when they are not in authorized use.  The slots/ports must be a combination of PCI, RS-232 and USB.  


6.10.15
Environment Suitability.  Proposers shall describe how the terminal is suitable for the conditions in Wyoming including, the dedicated power needed; terminal dimensions and resilience when in contact with liquids.


6.10.16
Power Cord.  Each terminal must come equipped with a power cord at least ten feet (10’) in length and with a three-prong grounded plug.


6.10.17
Memory and Storage.  The Lottery requires the ability to add games and implement promotions as needed.  It is required that the terminal, at delivery, provide at least a fifty percent (50%) margin of available game and promotional memory for these and other future activities.



The terminal’s memory must be upgradable.



Should AC power to the terminal be interrupted, stored contents such as the gaming software must not be destroyed, modified or lost for a minimum period of one (1) calendar week from the occurrence of such failure.

Response Note:  The Proposer shall describe the extent of memory upgrade capability. 


6.10.18
Terminal Case Color.  The terminal case and any peripherals must be provided in a color selected by the Lottery among options available using a manufacturer’s standard color chart.  The Lottery requires a durable and uniform color.


6.10.19
Sound.  The terminal must be capable of producing tones and high fidelity audio when certain transactions or functions are performed, or, specified events occur.  The use of sounds must not unduly delay the transaction processing time.  The Lottery will define which functions shall trigger this feature. 



The terminal must be capable of supporting auxiliary speakers.

6.10.20   Broadcast Messages.  Messages from the central system must be received and displayed to the retailer.  If the terminal is not powered ‘on’ or communicating with the central system at the time of the broadcast, the central system must ensure that the terminal receives the message immediately upon sign on.



Broadcast Message support s Amber Alerts, Wyoming State Alerts and other messaging to be defined upon implementation.


6.10.21
Large Dollar Transaction Verification.  The terminal screen must display a message for each ‘large dollar’ transaction that requires a clerk verification (an additional confirmation step prior to SEND).  The Lottery will define the default amount and verification steps for transactions of ‘large amounts’. The Proposer must provide a feature whereby a specific retailer can identify a default amount different from that selected by the Lottery.


6.10.22
Previous Transaction Listing.  The terminal must be able to display the last five (5) transactions accepted by the System.  


6.10.23
Cancellations.  The terminal must support ticket cancellations for those games that permit it.  Cancellations must be governed by Lottery rules and as depicted by Lottery organizations (MUSL).  

6.10.24
Validation Limits.  The terminal must not cash wins in excess of $599. For larger wins the terminal must return a response as defined by the Lottery.


6.10.25
Terminal Case Design for Safety.  The terminal’s design shall partition electronic and electrical components from access by the retailer when conducting retailer tasks to operate or maintain the terminal (i.e., changing the paper or cleaning the reader window).  Sharp and protruding edges must be minimized.


6.10.26
Clerk-Associated Transaction Reporting.  The System must provide a mechanism that associates a specific scan ID card with a set of transactions produced by a retailer terminal.  


The system must produce reports summarizing activities by specific scan ID cards associated with a specific retailer at the retailer terminal.  Reports will include, but are not limited to, sales activities, Sign-On/Off activities, time and date stamp.


6.10.27
Sales by hour.  The System must be able to produce, by retail location, by game and roll-up of all games, sales-by-hour reports. Other retailer reports shall be defined as an exercise post-contracting.
6.11
RETAILER TERMINAL ATTACHMENTS


The Proposer shall describe the ability to provide the following retailer terminal attachments of the same or alternative specifications, designs and functions.  


 
6.11.1
Player Facing Jackpot Point of Sale (POS) Display.  The Contractor must provide a player facing Jackpot Display with each Terminal deployed.  The Jackpot Display must be able to (advertise) up to three (3) Jackpot Games and their associated Jackpot amounts.  Content and layout for the Jackpot POS Display will be decided by the Lottery. Total units at Go-Live – two thousand one hundred and twenty-two (2122) with the ability, at Contractor’s expense, to add an additional 1,000 for growth.


6.11.1.1
The Jackpot Display must be clearly visible from fifteen feet.



6.11.1.2
Jackpot Display units must be automatically updated.  



6.11.1.3
Jackpot Display units must include a telescopic (adjustable) pole attached to a flat surface weighted-base to prevent tipping. 



6.11.1.4
Jackpot Display units must be able to rest on counters, or, nested on terminal or other peripheral units.  Lottery and Contractor will determine the best configuration for each retailer location.

6.11.2
Player Transaction Display.  As part of the required terminal peripherals, the Contractor must provide a player transaction display for each retailer location.  The Player Display must be a smaller unit that is meant to be a discreet, individual-oriented display for the player conducting the current transaction.  This display must communication the amount of the current transaction to include but not limited to, transaction amount, validation amount, non-winning information and other transaction information determined by the Lottery. Total units at Go-Live – two thousand one hundred and twenty-two (2122) and at Contractor’s expense, the ability to add another 1,000.


6.11.2.1
When not in use, the Player Display will showcase an advertising or informational message as determined by the Lottery. 


6.11.2.2
The Lottery will approve the Player Display design and messages on display.



6.11.2.3
The Player Display must be associated with the retailer terminal in a manner that cannot be detached or rendered inoperable by the retailer.

6.11.3
Self-Service Check-A-Ticket.  As part of the required terminal peripherals, the Contractor must provide a Self-Service Check-A-Ticket unit for each retailer location.  Lottery and Contractor will determine the location for each unit within the retailer’s business and the location must be far enough away from the retailer terminal to minimize activity and traffic at the retailer counter. There must be a unit at each location designated by the Lottery and up to 3,000 units available over the life of the Contract and at Contractor’s expense. 
6.11.4
20” x 22” (
approx.. size) Window & Interior Jackpot Signs.  At start-up, the Contractor must provide one thousand (1,000) window/interior Jackpot Signs.  Contractor must provide up to 100 signs per year, thereafter, with a maximum of 500 signs over the life of the contract and at the Contractor’s expense.  These signs will mirror the POS signs in content and display, however, the form factor and vertical layout will differ.  These signs will be placed primarily in the windows of retail locations and will display the Jackpot amounts and showcase the Lottery Logo.  It is these signs along with other strategic placement of POP that will advertise the location as a lottery retailer.


6.11.4.1
The signs must receive a wireless jackpot update.


6.11.4.2
The signs must have a 15’ to 20’ power cord.


6.11.4.3
The signs must come with mounting hardware for a variety of applications to include drop ceilings and window casing.


6.11.4.4
From the 1000 signs ordered, there must be a sign placed in the Primary Data Center and two placed at the Lottery office.  The Contractor may request additional signs for placement in other locations for the purpose of testing and/or controls.

6.11.5
Flat Panel Advertising Display (Invited Option).  The Contractor to provide one hundred fifty (150) 50” advertising monitors suitable for displaying winner information, game advertising, Amber Alert and other information as determined.  

6.11.5.1
Contractor will provide Lottery a web based content management software program to manage content.


6.11.5.2
The monitor shall be able to play Video and Digital advertising and through auxiliary speakers, sound that is controlled by the retailer (volume control).


6.11.5.3
If Lottery determines to add the Keno game to its portfolio of draw game offerings, the Contractor will provide a solution for using the monitor to display Keno results.  
6.11.6
Multiple Terminals per Retailer.  The System must permit and the Contractor must support, more than one terminal temporarily or permanently installed at a retailer’s location.  The System must be able to account for individual and multiple terminals as part of a single retailer account. The Lottery may require the installation of additional terminals at a single location during seasonal ‘peak’ selling periods.
6.11.7
Promotional Terminals.  The System must permit and the Contractor must support the provisioning of two (2) remote selling terminals that can be used at promotional events. These terminals must be able to function wirelessly and with all of the capabilities as a ‘retailer’ terminal. 

6.12
SPECIALITY RETAILER TERMINALS (Specified Option)
The Lottery is aware that certain needs might be better served by alternative retailer terminals.  Describe the options available, the service provided and cost options for selling Powerball/Mega Millions via wall-mounted or Free-Standing ‘vending’ equipment that is available.   

6.12.1  
Instant Ticket / Draw Game Vending Machines (Invited Option) 


Although the Wyoming Lottery will launch only with draw games (Powerball and Mega Millions), the Lottery is interested in combined Instant Ticket and Draw Game Vending Machines. Describe the options available, the services provided and cost options.  Contractors are encouraged to provide options that they feel would be adequate for Wyoming.

6.12.2
Privileged Cashing Terminals.  The Lottery requires the Contractor to provide a total of two (2) privileged cashing terminals at its Primary Data / District Office headquarters.   The privileged cashing terminals must be capable of cashing winning Lottery tickets.



6.12.2.1
The Privileged Cashing Terminals need to interface with a Claims & Payments module.  The Claims & Payments module will allow Contractor staff to insert player information, track and pay players by check or Electronic Fund Transfer.  



6.12.2.2
The module will track all W2G withholdings and provide the CFO with specific data pertaining to the winner’s file.  The format and other specificity required will be provided during the contracting (statement of work) phase.
6.13
ADDITIONAL RETAILER GAME SUPPORT ITEMS  


To enhance customer awareness and facilitate sales, the Lottery requires retailer game support items.  The Proposer shall also describe the ability to provide additional units of retailer game support items for the life of the contract.


The Proposer must provide, at minimum, two options for displaying game slips and two options for displaying in-store POP up to (
approx...) 22” x  28”.  One option must include industry Play Centers.  The second option can include acrylic holders and other display options. 

At start up, the Contractor will provision each retail location with game slips and game slip holders as determined by the Lottery.  The holders could include industry-type Play Centers. 

6.13.1 The Contractor will provide at start-up, one thousand five hundred (1500) Point of Sale in-store kits.  At minimum, the kits will include Powerball and Mega Million game slips, pencils featuring the Wyoming Lottery Logo, campaign (print) advertising materials and clerk polo-shirts.  The Lottery and Contractor will collaborate and determine other items deemed necessary.
6.13.2 The Contractor will provide any new retailer, beyond the start-up phase, with Point of Sale kits with the most current materials
6.14 RETAILER TERMINAL SECURITY


All ticket-selling devices must exhibit a high degree of security as a device in a location with public access.  The local operating system and applications must be “hardened” so that they cannot be co-opted for other usage besides lottery operations.  The terminal case must be resistant to disassembly except by an authorized service technician.


6.14.1
Embedded Operating System Security.  The Proposal must provide information regarding the security of this component.  Information must include when and how critical security vulnerabilities are identified and addressed.


6.14.2
Secure Transmissions.  All data communications from all ticket-selling devices to the central gaming host systems must be encrypted. Encryption mechanisms are required and must be approved by the Lottery and any multi-jurisdictional association of which the Lottery is a member.  


6.14.3
Compliance with Security Requirements.  Terminal communications must be compliant with all security requirements related to encryption and hardware authentication accepted as operating principles by the Lottery or promulgated by any multi-jurisdictional game organization of which the Lottery may be a member.


6.14.4
Protection Against Unauthorized Access or Service Disruption. The Contractor will ensure that terminal operating systems are not vulnerable to unauthorized access.  The Proposal must specify the methods by which these systems will be protected.
Response Note:  The Proposal must provide any additional information on any other terminal security components and controls that will be implemented.  These issues must be addressed for all retailer terminal types proposed.
6.15 COMMUNICATION NETWORK
The Proposer must propose its solution and design for a telecommunications network to serve the Lottery.  The Contractor will be responsible for seeing that the design is implemented and operated in compliance with RFP specifications, including the responsibility for network management.  The design must cover at a minimum:

6.15.1
Retailer Network.  Primarily the design must provide end-to-end connectivity from retailer to the data center.  Proposer will describe in the Proposal how connectivity will be solved.
6.15.2
Logging Transactions.  The Proposer will describe how transactions will be logged in the primary, backup and tertiary systems.

6.15.3
Games Management Network.  The Proposer will describe how connections for games administration will be address. The design should include new games that enter and exit QA and Disaster Recovery.
6.15.4
LAN / WAN.  Proposer shall describe its uses for local and wide area networks (LAN / WAN).

Response Note:   If multiple network technologies are employed in the design, the Proposal must make clear the anticipated distribution of different technologies across the retailer population.  All Proposer provided configuration items, that is, those not within a carrier “cloud” must be identified by manufacturer and model number.
6.16 RETAILER IN-STORE INSTALLATION
The Contractor will be responsible for all in-store communications, wiring and installation of Lottery equipment.  This could include inside wiring of telecommunications and electrical.  There may be other connections also required depending on the Proposer’s design and all of which will be the Contractor’s responsibility with ‘zero’ retailer fee.  
Invited Option:  The Proposer may provide a solution for an Instant Ticket Warehouse that would include services for order support, distribution, inventory management and operations.  The Proposer would also include a price proposal for this option.
6.17 NETWORK DESIGN FEATURES
Communication facilities must be designed with monitoring, redundancy, diversity and security features to reduce the possibility that a disruption could impact the network and the Gaming System.


6.17.1
Fault Tolerance.  The Proposal must contain an analysis of the proposed configuration with regard to single points of failure, major points of failure afflicting a large portion of the network, and bottlenecks (i.e., these could include single telephone company central offices; trunk circuits, satellites, etc.).  It is required that the network exhibit redundancy and diversity that demonstrates no single point of failure capable of removing service from the retailer network.  


6.17.2
Fault Notification.  The host processor, front-end processor, retailer terminal and /or, diagnostic equipment must be able to notify the network monitor or System monitor of significant transmission failures or outages soon after occurrence.


6.17.3
Secure External Transmission.  All data communications external to secured facilities must be encrypted.  All data must be encrypted from point of transmission to point of receipt, including any data transmitted directly from the gaming central systems to the remote backup system, to Lottery regional offices and other remote locations.  Protected information includes but is not limited to plays, validations, security codes, reports and downloaded software.  Commercially available encryption mechanisms such as Triple Data Encryption (DES) and Advanced Encryption Standard (AES) are required and must be approved by the Lottery and any multi-jurisdictional associations of which the Lottery may be a member.

6.17.4
Protocol for Incomplete Transactions.  On incomplete or unresolved transactions between the host systems and the retailer terminals there must be mechanisms for reconciliation.  These must include retries, logging for reporting and error messages to the retailer, System operators and Lottery.


6.17.5
Non-Responding or Failing Terminals.  If the System finds a terminal that is not responding within a set number of re-tries or within a reasonable time window, the terminal shall be logged as not responding.  The System shall make allowance for servicing of all other terminals on the network between re-tries of the terminal not responding.  Failing terminals shall not preclude communication with other terminals.  Non-responsive / failing terminals shall be apparent to a network monitoring application.


6.17.6
Communication Outages.  In the event of a communications disruption between the System and the any terminal, the System shall continue to attempt to service the terminal until the problem is resolved or the System is shut down for end-of-day processing.


6.17.7
Commercially Available Communications Protocols.  To enhance the “open systems” aspect of the System and to introduce changes and improvements it is required that communication protocol be IP (Internet Protocol) for communications between the retailer terminals and the host systems.

6.17.8
Address Scalability.  The network design must readily accommodate expansion in the terminal base by having additional IP addresses reserved.  The design must permit multiple IP addresses at a retailer site.


6.17.9
Connection to Systems and Networks Not Dedicated / Private.  Any connection made between the System that processes game transactions and any other system or network that is not private and/or dedicated to the Wyoming Lottery gaming transaction processing (such as the Lottery administrative system and the Contractor’s administrative support system and development / QA system) must be effected through devices that detect, block or filter out unnecessary and unauthorized traffic.  Traffic must be supported only from authorized nodes.  Software transfers must be secured.

6.17.10
Network Device Access.  All systems and users requiring access for any purpose to the network devices utilized in supporting gaming operations must be approved by the Lottery.  Network devices must support controls and procedures that allow the Lottery to audit related network device access.  Unused ports must be logically and / or physically secured when not in use.

6.17.11
Principle of Least Privilege.  All networks related to gaming operations must be designed with “Least Privilege” in mind.  Network access controls must be utilized to allow only the required network services needed by specific hosts or networks to be routed.


6.17.12
Retailer Bandwidth.  The Lottery anticipates a high bandwidth retailer network that will support rapid software and data downloads as well as transaction processing.  There must be adequate aggregate bandwidth at all points in the network so that retailers can typically obtain the nominal bandwidth.  Although different communications media may have different bandwidth properties, each type must have adequate bandwidth such that no subset of retailers is unable to receive services available to the remainder of the network.

Response Note:  The Proposer must identify the up-and–down bandwidth provided to retailer terminals by each communications medium proposed. 
6.18 ROBUST SECURITY.  Network security shall be given a high priority.  The acceptability of all network security controls will be subject to Lottery approval.

Response Note:  The Proposal must provide any additional information on network security components and controls including firewall and intrusion detection, system protection, network access controls, network device hardening, login and password controls, network device log management, etc.

6.19 NETWORK ADMINISTRATION SERVICES
The Contractor will be responsible for network monitoring and management.  Network administration services must include:


6.19.1
Provisioning.  Under the Contract the Lottery or the Contractor may identify new functionality needed, enhancements, changes and deletions.  Once identified, the Contractor will provide the actions necessary to perform the desired work.


6.19.2
Configuration Management:  Configuration changes and asset records must be managed.  This includes an inventory of Lottery network resources and their operating parameters.  Change control procedures and on-line storage of network component configuration files are required.


6.19.3
Carrier Interface.  The Contractor must interface with the communication carriers, the retailers and the Lottery to install, correct and improve service delivery.  The Contractor will be responsible for working communication problems to resolution through the common carriers / external supplies.

Response Note:  The Proposal must describe the Proposer’s plan for ‘carrier interface’  including procedures to resolve escalated issues with carriers.
6.20
NETWORK MONITORING AND FAULT RESOLUTION


6.20.1
Network Monitoring System.  Communication testing and monitoring capabilities must be available at both the primary and backup data centers.  Network monitoring tools must be able to interface and analyze protocols, view transactions data for analysis, and create visual and / or audible alarms to provide warning of problems.  The capability must be included to determine whether a failure has occurred in the equipment at the central or remote backup sites; within the wide area communications network, or, at the retailer terminal level.


6.20.2
Network Event Recording.  Communications test and monitor equipment must have recording and recall/reporting capability.  The standards for the types of events recorded, sensitivity levels, and the period of retention will be developed jointly with the Lottery.


6.20.3
Network Monitoring Protocols.  It is required that network monitoring tools and the network devices provided by the Contractor, employ a standard protocol to facilitate monitoring all along the communications path and to extend this capability to new network devices readily available should they be introduced.


6.20.4
Communications Expertise.  Communication technicians trained in the use of test and monitor equipment must be present at the Primary Data Center whenever the Lottery Gaming System is operational and whenever the Wyoming Lottery CEO or Gaming Operations Officer requests that such support for test purposes be available.


6.20.5
Hotline / Retailer Services Monitoring of Retailer Network.  Besides the Contractor providing the Hotline/Retailer Services resources, Hotline equipment must provide a display of terminal status’ allowing the operator to view the terminal conditions. 
6.21    SOFTWARE CONTROLS AND DATA MANAGEMENT
Gaming Software Security and Control Features and Functions.  In addition to selling and cashing tickets, the System must provide particular features and functions to meet security and efficiency requirements.

6.21.1
Logging.  All game processing activities are to be recorded immediately on electronic media on multiple hosts.  Such game processing activities at a minimum include sales, cancels, cashes, validation attempts and other play-related transactions, any other retailer terminal commands, error conditions, operating system entries, job console entries and any changes using the games management applications.  Requirements shall include, but are not limited to:


6.21.1.1
Backup and recovery shall be supported using log files, if necessary for processing.


6.21.1.2
The gaming system, including outages and recovery events, shall be auditable and checked for appropriate usage and freedom from error.  There must be a strict relationship between tickets printed, tickets registered in the log files and ticket transactions forwarded to the ICS.


6.21.1.3
Authorized Lottery personnel shall be able to research transactions and operations when required.  The transaction log shall include detailed records of sales, validations, canceled draw tickets, rejected validation inquiries, terminal outages, system events (i.e., takeovers by the backup system), etc.  Reports on transaction log entries must allow standard queries and sorts.


6.21.1.4
The transaction logging process includes periodic checkpoints including significant totals (counts and amounts) for all games.


6.21.1.5
The Lottery requires a near real-time feed of the transactions to the Internal Control System (ICS).  The near real-time feed shall include periodic checkpoints to ensure that the ICS file is complete at that time.  In addition, the Contractor must be able to provide audit files to the Lottery within five (5) minutes following the close of sales for any game and prior to the drawing for that game.  A final audit file for the day must be available to the Lottery immediately after close of the Lottery Gaming System each day.


6.21.1.6
The Contractor shall provide the Lottery with any software necessary to interpret or decrypt any proprietary or unique ICS (audit) record formats.

6.21.2
Unique Transaction Number.  The serial number assignment method used by the Proposer must account for the fact that transactions resulting from unclaimed winners and possible other causes may reside for extended periods in the System.  It is required that the ticket serial numbers be unique over the term of the contract.

6.21.3
Transactions Protected.  The System must ensure that transactions cannot be tampered with, including but not limited to the log files and validation files.  The Lottery reserves the right to review any and/or all System narratives, source program listings and operational procedures to ensure data and System integrity.

6.21.4
Tickets Not Duplicated.  Tickets must not be able to be duplicated on terminal equipment.

6.21.5
Liability Levels.  When and if applicable, the Lottery shall be alerted immediately when sales of a number in a fixed payout game reach a warning level, and then reach a specified liability level.  The System, through a games management application, must provide a payoff figure and a payoff liability, whenever requested by the Lottery.  The System shall automatically suspend sales of any number when the liability limit is reached, although, the Lottery shall have the ability to override the suspension.

6.21.6
Operator Console Records.  All operator commands executed by the System and any System warnings or problem messages shall be placed on a non-volatile medium (write once).  This log must be provided on magnetic media or as an electronically transmitted file to the Lottery which the Lottery may at its option, process and review for auditing purposes.

6.21.7
Retailer Spoofing. The System must ensure integrity wherein no action, either by external agents or insiders, can permit duplicate or unauthorized terminals to be established.  In all cases correct terminal identification must be ensured.
6.21.8
One-Time Cashing.  A winning ticket must not be able to be cashed more than once.

6.21.9
Software Checksums.  Checksums are required for executable programs on the gaming host systems, front-end processors, network equipment, administrative systems and retailer terminals for auditing purposes.  This requirement applies also to the development and quality assurance systems.  Checksum information will be provided to the Lottery upon request.  The Contractor must maintain control of software distribution such that systems and terminals are not able, inadvertently, to run inappropriate versions of the software.

6.21.10
Transaction Storage Redundancy.   Every transaction of the terminals must be received in at least three (3) systems before authorization to print a ticket, including the gaming transaction system handling the transaction, a local backup transaction system capable of recovering for a failure of the host processing the transaction and a remote back-up transaction processing host. 

6.21.11
Game Monitoring.  Real-time monitoring of gaming transaction traffic and system utilization must be provided.  The Contractor must maintain these tools to correspond with the latest gaming system changes and with industry-available improvements.  The Lottery shall receive immediate notification of abnormal System operations and their causes, such as validation problems, slow communications, computer downtime, etc.

6.21.12
Transaction Simulation.  A transaction simulator program shall be supplied by the Contractor to generate all types of transaction (terminal and System) in optional percentages for use in testing software quality and performance and System fault tolerance.  The program must accommodate simulated instant and draw game ticket validations against a validation file as part of the transaction mix.  
6.21.13
Secure On-Site and Off-Site Storage.  The Contractor must provide secure on-site and off-site storage of critical files, software and backup data, subject to approval of the Lottery.
6.21.14
Restoral of Files and Configurations.  The Contractor must use operational practices through report balancing and reconciliation to ensure that current data files and archived back-up copies are valid.  This is particularly important for validation and future play(s) files where recovery by reprocessing large volumes of aged transactions may be impractical.  The Contractor must also maintain configuration management files that allow System configurations to be restored. 

6.21.15
Dynamic Pools.  For all matrix-type games, the Contractor must maintain dynamic pools for the current draw, and dollar summaries for all plays for all future draws on sale.  The Contractor must also maintain dynamic pools for the current draw and future draws for the number-type games.  The total dollars played by game by play type must be maintained for all future draws.  The current days’ pools must include all current day’s sales as well as advance day sales for that draw.
6.21.16
Ticket Stock Tracking and Security.  The Contractor is responsible for ticket stock production, storage and deliveries to retailers, tracking of, and sufficient quantities of ticket stock.  Each roll of ticket stock must be specifically assigned to the retailer receiving the stock.
  
Ticket stock tracking shall permit returns, re-issues and destruction by authorized personnel. The ticket stock tracking information shall be delivered to the Lottery on-demand and provided (only) to authorized personnel.  

Proposers who have retailer ticket stock tracking capabilities should respond as such.  The Contractor must provide any hardware/software necessary to store, maintain, inquire or interpret ticket stock information.

Lottery, or a Lottery Representative (auditor) may audit ticket stock procedures to ensure compliance with MUSL or other regulatory affiliates. 

6.21.17
Dual Security System.  The retailer terminal must generate a unique number, aside from the System-logged transaction serial number that can be used to link winning tickets to specific selling terminals.  This “dual security” approach must be acceptable to any multi-jurisdictional associations of which the Wyoming Lottery is participating.  This application must be under the physical and operational control of Lottery Security/Compliance.  The Contractor must provide any hardware/software necessary for the Lottery to decrypt dual security numbers.  The methodology must avoid retailers having to save sign-on slips or other materials and must preclude Contractor staff from decrypting the dual security number.  The use of public key encryption techniques is required.

6.21.18
Anomalous Condition Reporting.  The System must be capable of displaying and reporting anomalous conditions that may indicate operational problems or attempts at fraud.  This capability must include, but is not limited to the following:

6.21.18.1
Excessive login attempts


6.21.18.2 
Retailer “fishing” reports (multiple attempts to cash instant tickets with numerous failures.


6.21.18.3
Instant ticket cash attempts greater than 365 days old


6.21.18.4
Draw game cash attempts greater than 365 days old


6.21.18.5
Attempts to cash missing or stolen tickets


6.21.18.6
Excessive Cancels and Plays


6.21.18.7
Systemic events such as ‘no sales’ for a game scheduled to be operational


6.21.18.8
Investigational Information.  The Contractor and the System must provide the Lottery’s Security personnel with various reports and displays to support investigations as needed.


The Contractor must provide at a minimum, a daily report to the Lottery that records these events.

6.21.19
Incomplete Transaction Protocol.  On incomplete or unresolved transactions between the host systems and the retailer terminals, there must be mechanisms for reconciliation.  These may include retries, logging for reporting and error messages to the retailer, System operators and Lottery.
6.21.20
Invited Option. Instant Ticket Information Protection.  Instant ticket information and validation data must be protected from unauthorized access during the period beginning with ticket manufacturing, through the period where tickets are being distributed, sold, validated and ending when the game is no longer active (unavailable to the public).

6.22
APPLICATION AND DATABASE SECURITY
Application security controls are another critical component of the Contractor’s role in ensuring the integrity of the System.  The following security requirements apply:


6.22.1
Authentication, Authorization and Access Controls.   The Proposal must clearly identify and specify controls, including, but not limited to, user authentication, authorization and access controls for applications (including database applications).

6.22.2
Audit Trail.  All games management application login attempts, whether successful or not, must be logged.  Log entries must reference identifiers such as the time, date, IP address and login success status.  



All transactions from the management application representing modifications to the System, such as, game control parameters and winning numbers entry, must be logged and protected by verification steps.  The application must provide display and reporting tools for the Lottery to verify the events recorded in the audit trail.


6.22.3
Principle of Least Privilege.  All applications and databases must be designed to support only the processes and user access required to provide the intended application functions.  Application and database users must be granted access only to the application and database functions and data elements needed to perform their job functions.  


6.22.4
Compliance with Security Requirements.  All applications must be compliant with any application security requirement promulgated by any multi-jurisdictional game organization by which the Lottery is a member.


6.22.5
Protection Against Application Compromise or Service Disruption.  The Proposal must provide information on the mechanisms by the Contractor to validate developed code to ensure applications are not vulnerable to Trojan horse attacks, denial of service attacks, or similar security threats.

6.23
DRAW GAME / DRAWING CONTROLS

6.23.1
Automatic Close.  At a specified time before the drawing, the System shall automatically ‘close’ a game without operator intervention.


6.23.2
Transactions at Close.  The System must maintain control of transactions underway at close time so that all transactions before the game close transaction apply to the forthcoming drawing and all transactions after the game close transaction apply to the subsequent drawing.


6.23.3
Drawing Information.  At game cut-off and for any game, the system must display within the games management application the following information for the game:



A. Time of Day



B.  Net game pool (sales minus cancellations)



C.  Hash total of plays (including cancels)



D.  Pool Status



E.  Draw Identifier


6.23.4
Manual Winning Number Entry.  Dual manual entry of drawn winning numbers, prize and jackpot amounts must be supported.  All attempts, successful or not, must be logged.


6.23.5
Suspend Sales After Last Drawing.  The System must provide the option to suspend sales of a game for the remainder of the sales day, after the last drawing of the day.  This feature could, for example, support a game matrix change to take place.


6.23.6
Closing, Drawing and Cashing Time Window.  The Contractor and the Lottery will determine how the System shall comply with the time window requirements for closing games, conducting game drawings, entry of winning numbers and readiness to pay winning tickets.  Unless otherwise agreed upon, payout validations must be available within ten (10) minutes after official drawing results.  


6.23.7
Roll to Next Day after a Problematic Drawing.  The System shall allow the Lottery to resume ticket sales and operations for retailers and customers for future sales without necessarily finalizing and declaring ‘official’ the previous drawing for that game.

6.24
GAMES MANAGEMENT APPLICATION


The Lottery requires staff access to the Contractor’s games management applications for performing functions such as, oversight to licensing retailers, oversight to configured game settings, oversight to retailer terminal configuration, performing retailer accounting functions, sending messages to retailer terminals, accessing management and retailer reports. 

6.25 GAMES MANAGEMENT APPLICATION ACCESS


The Lottery shall have access to the games management application from various locations including workstations on the Lottery’s internal LAN at Lottery Headquarters and remote home offices.  In addition, remote staff must be capable of performing certain functions via internet access.  The Contractor shall provide access to the games management application through a web browser based system.  It is preferred that the access not require the installation of special client software.

6.26 GAMES MANAGEMENT APPLICATION FEATURES AND CAPABILITIES


The System shall provide a range of features and capabilities that taken together, accomplish all tasks to manage and control the draw and instant game products.  The features and capabilities include, but are not limited to, the following list.

6.26.1 Management Reports.  The games management application must be capable of producing a variety of reports.  The Lottery will determine final specifications of the reports needed with the Contractor.  
Response Note:  Proposers will provide a list and sample of reports for Lottery consideration with their Proposal.
6.26.2
Retailer Terminal Management.  Authorized games management application users must have the ability to enable and disable any retailer terminal, partially or fully.  Actions taken toward retailer management must be effective immediately and must create an audit trail of the changes made, the date of the change and the user who made the change to the retailer terminal record.

6.26.3
Retailer Disablement Codes.  The games management application must support a coding schema for differentiating various retailer “disabling” reasons.  For example, if a retailer is disabled for a collection-related problem; or an EFT issue, etc.  The coding schema must be able to accommodate up to twenty-five (25) total disablement conditions with up to five (5) concurrently (i.e., if a retailer has multiple reasons for disablement).  The system must be capable of reporting a retailer’s history of disablement conditions.

6.26.4
Dual Entry.   The games management application must provide the ability to enter critical data, such as pay authorizations, through two (2) different application user sessions whose results are verified to the same before allowing the process to continue.  All attempts, whether successful or not, must be logged.
6.26.5
Game Control.  The games management application must support the ability for an authorized user to shut-off and resume sales and validations on each game independently.

6.26.6
Retailer Message Groups.  The games management application must support the ability for an authorized user to send communication messages to a specific retailer, retailer groups or all retailers.  This same functionality must support “Amber Alerts” to all retailers.


Retailer groups could include but is not limited to, retailers of the same LSIC (i.e., business channel – Convenience Stores), same zip code, corporate account, etc.

Response Note:  The Proposal shall describe how the application allows retailer groups to be designated for message distribution.
6.26.7
Message Size.  Retailer information messages up to five hundred (500) characters shall be supported.

6.26.8
Immediate and Deferrable Messages.  The games management application must support the ability for an authorized user to define any retailer message as immediate or deferrable.  A deferred message means the retailer terminal is notified to take a specific message within a certain time.

6.26.9
Ticket Messaging.  The games management application must support the ability for an authorized user to create and send messages to be printed in specific ‘ticket message’ space (i.e., Amber Alert, Jackpot Amounts, or other data).

6.26.10
Game Monitoring.  Authorized games management application users must have the ability to observe real-time statistics on the operation of the System by game, retailer or group of retailers.

6.26.11
Retailer Accounting Support.  The Lottery requires the ability for authorized games management users to request, process, print, email or post on a secure web site, retailer sales information.


The Lottery requires a Data Warehouse for storage of raw data.  This data would be used by Lottery analysts, CFO or other Lottery authorized users, to produce ad-hoc reports.  The Lottery will require a Data Dictionary and any licenses needed to export the data efficiently.
6.27 Invited Option:  PRODUCT TRANSACTION SUPPORT
The Lottery will not launch with the sales of instant tickets.  However, Proposers are invited to provide in the proposal a strategy for System support of this product and include information on barcoding, security, distribution, warehousing, pack deliveries, pack returns, instant ticket activations, validations, settlements, retailer reporting, lottery reporting, instant ticket accounting, inventory management, etc.

Proposers are invited to provide a methodology for managing Instant Products and this could include, telemarketing services or the like.  

Proposers are encouraged to share their expertise in managing Instant Products and particularly, their vision for managing the product at the Macro-level. 

6.28 RETAILER ACCOUNT CREATION AND MANAGEMENT
The Lottery requires the Successful Proposer to provide a Retailer Management System that allows for the tracking of a retailer ‘status’ from cold-calling to contracting.  The Lottery will administer licensing and provide retailer oversight pertaining to compliance issues, however, the Successful Proposer will manage all retailer relationships from cold-calling, through the contracting process (communications) and once the retailer signs the Wyoming Lottery Retailer Contract.   All communications, form tracking, and other activities shall be tracked through an application provided by the Contractor.  Required functionality associated with the retailer management application interface includes, but is not limited to:

6.28.1 Retailer Data.  The System must support a comprehensive retailer database that allows for the entry, storage and reporting of the following:

· Retailer business name

· Business owner

· Business Type

· Hours of operation

· Billing Information

· Tax ID

· Retailer Status

· Retailer Relationship (corporate with additional locations)

· SIC / Geo Codes

· Retailer key Personnel

· Retailer configuration (Lottery equipment placed and games sold at the location)

· Retailer Event – section for note taking by date

· Retailer Audit / Compliance Tracking

· Retailer Activity – documenting site visits by Lottery or Contractor personnel

· Retailer applicant licensing (tracking)

6.28.2 At termination of Contract, the Contractor will provide licenses and any other related evidence, data or information pertaining to this application over to the Lottery.

6.29 RETAILER ACCOUNTING
The System must provide an application for the accounting of sales commission, validation commissions, and any other forms of retailer compensation.  The Lottery as well as the Contractor will be users of this application.
6.30 CLAIMS VALIDATION

The System must provide a robust mechanism to validate winning tickets.  The System must be capable of validating winning tickets by means of a terminal reader and by manual entry.

6.30.1
The System must validate winning tickets presented within a validation period as determined by the Lottery.  

6.30.2
Winning tickets must be validated with a clerk facing display stating “Pay” and the amount of the payout.  All winning amounts must be displayed on the Player Facing Display.  The terminal should have an audible sound when the validation occurs alerting the clerk and player that the ticket is a ‘winning ticket’.


If the winning ticket is over $599, the winning amount and the message ‘Claim at Lottery’ will display.  Other specific language will be provided by Lottery during the implementation phase.

6.30.3
When cashing a multi-draw ticket prior to the last draw on the ticket, an exchange ticket for the balance of the plays must be automatically printed.  The exchange ticket must have a distinct serial number from the original ticket but the System must be capable of relating the two.

6.30.4
The System must retain cashed winning ticket information in the system for 365 days and the Contractor must provide a solution for preserving and accessing winning data information for longer (as defined by the Lottery). 
6.30.5
The System must be able to turn-off Cashing at the terminal for a specific game and specific draw.

6.30.6 
The System must provide the Lottery with a daily validation file for all of the games the Lottery sells at start-up and beyond.   This information will be used to generate winner checks and IRS filings as necessary.

6.31
SALES REPORTING TOOL SET

6.31.1
The Contractor must provide software tools for accessing, reporting and downloading information for the purpose of ad-hoc reporting from any System or peripheral System that retains Lottery, retailer or gaming related information.  

6.31.1.1
The database must contain sales history by game for the term of the contract and all other data available from archives. 

6.31.1.2 
Reports generated by the System must be exportable to Excel and other common data formats.
6.31.1.3
The Contractor shall provide to Lottery software tools that allow for the mining of data against the data warehouse for the purpose of ad hoc reporting and analysis.

6.31.1.4
The Contractor shall maintain all licenses provided to the Lottery and ensure that all software versions are no more than 6 months old.  

6.31.1.5
The Contractor shall provide the Lottery will all updated versions within 3 months of version release.

6.31.1.6
At termination of the Contract, the Contractor is required to provide the Lottery with a full copy of the data warehouse / data, database table descriptions, documentation, and existing reports logic developed by the contractor or developed by the Lottery and stored on the software.  This methodology extends to the Retailer Management System and any other reporting and tracking tool. 
6.32
SYSTEM INTERFACES
   The System must interface with several applications in the Lottery’s environment.  

6.32.1
The Contractor shall provide dashboard software so that authorized Lottery users have access to the Games Management Applications and other applications defined by their authorization level. 

6.32.2
NASPL & MUSL.  The Contractor shall support any future industry initiatives in which the Lottery participates.

6.33
LOTTERY SUPPORT


The Contractor shall provide technical support, training and assistance to Lottery with regard to any application, software or hardware it provides to the Lottery for the life of the contract.

6.34 INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM (ICS)


The Contractor shall provide the Lottery with an ICS through a qualified third party.  The Contractor shall provide the ICS and this includes all hardware, software, maintenance and continuing support from the ICS subcontractor for the term of the contract. 


The ICS must be provided by an independent, third party subcontractor and is subject to Lottery’s approval. 

The Proposer must provide evidence that the ICS subcontractor is experienced and qualified in providing an ICS to lotteries of similar size and scope.

6.34.1
Reports generated by the ICS must be organized and formatted like the related gaming system reports for efficient review and balancing.
6.34.2
ICS Operations by the Lottery.  The Contractor and the selected Subcontractor shall provide ICS operating instructions and training to the Lottery.  Both the Contractor and the Subcontractor must be at Lottery Headquarters for the first three Powerball and Mega Millions drawings.

6.34.3
The Lottery will conduct all daily operations in support of the ICS systems.

6.35
LOTTERY FIELD OPERATIONS, SOFTWARE SUPPORT AND GAMES MANAGEMENT

6.35.1
The Contractor shall provide (employ) corporate sales representatives, field merchandising representatives, field technicians and retailer trainers.  All Contractor employees must pass Lottery’s background investigations prior to hire.  
6.35.2
Lottery shall have final approval of all Contractor position descriptions for the positions described above.

6.35.3
The Contractor shall develop and the Lottery shall have final approval of work flow methodology between field staff and Lottery.

Response Note:  Proposers shall provide in the proposal their strategy for managing field operations, including their methodology for managing resources throughout the state. 
6.35.4
The Contractor shall meet quarterly with Lottery Officers to discuss the state of the market, game sales, product opportunities, sales strategies, promotions and other business and product related strategies.


6.35.4.1
Lottery shall determine its participation and Contractor will welcome Lottery in any and all meetings with prospective retailers and Corporate entities.



6.35.4.2
Lottery and Contractor will strategize, plan, collaborate and agree on field strategies.  


6.34.4.3
Contractor shall provide to Lottery retailer prospects for contracting.  Lottery will be responsible for approving retailer contracts.


6.35.4.4
Contractor shall be responsible for the day-to-day management of field operations to include, but is not limited to, merchandising retailer accounts with game slips, POP, equipment maintenance, service calls, training of retailers and clerks and other duties as determined by the Lottery.


6.35.4.5
Contractor shall provide an annual review of the industry, identifying new games, new gaming technologies, sales trends, and public policy developments.  The Contractor shall also identify its own new developments, capabilities and directions relevant to supporting the Lottery.

Response Note:  The Proposal must contain a brief description of the Proposer’s gaming Research & Development (R&D) program.



The Contractor will be expected to propose product and promotional releases and System changes for Lottery consideration.

6.36
RESEARCH.  The Contractor must collaborate with Lottery and provide Wyoming specific marketing surveys and focus group research twice annually.  The Contractor may choose to offer services provided by staff or by subcontractors of a private marketing research firm.


Services shall include various forms of market studies, such as testing potential games with focus groups, secret shoppers, market research for propensity to play, player demographics and the like.

Contractor may take advantage of the terminal reader for collecting research data.

6.37 GAMING CONCEPTS, DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT

The availability of new gaming products and product ideas is critical to the Lottery.  The Contractor is expected to have a continuous program of research and development into gaming concepts and products.

6.37.1
The Wyoming Lottery Corporation will begin market sales with two specific products, Powerball and Mega Millions.  

6.37.2
The Contractor shall provide at no cost to the Lottery, Lottery approved game slips for these two games.

6.37.3
Additional Games and Play Types from the Contractor.  The Lottery reserves the right to add games, game features, play types and promotions for start-up, or at any time over the life of the contract.  Emerging game types must be available to the Lottery.


Response Note:  The Proposal shall address the depth and breadth of the Proposer’s game library.  The Proposal must describe the Proposer’s ability to expand beyond traditional games and play options.
6.37.4
Association-Based Games.  The Contractor must support games from any multi-jurisdiction associations with which the Lottery may become affiliated. 
6.37.5
Third Party or External Games.  The Lottery may identify games or game concepts not from the Contractor’s library that the Lottery determines could be productive in Wyoming.  The Contractor is obligated to provide its best effort to implement a version or variation of such a game, or, if need be, acquire the right and /or software and any other mechanisms on behalf of the Lottery to implement such game.  Additional licensing or brand costs would be subject to negotiation.

6.38
PROMOTIONAL FEATURES

The System must be capable of providing a broad range of promotional features.  The System must include a promotions generator or module capable of allowing for promotional configurations through a Dashboard, games management application.  Promotions required, at minimum are as follows:

· Every Nth ticket – example:  the ability to provide a coupon or additional ticket to every 80th ticket generated

· Bonus Draw – Drawing of more than one (1) winning number (set of winning numbers) 
· Bonus Payoff – A specified increase in the payoff for a specified winning play

· Drawing Events – Varying the number of drawings per game per week and/or the days that the drawings are conducted (add a drawing)

· Specific Promotions for Corporate / Independent Retailers – Allow for a Buy One Get One promotion at specified retailer account
· Second Chance Drawing

· Free Play

· Cross Promotions

· Coupons attached to Game Slips 

Response Note:  The Proposal shall address and provide detail of the types of Promotions provided by the Proposers System capabilities.
6.39 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT TERMINALS

The Contractor shall provide and maintain five (5) emergency management terminals (personal computers).  The purpose of these terminals is to provide a fail-safe method of accessing all gaming data necessary to continue normal lottery operations in the event that normal modes of communications are disrupted.

The Contractor shall be 100% responsible for all hardware, software, connectivity, maintenance and support of these terminals to assure the terminals remain operable.  These terminals must be available for use at all times during gaming hours and for the duration of all pool closing.

Two (2) PC shall be located at Lottery Headquarters and the remaining PC’s shall be located at the Primary and Backup System locations and one at the Business Continuity Site (agreed upon by the Contractor and Lottery).  The Contractor shall also provide three (3) printers capable of printing at least 35PPm in black and white.  One of these printers will be located at the Business Continuity Site and the remaining two printers at the Primary and Backup System location sites.

6.39.1
Contractor Facilities and Disaster Recovery Plan.  The Contractor must support a Primary Data Center that is dedicated to the operation of the Wyoming Lottery; a remote Backup Data Center, warehouse space, Business Continuity Site which will also serve as Contractor District Office Space, permanent retailer training facility and any additional facilities as needed.


The Contractor shall develop a Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP) and submit the plan to the Lottery no later than 120 days, post Go-Live.  If the DRP does not meet CEO approval, the Contractor will collaborate with Lottery to ensure the DRP meets Lottery requirements.

6.39.2
The Primary Data Center, the Backup Data Center and the Tertiary Data Center are the only facilities that must be remote from each other.  All other required facilities may be co-located.  For example, the Primary Data Center could be located at the Contractor’s District office which also provides warehouse space, training space, Claims & Payment space, etc.

6.39.3
The Primary & Backup Data Center(s) Specifications.  The Contractor must provide a Primary Data Center in Wyoming and no more than ten (10) miles from Lottery Headquarters.  The Primary Data Center must be ready one hundred and twenty days prior to production start-up for Lottery acceptance testing.  The Contractor will be responsible for building-out the space provided and is subject to Lottery approval.
Response Note:  The Proposal shall contain specifications and a description for the Proposer’s ‘proposed’ space utilization and proposed locations.
6.39.3.1      Environment and Security at Primary Data Center.  The Contractor’s Primary Data Center must include appropriate safety, security and environmental controls equipment for a computer facility, as described below.  It must meet any security and lockdown specifications promulgated by any multi-jurisdiction affiliations the Lottery may join.


All construction and furnishings must comply with fire, safety, building and ADA codes.  Any upgrades, servicing or replacement required to maintain compliance with such codes shall be the Contractor’s obligation.

6.39.3.2
Emergency exit doors must be provided and must be equipped with alarms.

6.39.3.3
Locking devices must be installed on all doors or other entry points.

6.39.3.4
An electronic access system shall be installed at entrances to the computer room(s), media library and other secure areas.  The access list shall be authorized by the Lottery.

6.39.3.5
The Contractor must install and administer a digital CCTV system with enough camera capacity to monitor all gaming systems, game management activities, and sensitive facility areas as determined by Lottery Security.  Cameras must have tilt, pan, and zoom features.

6.39.3.6
The computer room(s) must be protected by an automatic fire extinguishing system based on FM-200 or another Lottery approved method.  The system shall be installed and maintained as specified by applicable National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) guidelines.  When triggered, the automatic fire extinguishing system shall be equipped with alarms that sound locally and at an off-site security center as well.

6.39.3.7
Construction shall support fire safety as noted in NFPA guidelines.  Computer room(s) with mission critical equipment must be separated from the other areas by non-combustible materials having at least one-hour fire resistance rating, and in addition:

· Walls must be extended from structural floor to structural floor (or roof) above

· Fire doors must be provided on all entrances into the computer room with a fire resistance rating at least equal to the wall in which the door is located.

· All penetrations through the computer room floor, wall or ceiling must be tightly sealed with material equivalent to existing floor, wall or ceiling construction to prevent passage of heat, smoke and water.

· Fire and smoke dampers must be provided in ducts that pass through the computer room walls, floor or ceiling.

6.39.3.8
An air conditioning system with humidity control must be provided for the computer room(s).  This system must be of sufficient capacity to maintain a stable environment within original computer equipment manufacturer specifications.  An air conditioning failure detection mechanism must be provided.  The air conditioning system(s) must be interlocked to shut down upon activation of the fire extinguishing system or the automatic system must compensation for loss of extinguishing agent through operation of the air conditioning systems.

6.39.3.9
Power-conditioning equipment shall be provided by the Contractor for the computer room(s) and shall provide an uninterruptible power system with both battery backup and electrical generator.  Should a utility power failure occur, the UPS must provide at least one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the capacity needed to sustain all hardware, environmental equipment, communication(s) equipment, fire protection equipment, alarm systems and necessary lighting to indefinitely conduct full capacity business.  


During the contract period, the generator must be exercised for extended periods on a Lottery-approved schedule and the generator must be maintained according to its manufacturer’s recommendations.

6.40
BACKUP DATA CENTER


6.40.1
The Contractor must outfit a remote Backup Data Center where gaming transactions are logged and processed.  The retailer network, the Primary Data Center, Lottery games management workstations, and the Lottery’s ICS must connect to this facility.  The Contractor will be responsible for the lease and build-out, including all building system infrastructure.


6.40.2
The remote Backup Data Center location (city) shall be identified in the Proposal and must be within the state of Wyoming and the location is subject to Lottery approval.  It is required that the Backup Data Center be separated from the Primary Data Center adequately so as to virtually preclude simultaneous loss due to the same disaster.


6.40.3
The remote Backup Data Center must be operated under the same safety and security requirements outlined in this RFP for the Primary Data Center.  If the Backup Data Center is in a facility that shares other business operations of the Contractor, then the Wyoming Lottery equipment must be physically separate and secure from all other Contractor operations and subject to the written approval of the Lottery.


6.40.4
The remote Backup Data Center need not be attended during all lottery business hours and may be a ‘lights out’ operation.  It must however rapidly support a failover if the Primary Data Center can no longer serve and is unable to manage a failover.

6.41
TERTIARY DATA CENTER

6.41.1
The Contractor must outfit a remote Tertiary Data Center where gaming transactions are logged and processed.  The retailer network, the Primary Data Center, Lottery games management workstations, and the Lottery’s ICS must connect to this facility.  The Contractor will be responsible for the lease and build-out, including all building system infrastructure.


6.41.2
The remote Tertiary Data Center location (city) shall be identified in the Proposal and does not need to be within the state of Wyoming. The location is subject to Lottery approval.  It is required that the Tertiary Data Center be separated from both the Primary and Backup Data Centers adequately so as to virtually preclude simultaneous loss due to the same disaster.


6.41.3
The remote Tertiary Data Center must be operated under the same safety and security requirements outlined in this RFP for the Primary Data Center.  If the Tertiary Data Center is in a facility that shares other business operations of the Contractor, then the Wyoming Lottery equipment must be physically separate and secure from all other Contractor operations and subject to the written approval of the Lottery.


6.41.4
The remote Tertiary Data Center need not be attended during all lottery business hours and may be a ‘lights out’ operation.  It must, however, rapidly support a failover if the Primary and Backup Data Centers can no longer serve and is unable to manage a failover.

6.42
BUSINESS CONTINUITY SITE, CONTRACTOR & LOTTERY DISTRICT OFFICE


The Proposer must provide space for the Lottery’s Business Continuity Site (BCS) that will also function as a Contractor’s / Lottery District Office under normal conditions.

6.42.1 Location.  The BCS / District Office must be located within Wyoming with the following criteria:

· Shall be separated from Lottery Headquarters so as to significantly reduce the risk of simultaneous loss of both Lottery Headquarters and the BCS due to localized disaster occurring at either site.

· Shall be located no further than approximately ten (10) miles from Lottery Headquarters.

At the Proposer’s option , the BCS/District Office can be co-located with the Proposer’s Primary Data Center, warehouse(s) or other location necessities (i.e., Retailer Training, etc.) proposed by the Proposer.


6.42.2
Requirements.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the design and build-out of the BCS / District Office site, including but not limited to, building infrastructure and systems, general contracting, architectural/engineering, construction, permits, township inspections, finishes, HVAC, plumbing, electrical, carpeting, painting, lighting, burglar and fire alarm systems, voice and data wiring installation, connectivity and testing.  The final design shall be subject to Lottery approval before implementation.


6.42.2.1
The BCS / District Office must house the Claims & Payments division.  This office must provide for and the structure must support the equipment and security necessary to manage the Claims & Payments process.



6.42.2.2
The BCS / District Office must house a small promotional 10’ x 12’ area for winner pictures and media interviews.



6.42.2.3
The BCS / District Office must house a small ‘interview’ room, approximately 10’ x 10’ for processing difficult claims.  Difficult claims could be winner claims subject to garnishment.



6.42.2.4
The Contractor will be responsible for all building supplies, furniture, phone system, LAN, telecommunications, work stations, wiring, security system and all necessary door hardware (electric strikes) and connectivity for the installation of an intrusion and card access security system.  




The Contractor shall be responsible for, and/or, provide utilities, taxes, building maintenance (including 24/7 emergency building maintenance response), trash removal, snow removal, landscaping and lawn maintenance, recycling, pest control, and sufficient parking.
6.42.3 Lottery Space and Layout.  The Contractor shall allot and dedicate a minimum of 1,500 square feet of office space for Lottery BCS staff.  The office layout shall be designed to accommodate three offices (for senior officers) and an open area that will accommodate modular office furnishings for Lottery staff.  

The space must include a conference room large enough to accommodate twelve (12) individuals.  The conference room can be shared space with the Contractor and it is not to be included in the 1,500 square feet of Lottery BCS allocation of space.  


The office layout shall accommodate a secure storage room, rest rooms and break room.  The rest rooms and the break room may be shared with the Contractor.  

6.42.3.1
The BCS Lottery dedicated space must be separate from the Contractor’s space.  An external entrance may be shared so long as the Lottery’s access cards will function.  Contractor staff shall have access to the BCS area only with permission from the Lottery.


6.42.3.2
Security Access System.  The BCS/ District Office must be protected by the same security system as Lottery Headquarters and will be monitored by Lottery.  The Contractor must provide a telecommunications circuit for carrying video monitor traffic to Security Operations in Lottery Headquarters. 

6.42.3.3
Security of Lottery Area.  To ensure physical security of the Lottery’s space, where walls are adjacent to a non-Lottery space, they must extend from structural floor to the structural ceiling (or roof) above.


6.42.3.4
Power for Lottery Configuration.  The Lottery’s equipment shall be supported by power conditioning equipment, HVAC, and an uninterruptible power supply and these resources may be shared.
6.43
Training Facilities.  For start-up and as a precursor to Go-Live, the Contractor must have training facilities around the state.  These facilities shall be temporary, such as hotel meeting rooms and must be approved by the Lottery.  Retailer training sites shall be within a sixty (60) mile radius of retailer locations to limit the driving distance for those attending a training class.  The Contractor may also provide retailer training at the retailer’s corporate headquarters or store sites.


The Contractor must provide handouts and/or materials on the correct use of retailer terminals and retailer procedures.  These materials must be approved by the Lottery, in advance, and are required for each retailer.  Such documentation, must contain, at minimum, information and instructions on changing ticket stock, how to conduct each type of transaction, obtaining and using the reports, hotline procedures, use of game slips, claims, accounting invoices, payment process, business rules, guidelines and retailer adjustments.  Such manuals shall be written in sixth grade reading level and feature a high level of visuals to achieve greater understanding.

The Contractor shall provide and furnish training terminals and peripherals, supplies, light refreshments and Go-Live polo shirts (or equivalent) that advertise the Wyoming Lottery.  


Post Go-Live, the Contractor shall update the training materials and any user and player documentation provided to retailers with each game or procedural change.  Prior to implementation, all updates must be approved by the Lottery.  Copies shall be supplied to the Lottery and to the retailers no less than two weeks prior to the start date of any new game, game change or procedural change.


Contractor shall be responsible for developing, delivering and seeking Lottery approval on training curriculum and materials.  Besides the operational aspects of the terminals, sales of our product and customer service, the training curriculum will also include specific retailer information associated with Lottery rules, contracting, integrity, honesty and security.  


The training manual must be approved by the Lottery and available in a PDF format for publishing on the Lottery’s web site.

Response Note:  Proposers shall describe the proposed training program in terms of materials, facilities, sessions and schedule.  The program description shall address the Proposer’s capability of providing for the specific training needs of top corporate accounts identified by the Proposer. 
Response Note:  Proposers must define how they plan to leverage the retailer training program to motivate retailers and clerks to support the Lottery.  

6.43.1
Subsequent to Go-Live, the Contractor shall provide a permanent training facility at the District Office (no further than ten [10] miles from Lottery Headquarters) and the facility must accommodate up to twenty (20) attendees.  


The Contractor shall provision the training facility with terminals, supplies and the necessary materials to accommodate the maximum number of attendees.  The attendees shall have access to restroom facilities and parking.   

Post Go-Live and within 48 hours of a retailer’s request, the Contractor shall provide on-site training to those retailers who need additional support.  
6.43.2
The District Office Training Room must be adequately sized (by all applicable building and occupancy codes) to accommodate twenty (20) trainee’s and up to two (2) trainers.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the design and build-out of the training room, including, but not limited to, interior finishing, carpeting, plumbing, lighting and electrical service.  The final design shall be subject to Lottery approval during implementation.
The Contractor shall provide building maintenance, security utilities, grounds care, pest control, sufficient parking and janitorial services.    The Contractor shall consider and plan for inclement weather ‘needs’ as well (i.e., high winds, heavy snow fall, etc.).
All construction and furnishings must comply with fire, safety, building, and ADA codes.  Any upgrades, servicing or replacement required to maintain compliance with such codes shall be the Contractors’ obligation.

The Contractor must equip the permanent training facility with fully functional retailer training terminals configured with the current release of software, which includes all updates.  The training facility must also include all other ticket-selling devices and peripherals delivered by Contractor.  

The facility must be equipped with audiovisual equipment designed for an educational environment.  In addition, the facility must be designed to encourage understanding as to how the terminals and other products will fit into and operate within a retailer environment.

The training facility shall reflect current marketing and advertising schemes (Point of Sale).

6.43.3
Retailer Consumables Supply.  The Contactor shall provide and deliver consumables to the retailers and remind the retailers during this activity that secure storage of consumables is a priority.  The consumables to be provided include:

· Game slips that can be processed by the terminal reader
· Secure ticket stock

· Any terminal supplies required to print tickets
· Pencils, brochures, and any other items designated for Play Centers or other Contractor solution provided by the Contractor to house these items

· Retailer manuals or reference cards for terminal operation

6.43.4
Consumables design and wording shall be subject to Lottery approval.

6.43.5
The Contractor shall be responsible for consumable(s) production, storage and delivery.

6.44
PERMANENT ACCEPTANCE TESTING FACILITY

The Primary Data Center shall include a permanent acceptance testing facility (not used for any other function) for use by the Lottery in confirming product releases.  It is not required that this facility be separate space within the Primary Data Center, but must be clustered in one area.


The Contractor must equip the permanent testing facility with ten (10) full function retailer terminals configured with the Lottery-designated release of software.   The testing facility must also include all other ticket-selling devices delivered by Contractor, including self-service terminals and peripherals.  At least one of each type of terminal and communications combination delivered to the field must be provided for testing.


The terminals must be equipped with the peripherals delivered to retailers in the field, including, but not limited to, jackpot and transaction displays, self-service validators and other peripherals as specified in this RFP and as delivered under this contract.

The testing facility must also have at least three (3) testing management terminals provided by the Contractor.  These and the testing terminals will be connected via data communications to the testing system(s) resident at the Primary Data Center.


The permanent testing facility shall be designed to incorporate all of the testing equipment and materials as well as workspace and desks for up to four (4) testers at a time.


The Contractor shall be responsible for maintenance of the equipment in the testing facility and all supplies to conduct acceptance testing.

6.45
WAREHOUSE REQUIREMENTS


The Contractor shall provide secure warehousing facilities throughout the State or as needed to facilitate the storage and distribution of all of the materials necessary to supply retailers.  Materials shall include, but is not limited to, marketing materials (point of sale), terminals, jackpot signs of various sizes, ticket stock, game slips, etc.


At a minimum, any warehouse or storage facility housing ticket stock or other items of value must be provisioned with 24 hour security (system), CCTV’s, intrusion detection, fire detection and suppression and access controls.  Security features must be approved by the Lottery.

The warehouse must be equipped with a loading dock and be capable of accepting bulk deliveries of supplies.  The Contractor shall be responsible for receiving shipments at the warehouse.  


The Contractor shall further maintain adequate supplies at each retailer location to prevent out-of-stock conditions from occurring.  The Contractor shall provide monthly inventory reporting by warehouse location and in a summary format to the Lottery.  The Lottery reserves the right to perform unannounced inspections, security and inventory audits to ensure compliance.


The Contractor shall indicate the number and general geographic area of warehouse facilities to be maintained throughout the State.
6.46
SERVICE CENTERS AND DEPOTS


The Contractor shall provide and operate maintenance centers and depots to fully support terminal maintenance, repairs, consumables warehousing, distribution and field teams.
6.46.1
Retailer Equipment Maintenance Program.  The Proposal shall describe the maintenance plan for the retailer terminals and associated equipment.  The term “terminal” shall include all attachments and peripherals, including the network interface provided by the Contractor.  The Contractor shall obtain replacement parts and services that are approved, recommended or recognized by the original equipment supplier.
6.46.2
Retailer Hotline Services.  The Contractor must operate at the Contractor’s expense a Hotline to support the retailers.  The Hotline must operate during all game operation hours which will be from 6 a.m. to 3 a.m., seven days per week.  Dispatches shall be limited to a nineteen (19) hour period from 6 a.m. to 12 a.m. assuming the retailer is open during that period.  The Hotline Operator function can be supported out-of-the-State.

6.46.2.1
Hotline Management.  The Proposer must describe how the Hotline Call Center will be staffed and managed to ensure timely, professional and accurate response to retailer calls.

6.46.2.2
Call System.  Telephone call management equipment must handle all incoming calls on toll-free circuits.  The voice capability must permit retailers to select Contractor or Lottery Services from a phone keypad menu, or voice recognition system and forward the call to the correct entity.  If all circuits are busy, a pre-recorded message must be played and the call must be queued.  Phone calls must be answered within one (1) minute unless there is an anomaly.  The Hotline System must also provide an interface to, or delivery of, a service ticket.
6.46.2.3
The Contractor’s call management system must also provide the following:

· Statistical information delivered to Lottery on all calls received and processed.  This information must be delivered to Lottery via a Dashboard or another reasonable method and readily accessible same day.  Information includes, but is not limited to, date, time, avg. calls holding, average answer time, number of calls waiting, and number of calls abandoned. 

· The system must have the ability to produce an ASCII formatted electronic file, which shall be required to interface with Lottery systems for normal and ad hoc informational reporting.

· All calls must be recorded.  A recording device must be provided to record all telephone conversations transacted on the Hotline Call Center circuits.  Recording of conversations must adhere to all applicable Federal, State and local laws.  The Contractor must provide the recording equipment and maintain recorded conversations for at least 30 days.  Conversation files must be transferable for Lottery review upon request.
· Language Line.  The Contractor is responsible for providing Language Line services should an operator need the service to assist a caller.

Response Note:  The Proposal must address the staffing and mechanisms employed to ensure that all calls are addressed within a reasonable timeframe.  The Proposer shall provide a reasonable service level agreement within their Proposal for Hotline Services.
6.46.3
Retailer Terminal Maintenance.  As well as repair or replacement of the terminal, its peripherals, or wide area network communication interface, the Contractor’s technicians will be required during any service call to routinely check the mechanical security, safety and general operation of any mechanisms or attachments provided or serviced by the Contractor.

6.46.4
Terminal Preventative Maintenance Schedule.  The Contractor and Lottery shall agree on a preventative maintenance (PM) schedule for the retailer terminals.  For the Proposal, the Proposer must propose a PM schedule, however, the schedule cannot exceed a one hundred eighty (180) day cycle.  In no case shall there be attempts to render PM services during retailers’ busiest periods. 

6.46.5
Terminal Parts.  The Contractor shall maintain an adequate supply of parts to sustain the service of terminals and peripherals that it has supplied and is required to maintain.

6.46.6
Terminal Repair and Maintenance Reporting.  At service events a log will be updated noting the maintenance activities. The log information shall be entered to a database accessible to the Lottery.  The Lottery shall have access from the games management application to generate reports from the retailer dispatch and repair data that indicate when services have occurred, what services have occurred and on an exception basis, when services have been untimely.

6.46.7
Contractor’s Maintenance System.  The Contractor must have a system for trouble tracking and maintenance management.   The system shall report and track terminal communications, network, and all other problems found, including where no actual problem was determined.  Data must be kept on all terminals, including those in reserve, at Lottery Headquarters, training terminals, and those returned to a depot for maintenance.  The system must record the criticality of events and provide reports accordingly.

6.46.8
Maintenance Information.  The Contractor is required to maintain ‘maintenance data’ for the Contract term, with at least twelve (12) months of data available (not archived).
6.47
SYSTEM DISASTER RECOVERY PLAN


The Contractor shall provide and annually update a disaster recovery and contingency plan for the data centers and its other sites designated in this Contract.  The plan must be delivered by the production start-up date.  The plan must also be updated when there is a material change made to the system that would affect the plan.


Such plan shall take into account disasters caused by weather, water, fire, environmental spills and accidents, malicious destruction, acts of terrorism and contingencies such as strikes, epidemics, etc.  The plan must ensure continuity of the System and the Lottery’s games.  Provision shall also be made for the safe, secure off-site storage of all scheduled backup data and programs.

The Contractor must provide contact information and detailed System recovery procedures and documentation and must coordinate with the Lottery’s production of its own disaster plan.  Should implementation of any portion of the disaster recovery and contingency plan become necessary, all costs associated with the plan shall be borne by the Contractor.

Response Note:  The Proposal must contain an outline for, or same of, such a disaster recovery plan.
6.48
CONTRACTOR CORPORATE INFRASTRUCTURE PROTECTION PLAN

The Contractor must also produce a disaster plan for its own additional facilities and capabilities necessary to support the Wyoming Lottery.  For example, the Contractor’s terminal manufacturing and central software development and support facilities are critical for the term of the Contract.  This protection plan shall be due at production start-up.

Response Note:  The Proposal must contain an outline for, or same of, such a disaster recovery plan.
6.49
STAFFING, SERVICES AND OPERATIONS SECURITY PLAN

The Contractor is required to provide the Lottery with a variety of staff and support services as described below.

6.49.1
Proposer Personnel.  The Proposer must provide information, as specified below that documents the organizational structure and staffing with which Lottery operations will be implemented and operated.  The Proposer must identify Substantial Subcontractor staff and consultants by name, where such are anticipated to be part of the implementation and ongoing operational support efforts.
Response Note:  The Proposal must clearly identify which individuals are the Proposer’s company employees and which are Subcontractors or consultants.
6.49.2
Go-Live Implementation Staff.  Proposers shall provide an organization chart showing names of all management, supervisory and key technical personnel who will be active in the Go-Live, Implementation and on-going Operations of the System.

6.49.3
There shall be a dedicated technical Project Manager assigned to the Go-Live Implementation project who must be on-site during Lottery quality assurance testing and the subsequent two-weeks (minimum) of Go-Live.  

6.49.4
The Proposer must indicate what specific contract function(s) staff will perform and how long it is anticipated they will be engaged.  For staff not yet identified, the Proposal shall identify and quantify them by title, and specify what qualifications are expected of these individuals.

6.49.5
Ongoing Lottery Operations Staff.  The Proposer shall provide brief position descriptions and an organization chart showing names of all management, supervisory and key technical personnel who are expected to be active in the on-going operations of the System.  For staff not yet identified, the Proposal shall identify and quantify them by title, and specify what qualifications are expected of these individuals.

6.49.6
Resumes.  The Proposer shall provide one-page resumes of all management, supervisory and key technical personnel planned to be involved in the installation, implementation and on-going operation of the System and Services and shall provide at minimum the following:

· Name
· Most recent five (5) year employment history
· A specific description of experience that person has in connection with lottery gaming systems.

· Specific indication of the role the individual will have in this project.
· Any other additional helpful information to indicate the individual’s ability to successfully perform the work involved in the Contract.

6.49.7
Key Staff / Continuity.  The Proposer must commit to a good faith effort to retain proposed key staff for the Go-Live implementation and sustainable operations phase of the project.
6.50
GAMING AND NETWORK OPERATIONS SERVICES


The Contractor shall provide operation services for the production, backup, and test systems, including the operation of three data centers (primary, backup and tertiary).  The Contractor must operate the wide area network servicing the Lottery.
6.50.1
Data Center Operations / Duties.  Duties shall include System start-up and shutdown tasks, monitoring drawing results entry, report generation, file backups and various operational procedures to enable the correct operation of the System.  Recovery from System failures will engage the operations staff.  Operations shall produce reports and files documenting the operations and activities.

The Contractor’s staff shall continuously monitor the systems and networks, and must be trained in the System’s monitoring tools for this purpose.  Any System faults must be detected, diagnosed, logged and corrected.

Response Note:  The Proposal shall indicate what monitoring tools are proposed for operators and communication technicians.

6.50.2
Secure Operating Principles.  The Contractor shall operate the System on the basis of the Principle of Least Privilege, observing the need-to-know and segregation of duties, to limit the ability of staff to misuse the System.  The Contractor must highly restrict “super-user” capabilities to access and change System components.

6.50.3
Host, Systems and Network Equipment Maintenance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for maintaining data center components, including but not limited to host systems, LANs, telecommunications equipment for the central sites and infrastructure items (such as power and HVAC.  Documentation of maintenance events must be maintained by the Contractor for Lottery review.  The Contractor shall obtain replacement parts and maintenance services that are approved, recommended, or recognized by the original equipment supplier as effective.
6.50.4
Gaming System Engineering Support Services.  Timely and committed fulfillment of Lottery requests for System support and changes is a Contract requirement. The Proposal must identify how systems and software engineering support services for System management, System error correct, support for changes to the Lottery’s business rules and requirements, and game changes will be delivered to the Wyoming Lottery, by responding to the following:

6.50.4.1
System Releases.  The Contractor must support quarterly releases of software batches. Untimely delivery of releases may result in liquidated damages (see Section 4).


6.50.4.2
Software Support.  The Contractor must provide software and systems engineering support for diagnosis, error corrections and System changes.


6.50.4.3
Quality Assurance.  The Contractor must provide a local Quality Assurance resource and support for the Lottery’s acceptance testing.


6.50.4.4
Database and Reporting Specialist.  The Proposer must propose a Wyoming-based staff member to provide for database management upon request of the Lottery.


6.50.4.5
Shared Records and Methodology for Change Control Management.  In fulfillment of joint responsibilities between the Contractor and the Lottery to make System changes in a timely and correct manner, the Contractor must provide shared access to change requests and change tracking for the Wyoming project and subsequent day-to-day management of System issues.  The Contractor shall propose a methodology for addressing, prioritizing and managing issues through a ‘change management’ philosophy.



Approved Changes Only.  The Contractor shall ensure through procedural and System controls that only Lottery-approved changes, on an approved schedule can be made.  Reports and/or displays shall be available to the Lottery to review all related change and configuration management activities.



Change Introduction.  All changes to host systems, network devices or applications must be completed on the related testing systems.  All changes approved and completed for production systems must also be completed on the associated backup systems.



Software Checksums.  Checksums are required for software at the time it is released for Lottery testing and must be available at any time for testing applications and for production systems.


Component Identification.  System components shall be documented with version and release numbers, patch versions, or model and serial numbers.



Traceability of Components.  System components shall be traceable, identifying the history, use and location of a component.



Change Tracking.  The Contractor must track all changes made to System components, provide reports showing when and by whom a change was made and for what purpose and must avoid multiple update conflicts.   Change logs must reference associated planning documents and approvals.



Configuration Status and Inventory.  The Contractor shall have the ability to produce a configuration status report identifying the current configuration of any System component as well as an inventory report including all System components.



Documentation.  The Contractor must provide and maintain comprehensive System documentation for the Lottery including but not limited to: network diagrams, security standards and processes, multi-jurisdictional (i.e., MUSL) security standards compliance documents, change control processes and procedures, data dictionaries, third-party licensing documentation, etc.

6.51
OPERATIONS SECURITY PLAN
The System and its operations must be of the highest security and integrity.  The Contractor must maintain a confidential, high-level comprehensive approach to information security controls.  For example, staff must be organized, assigned and operate under procedures, and with System controls that mitigate such threats such as insider fraud.

The Contractor must submit an Operations Security Plan to the Lottery, at least ninety (90) days prior to Production Start-up.  Approval of this plan is a prerequisite for acceptance testing.

At a minimum the security plan must include the following sections:

· Business Impact Analysis

· Risk, Threat and Vulnerability Analysis

· Security Strategy

· Personnel Security Practices

· Physical Security

· Data Security

· Systems Security

· Telecommunications operational and physical security, systems network security and terminal security.

· Patch Management

· Incident Response – The plan must address incident response procedures (e.g. in case of an electronic intrusion); periodic audits to ensure compliance with the security plan; and periodic meetings on security (such as network security)

· Protection of software and other copyrighted materials’

· Plan Evaluation

· Security Awareness Training

· Plan Maintenance

Response Note:  The Proposer must provide its past experience in producing operations security plans.

There shall be periodic audits of compliance with the security plan, and periodic meetings with Lottery staff to review security controls.  The security plan must follow a format approved by the Lottery, the plan must be approved by the Lottery, be available both in hardcopy and PDF format and must comply with any associated multi-jurisdictional security requirements.
6.52
ELECTRONIC MEDIA, COMPUTER ROOM PAPER, SUPPLIES

The Contractor shall supply all magnetic tapes, cartridges, disk packs, diskettes and other media items, printer paper and supplies needed to operate the gaming system, Lottery testing terminals, ICS and games management systems.

6.53
GAMING SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION
6.53.1
Go-Live Strategy.  The Lottery requires a Go-Live strategy for both the retailer terminal deployment and central computer system for the start of production that must meet the following goals:


6.53.1.1
Minimizing limitations (i.e., delayed or ‘late’ start-up).


6.53.1.2
Maintaining good retailer relationships and addressing retailer issues during Go-Live (such as inconvenient training opportunities; getting all retailers trained; and demand for counter space when installing the terminal) 


The implementation process requires that all of the software, hardware and service elements of the new System be delivered, installed, tested and put into production at Go-Live.


6.53.1.3
Marketing integrated campaign.

Response Note:  The Proposal must contain an Implementation Plan and Time Chart (Gantt, PERT or similar) identifying major milestones to be accomplished for Go-Live. At minimum, this plan should include, construction, equipment delivery, equipment installation, software programming and installation, testing and retailer training and provisioning.
Response Note:  Responsibilities of the Proposer’s team, of the Lottery’s implementation team, must be identified.  Retailer roles and responsibilities pre-Go Live must be addressed as well.

6.54
INSTALLATION AND QUALITY ASSURANCE / ACCEPTANCE TESTING
The Contractor, with Lottery’s approval and at Contractor’s expense, shall allow a third party to conduct a series of acceptance tests which the Contractor shall support.  The third party testing lab will be conducting acceptance testing from the permanent acceptance testing quality assurance lab situation at the Primary Data Center.
6.54.1
Schedule for Acceptance Testing.  To support acceptance testing the Contractor must have the Primary Data Center facilities, systems and network hardware and software, at least (10) test terminals installed, configured and operational within one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the scheduled Go-Live date.


At the time of Acceptance Testing, the backup and tertiary systems must also be ready for testing.  The ICS must be functioning in order to confirm the integrity of the System.

6.54.2
Documentation and Support.  Training and written procedural manuals specific to the Wyoming Lottery must be delivered to the third party testing lab upon availability of the System for acceptance testing.  During the testing period, the Contractor must provide technical staff on-site as a resource to collaborate and support acceptance testing.

6.54.3
Ticket Stock Testing.  A sample of the production ticket stock must be provided for ticket testing to ensure that it is manufactured in accordance with all multi-jurisdictional requirements and specifications; this includes Lottery specifications.  The ticket stock sample is due on or before the start of acceptance testing.   The Contractor will be responsible for the cost of the third party testing of the ticket stock testing as it will be a provision in the third party testing lab contract.


6.54.4
Random Number Generator (RNG).  The Contractor shall furnish an RNG certificate ensuring that the Proposed RNG is certified for use.
6.54.5
Randomizer Testing.  Samples from the Contractor’s randomizer software in the retailer terminals or central system must be submitted for quality assurance testing.  Randomizer software testing will be a section of the agreed upon contract with the approved third party testing lab and also due before the start of the third party acceptance testing date.

6.54.6
Network Testing.  One hundred and twenty (120) days prior to conversion of Go-Live, the Contractor must submit a comprehensive network configuration plan.  The plan must show the networking method (telephone line, satellite, radio, etc.) for connecting each retailer location to the central Lottery Gaming System (LGS).   Also at 120 days, concurrent with the schedule for general acceptance testing (see above) the retailer terminals for the permanent acceptance testing facility must be installed to reflect all forms of communication media to be used in the network.  As the retailer network is rolled out, the Contractor must demonstrate continuity to each retailer location from all data center locations.


Continuity must also be shown for any redundancy or diversity provisions for single or clustered retailers, as well as main trunk landlines, satellite or radio bridges or facilities that are incorporated into the network.  Acceptance testing of the network shall be conducted.  This includes during times when there are historically low sales volumes or during times when there are no sales allowed. 

Acceptance testing shall demonstrate that the proposed communications network configurations and its installed components, when completely installed, including those components providing redundancy, backup and diversity, shall satisfactorily provide the necessary support for network bandwidth and transaction latency to achieve the requirements of Section 6.6 ”Gaming System Quantitative Performance Criteria”.  

6.54.7
Emergency Management Terminals.  Sixty (60) days prior to conversion the emergency management terminals must be fully installed and connected to the Contractor’s System and ready for acceptance testing.

6.54.8
Release Notes.  Each release to the software for testing must be accompanied by release notes.  The release notes must evidence good configuration management practices, namely each release must be identified by a version number and the changes must be succinctly defined.  This requirement shall extend throughout the contract.

6.55
THIRD PARTY QUALITY ASSURANCE TESTING 

The Contractor shall provide, allow, submit to and at Contractor’s expense, a third party testing lab in readiness for all quality assurance testing.  Testing criteria shall be subject to Lottery approval.
Quality Assurance testing will be performed at Contractor’s expense, on all software Releases pre and post Go-Live.  Contractor shall ensure a good faith effort on all testing criteria to be performed and in good faith, perform the necessary changes to ensure software performance to scope.

6.55.1
Entry and Exit Criteria.  The Lottery will consider the System ready for acceptance testing once all hardware and software items are installed and configured to operate in the testing environment and in accordance with the Lottery’s standards.  The Lottery will deem testing successfully complete when all components of the System have “passed” third party testing and any issues that surfaced through testing, resolved.  

The Contractor and Lottery shall develop and agree upon detailed criteria that must be met (at minimum) prior to the System put into production.  Entry and Exit criteria for quality assurance / acceptance testing will be developed by the Contractor and will be subject to Lottery approval.

6.56
PROJECT REPORTING AND MORNITORING


The Contractor shall provide a dedicated on-site technical project manager for the Go-Live implementation project.  The Contractor must provide a team structure, process and tools that facilitate Lottery oversight of the implementation.  The Lottery’s Gaming Operations Officer shall be the designated Business Owner for the implementation of the Gaming System(s).  


It is expected that the Project Manager be able to produce a Program / Project Plan within 30 days of Contract signing and the plan is subject to Lottery input and approval.  A detailed project plan with time lines are due to the Lottery’s Gaming Operations Officer within 45 days of Contract signing.


The Contractor shall provide suitable access to project records to enable Lottery staff to monitor project management tasks, schedules and issues.  The requirement begins within 45 days of Contract signing.

6.57
PROPOSER CORPORATE CAPABILITY


The Proposer is required to demonstrate corporate experience, technical capability, integrity and financial means to support the contract.  

6.57.1
Corporate Background Review

The Proposer shall provide the following information:

· Name and address of the business entity developing the Proposal
· Type of business entity (i.e., corporation, partnership, etc.)
· Place of incorporation, or other form of organization, if applicable
· Name of location of major offices, plants and other facilities that relate to performance under the terms of this RFP
· Name, address and function of Substantial Subcontractors, associated companies or consultants that will be involved in any phase of this project.

6.57.2
Gaming System Experience

It is required, at minimum, that the Proposer has one or more current U.S. clients to whom it has supplied a Lottery Gaming System.

Response Note:  The Proposer shall describe in detail, its current and historical experience with lottery gaming systems; that is, descriptions and references for all gaming industry Start-Up engagements that have been conducted by the Proposer over the last five (5) years.
Each experience statement shall include the following details:

· Name of lottery or gaming enterprise (s);

· Estimated contract value;

· Number of retailer terminals delivered to the customer;

· The term of the contract including effective dates;

· Reason for contract end (if the contract is no longer in effect);

· Whether the implementation was a new state installation, or a conversion from an existing lottery gaming system.  

· Types of services directly provided by the Proposer under the contract and whether the Proposer was a prime Contractor or Subcontractor

The descriptions must include names, titles, addresses and telephone numbers of the references whom we may contact to verify qualifying experience.

Response Note:  If some of the experience is provided by a teaming partner or a Subcontractor that will provide a major part of the products or services, then experience information for that entity must be included.
6.57.3
Contract Performance History

The Proposer must be a business in good standing with its customers and the business community, evidencing good delivery on the obligations of its contracts.  The Proposer shall state whether any of the following have occurred:


6.57.3.1
Implementation Delays.  During the last five (5) years, the Proposer has had a new System installation delayed beyond the intended start-up date.  Similarly, whether any major game or promotion rollouts have been delayed beyond their intended starting dates.  If so, the Proposer shall describe the circumstances of the delay.  The Proposer should cite any mitigating circumstances.

6.57.3.2
Terminations.  During the last five (5) years, the Proposer has had a Contract terminated for default or cause.  If so, the Proposer shall submit full details for contacting the jurisdiction affected.


6.57.3.3
Suspensions.  During the last five (5) years, the Proposer a subsidiary or intermediate company, parent company or holding company was the subject of any order, judgment or decree of a US or non-US governmental authority barring, suspending or otherwise limiting the right of the Proposer to engage in any business, practice or activity, or if trading in the stock of the company has ever been suspended with date(s) and explanation(s).


6.57.3.4
Liquidated Damages and Settlements.  The Proposer shall list incidents during the past five (5) years where the aggregate of liquidated damages and settlements resulted in an extraordinary payment or loss of expected revenue to any jurisdiction of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) or greater in a twelve (12) month period.  The Proposer shall indicate the jurisdiction, date, amount and a brief description of the cause.

Response Note:  If the Proposer is planning to use the experience of a teaming partner or a Subcontractor that will provide a major part of the products and services, then the same performance information as above must be included for that entity.

6.58
TERMINALS / PROVISIONING / CAPABILITIES
Terminal Provisioning Services: Moves, Adds, Changes & Removals.  The Contractor is responsible for providing terminals (ticket selling devices) and related peripherals and a communications interface to the WAN at retailer locations.  Besides installing a new retailer (“add”) it may be necessary to service a retailer who was previously installed and relocate (“move”) the retailer’s terminal within the premises or de-install (“remove”) a retailer’s selling equipment (terminal and peripherals).


The Lottery shall authorize all new retailers who pass the security and necessary background verifications.   If a retailer is approved, Lottery shall notify the Contractor through the provisioned software program (Retailer Management System or equivalent) and the Contractor shall install the retailer’s equipment.  A similar protocol shall be followed in the removal of Lottery equipment should a retailer default or is found in violation of Lottery’s ‘Retailer Contract’. 

6.58.1
A terminal shall be considered to have completed provisioning and be ready when it has been installed at the designated location; is in good operating order; is communicating with the gaming host Systems; is capable of issuing tickets, conducting validations and producing reports; and performs all other terminal functions as specified in this RFP.  Provisioning activities must be conducted on a timely schedule.

6.58.2
The Lottery has determined that the following provisioning schedule is the maximum permitted for completion:


Add a new retailer
  2 days (from Contract Approval)

Move a retailer

14 days (from notification)

Inside move

10 days (from notification)

Remove a retailer

24 hours (from notification)
6.58.3
Manufacturing Capabilities for Terminals.  Capacity to provide the gaming terminals is critical to the project.

6.58.3.1
Manufacturing Plan.  The Proposer shall describe its resources, capabilities, capacity, and plans for producing (through current inventory, manufacturing, purchasing, etc.) the terminals proposed to meet the requirements of the RFP, including the availability of additional plants and secondary sources.

6.58.3.2
Manufacturing Quality.  The Proposer’s Proposal must address manufacturing quality practices and in particular, whether the Proposer is certified under the ISO 9000 series or other recognized quality practices / standards.

6.59
SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT


Capacity to provide the software and systems support is critical to the project.

6.59.1
Software Development Plans.  The Proposer shall describe its staff skill levels, headcounts and locations pertinent to developing and maintaining software for the Wyoming Lottery Contract.

6.59.2
Software Quality.  The Proposer must address software engineering quality practices, and in particular, whether the Proposer is certified under ISO 9000 series, SEI CMMI, or other recognized quality practices.

6.60
PROJECT MANAGEMENT CAPABILITIES


Capacity to conduct the implementation and additional evolutionary System changes is critical to the project.

6.60.1
Capacity to conduct the implementation and additional evolutionary System changes is critical to the project.

6.60.1.1
Project Management Approach.  The Proposer shall describe its corporate organization and tools pertinent to managing the implementation and operation of the Lottery Gaming System required for this contract.

6.60.1.2
Project Management Quality.  The Proposal must address project management quality practices and in particular whether members of the proposed staff are certified under the Project Management Institute PMP program or other recognized project management practices / standards.  


In lieu of PMP certification, the Proposer shall explain the length of time (tenure) and abilities of the members of the proposed staff and their project/program management abilities.

6.61
SECURITY MANAGEMENT CAPABILITIES


The Proposer must demonstrate a capacity to develop and implement a comprehensive plan for maintaining effective security controls and practices critical to ensuring the integrity of Lottery operations.

6.61.1
Security Management Approach.  The Proposer shall describe its corporate organization and tools pertinent to managing all aspects of information security pertaining to gaming system development and operations.

6.61.2
Security, Control, Audit Standards.  The Proposer must address standards and practices, and in particular, whether the Proposer’s gaming solutions and practices are compliant with ISO 17799, NIST, COBIT, CISSP, or other recognized information security, control and audit standards.

6.62
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The success of the Lottery depends on the availability of new products, software innovations and service enhancements.  The Proposer shall describe its resources, capabilities, capacity and plans for maintaining a research and development effort in such areas as retailer terminal design, software development, telecommunications, network monitoring, sales / operational data mining and advertising effectiveness. 





6.63
SUPPORT OF THE LOTTERY’S RELATIONSHIP WITH RETAILERS


The Contractor will be responsible for employing staff for the purpose of developing strong retailer relationships, prospecting new retailers, recommending new retailer locations; responding to retailer concerns, educating retailers on Lottery games, game features, policies, rules, and the delivery and placement of point-of-sale (POS) materials. 


Although the Contractor will hire, develop and manage the day-to-day duties and tasks pertaining to the field staff, these individuals will be representing the Wyoming Lottery.   The Proposer shall facilitate meetings, messaging, and data interfaces to facilitate field services, including retailer problem resolutions with Contractor-provided services and a solution for Lottery updates on field activities.  These activities include escalation procedures.
SECTION 7
MARKETING AND ADVERTISING

SECTION   7   MARKETING AND ADVERTISING REQUIREMENTS
The Contractor shall be responsible for managing the Lottery’s marketing and advertising program.  The success of the Lottery depends on the ability to reach consumers through unique, innovative and integrated marketing campaigns. The Proposer shall describe its resources, capabilities, capacity and plans for managing the Wyoming Lottery marketing and advertising efforts.
Response Note:  If a Proposer is considering to subcontract or enter into a Joint Venture for the purpose of these marketing and advertising requirements, the Proposer must demonstrate its consideration for utilizing marketing and advertising resources within the state of Wyoming.  

7.1
AD AGENCY STAFFING

7.1.1
Employees of the Successful Proposer assigned to the Wyoming Lottery account must have substantial experience marketing products via mass media as well as the retail environment.  It is crucial that the Successful Proposer and the team assigned to work on the Wyoming Lottery account demonstrate skills required to effectively reach and communicate with the population of Wyoming.

7.1.2
Proposers are encouraged to propose staffing plans that offer the best value to the Wyoming Lottery, both in terms of account service and adequate staffing.  The Proposer must explain how service levels will be maintained and staffing needs met.  

7.1.3
Proposers shall identify the key personnel who will provide direction or oversight to the Wyoming Lottery account.  The Proposer must demonstrate that these individuals have the background and experience required to coordinate and execute the Proposer’s activities, including special projects.  Consideration and attention must be given to the following:

7.1.3.1
Account/Strategic Planning.  Each Proposer must describe the staffing levels and functions of its account/strategic planning effort.  This includes identifying the personnel assigned to the Wyoming Lottery account.  

7.1.3.2
Media Staffing.  Each Proposer must describe the staffing levels and functions of its media department.  This includes the responsible individual(s) and buyer for the account.

7.1.3.3
Creative Staffing.  Each Proposer shall describe the staffing levels and functions of its creative department and identify the personnel who will be responsible for the Wyoming Lottery account.  The Creative Director should have a minimum of five (5) years of relevant experience. 

7.1.3.4
Digital Staffing.  The Wyoming Lottery will have an independent third party responsible for our digital advertising; however, the Successful Proposer must have an account representative familiar with digital media and have the abilities to collaborate with a third party.  All media types, including digital, must represent a cohesive and Lottery approved approach.  This means the successful Proposer will transfer media developed for TV, radio, print, etc., and provide it to our selected digital contractor. 

7.1.3.5
Production Staffing.   Each Proposer must describe the staffing levels and/or approach for the functions relative to production.  

7.2
GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SERVICES AND REQUIREMENTS
 

7.2.1
The Successful Proposer must be able to perform the functions of a full-service advertising agency, including but not limited to, branding, creative concerting, production, planning, buying and placement of broadcast, print, digital and out-of-home advertising, and event planning and execution.  The Successful Proposer shall exhibit a thorough understanding of Wyoming’s demographics and must demonstrate the ability to effectively reach and speak to the general markets.  

7.2.2
Advertising Related Market Research and Planning.  Proposers are required to discuss their in-house research capabilities, research resources and research strategy for the Wyoming Lottery account.

7.3
ADVERTISING SENSITIVITY

7.3.1
All advertising efforts shall be conducted in a manner commensurate with dignity and integrity.  Advertising should be in accordance with the Wyoming Lottery’s vision and mission.  

7.3.2
The following stipulations apply to all Wyoming Lottery advertising:

· Advertising should not over promise

· Advertising should not present, directly or indirectly present a means of relieving any person financial difficulty or debt

· Advertising should not display guns, tobacco, children, improper attire or imply lewd or indecent language or actions

· Advertising should not portray product abuse, excessive play or preoccupation with gambling.  It should not imply or portray any illegal activity.

· Advertising should not specifically target or exploit person’s or groups of a specific economic class

· Advertising should not stereotype Wyoming residents 

· Advertising shall not solicit to children or those under the age of 21 years

7.4
ADVERTISING MEDIA PLANS

7.4.1
The Wyoming Lottery will provide a representative to collaborate with the Successful Proposer on a marketing strategy.  The strategy shall clearly define communication goals and objectives that result from the Wyoming Lottery’s general strategic and business plans.  The Wyoming Lottery may modify and/or amend the goals and objectives at any time.  The Wyoming Lottery has final approval on the proposed marketing strategy.

7.4.2
Advertising Plan.  The Successful Proposer shall be required to develop an annual advertising plan that is consistent with the Wyoming Lottery’s approved marketing strategy.  The Successful Proposer must seek Lottery’s approval on the final advertising plan.   The advertising plan shall, at minimum, contain the following elements:

· Audience information

· Creative strategies, goals and objectives

· Relevant research findings

· Proposed spending for production by media type

· Special events, promotional activities or any other opportunity agreed upon with the Wyoming Lottery

7.4.3
Media Plan.  Once the advertising plan has been approved, the Successful Proposer shall develop a media plan to support the advertising plan.  The Wyoming Lottery and the Successful Proposer will review the media plan and revise the plan if needed.  The media plan shall, at minimum, contain the following elements:

· Allocation of spend by media type

· Gross rating point (GRP) objections with reach/frequency and efficiency analysis

· Detailed media flowchart that specifies mediums, market tiers, GRP levels and costs per campaign

Advertising and media plans must be based on Wyoming Lottery’s fiscal year of July 1 through June 30.  The Successful Proposer shall submit an advertising plan for FY’14 no later than six (6) weeks after the Contract execution date, or as specified by the Wyoming Lottery.  The media plan is due three (3) weeks after the advertising plan has been approved.

7.5
BUDGET

7.5.1
The Successful Proposer shall develop an annual budget based upon the Wyoming Lottery’s fiscal year and include all advertising expenditures.  The level of anticipated annual spending will be determined by the Wyoming Lottery, based on projections contained in the advertising plan.  The Successful Proposer shall develop a cost efficient plan that is responsive to the Wyoming Lottery’s marketing needs.  The budget shall provide proposed spending for respective markets as recommended in the advertising plans.

7.5.2
The Successful Proposer shall make recommendations for savings where possible.   The budget will be reviewed as needed and shall be revised as required by the Wyoming Lottery.  Budget plans shall be incorporated in the Advertising and Media Plans and are subject to approval by the Wyoming Lottery.

7.5.3
The Successful Proposer shall make no commitment on behalf of the Wyoming Lottery without prior written approval by the Wyoming Lottery.

7.5.4
Unauthorized Expenses.  The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for all unauthorized expenses.

7.6
REPORTS

7.6.1
The Successful Proposer shall provide, at minimum, the following reports to the Wyoming Lottery in a format and schedule approved or prescribed the Lottery.  

· Status Report.  This report documents all current media and production jobs, projects, promotional events, reporting and meetings.  The report will include jobs by product, media, production, timeline, distribution, or any other status prescribed by the lottery.
· Expenditure Report.  A summary of all approved expenditures to date for the current fiscal year.  The summary shall indicate the total amount available in the budget and the total amount currently committed.  The summary also shall include current amounts invoiced, amounts invoiced but not paid, amounts owed for services performed but not invoiced and current amounts paid, together with spending by audience, media type and production type.

· Quarterly Reports.  The Post Buy Report is due no more than one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each broadcast quarter after the flight ends.  The Successful Proposer shall provide the Lottery with a post buy report indicating the reach, frequency and GRP goals of each buy were achieved within budget. Any post buy analyses shall be provided for media buys that utilize new rating information for the buy period, when available.

· Print Audit.  No more than thirty (30) days following the end of each Wyoming Lottery fiscal year quarter, the Successful Proposer shall submit a quarterly print audit.  Print audits must include the name of the publication, (paid or unpaid) circulation, publication frequency, distribution sites, designated market area and publisher information.
· Annual Reports.  Media Review reports are due no later than 20 days after fiscal year-end.  The report must include added value achieved as a result of the previous year’s media report.


· Storage Inventory Report.  The Successful Proposer shall submit an inventory report no later than 20 days after fiscal year-end.  The report shall include the date of the inventory, description of each item, costs and annual destruction totals. 

· Media Buy Report.  For each campaign, actual media buys will be required at least three weeks prior to the start of each flight.  All media buy reports must include a summary of the goals met, any cost savings achieved per DMA and added value placement.  The Successful Proposer shall make the Wyoming Lottery aware of any cost savings that might be achieved by the advance purchase of media. 
· Post Campaign/Promotional Report.  This report shall provide a recap of each campaign prescribed by the Wyoming Lottery.  The report is due thirty (30) days after the campaign/promotional event concludes or as directed by the Lottery. 

7.7
CREATIVE SERVICES

7.7.1
The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for concepting, creation and production of the Lottery’s advertising materials, including broadcast, digital, print, out-of-home and such other materials as may be required by the Wyoming Lottery.  The Successful Proposer also may be required to develop multi-media campaigns and to assist the Wyoming Lottery in developing game names, product logo’s or art/illustrations for other uses.

7.72
Creative Concepts.  The Successful Proposer shall present at least three (3) creative concepts for each campaign and, upon Wyoming Lottery approval of the campaign concept, shall present three (3) creative options for each medium.  If the concepts or creative options are not approved by the Lottery, the Successful Proposer shall be required to develop and present additional creative executions.

7.73
Creative Meetings.  The Successful Proposer shall schedule creative meetings between Wyoming Lottery staff and the account team.  Unless otherwise approved by the Lottery, the Successful Proposer shall provide at least a five (5) working day advance notice for all creative meetings. 
7.74
Creative Approvals.  The Successful Proposer shall obtain written approval from the Wyoming Lottery prior to producing any advertisement.  When producing any creative work, the Successful Proposer shall not vary from approved scripts, story boards or print layouts without the written approval from the Wyoming Lottery.  Failure to adhere to approved scripts, story boards or layouts may void the Wyoming Lottery’s approval of the estimate for the project.   The Successful Proposer shall incorporate all changes required by the Wyoming Lottery, as well as submit any other alternative creative solutions deemed prudent and approved by the Lottery.  
7.75
Timelines.  The Successful Proposer shall allow sufficient time for developing and presenting creative solutions, editing and revising selected options, obtaining final approvals from the Wyoming Lottery, producing the final product, and distributing the finished product.  The Successful Proposer shall collaborate with minimum, five working days for approval on each stage of the project.
7.76
Artwork Changes.  The Successful Proposer shall only be allowed to charge the Lottery one time for artwork that is used in multiple forms, except for the reduction or enlargement of the artwork.  Artwork required for any print advertisements shall be billed as a one-time item on a separate invoice.  

All original artwork becomes the property of the Wyoming Lottery, and the Successful Proposer shall provide originals to the Wyoming Lottery upon request and, in any event, promptly following Contract termination or expiration.
7.8
MEDIA SERVICES
7.8.1
Negotiation and Placement.  The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for the placement and purchase of all media, including but not limited to broadcast, out-of-home, sponsorships, and print media.  In negotiating media purchases, the Successful Proposer shall make every effort to procure services from Wyoming businesses and make the Wyoming Lottery aware of any savings that might be achieved through long-term commitments or other specialized programs.  Media placement shall be reimbursed at net cost with no mark-up.

7.8.2
The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for auditing and verifying all media outlets.  The criteria used for auditing media outlets will be determined through a collaborative process with the Wyoming Lottery.  
7.8.3
Placement Verification.  The Successful Proposer shall ensure that all media was broadcast or published according to any contracts or placement instructions.  The Successful Proposer shall provide, at no cost to the Wyoming Lottery, affidavits, tear sheets or any other placement verification requested by the Lottery.   Placement verification documents shall indicate the run dates, times and/or circulation and include ratings achieved (where applicable).

7.8.4
Added Value.  The Successful Proposer shall attempt to negotiate added value for all media included in any Wyoming Lottery buy.  Any added value provided by participating media vendors shall be identified in the summary of any media buy.  The Successful Proposer shall establish a goal for added value media based upon on estimated spend over each year contract.

7.9
MATERIALS AND SIGNAGE

The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for the creative design and production of printed materials under the Contract to support the Wyoming Lottery’s advertising and in-store (retailer) support efforts. The Successful Proposer may provide product brochures and posters, signage, digital and traditional displays, point-of-sale, and other collateral materials defined by the Wyoming Lottery.

7.10
FILM AND PLACEMENT VERIFICATION STORAGE
The Successful Proposer shall store all film and placement verification associated with the Wyoming Lottery.  The Successful Proposer shall store all film and placement verification in a manner consistent with industry standards.  All storage cost for film and verification will be reimbursed by the Wyoming Lottery for actual cost only.
7.11
GOODS AND EQUIPMENT
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, after completion of the services to be provided on the Wyoming Lottery’s behalf, the Successful Proposer shall be solely responsible for the proper disposition of all physical or tangible goods and/or equipment created in connection with the services or works provided to the Wyoming Lottery, and which are incidental to such services or works (i.e., props, set dressing, promotional equipment, signage, related equipment).  The Wyoming Lottery will notify the Successful Proposer in the event that the such incidental goods or equipment are to be returned to the Wyoming Lottery; otherwise, the Successful Proposer shall bear all storage, destruction and other costs in connection with disposition of such physical or tangible goods and equipment.   Upon request of the Lottery, the Successful Proposer may be required to provide supporting documentation confirming disposal or destruction of such items.

The Successful Proposer is expressly prohibited from reproducing, distributing, displaying, performing publicly, making copies or derivative works of, selling, using, re-using otherwise conveying to other persons or entities any goods and/or equipment bearing any Wyoming Lottery mark without prior written approval by an authorized Wyoming Lottery representative.

7.12
PUBLIC SERVICE ANNOUNCEMENTS
At the Wyoming Lottery’s request, the Successful Proposer shall develop print and/or broadcast public service announcements and secure media placement.  The announcements will run at no charge to the Wyoming Lottery.  The Successful Proposer shall include a detailed PSA run schedule in its quarterly post buy analyses.
7.13
RESPONSIBLE/PROBLEM GAMBLING PROGRAM

In collaboration with the Wyoming Lottery on Responsible/Problem Gambling, the Proposer shall provide strategic concepts for the development of marketing communications and collateral.  The Proposer shall describe its experience with developing and/or collaborating with individuals and jurisdictions on Responsible Gambling.  Experience may include the development of effective outreach campaigns to educate consumers about problem gambling and/or information pertaining to the marketing of lottery games.

The Contractor will be responsible for supporting, producing and distributing responsible/problem gambling materials to retailers and consumers.  Communication support may include, television, radio, print and other materials associated with integrated campaigns.

Response Note:  The Proposer shall provide measures on the effectiveness of their Responsible / Problem Gambling campaigns, recognition by industry leaders or other evidence of experience in this area.   
7.14
UNACCEPTABLE PRODUCTS

The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for the cost of all items produced on behalf of the Wyoming Lottery that are misprinted, produced in error or which the Wyoming Lottery 
7.15
UNACCEPTABLE SERVICES

The Successful Proposer shall be responsible for any costs incurred in conjunction with services provided on behalf of the Wyoming Lottery which are deemed unacceptable due to failure to meet deadlines that warrant services unusable, or rendered in a manner inconsistent with the services approved by the Wyoming Lottery.

7.16
MEETINGS WITH WYOMING LOTTERY VENDORS

Any meetings or conference calls that are held between the Successful Proposer and any of the Wyoming Lottery vendors must be approved by the Lottery.  Lottery staff may attend any meeting or conference call that the Successful Proposer has with any Lottery vendor.

Response Note:  As part of the response to this RFP, the Proposer shall accept the following assignment and provide the response with the Proposal.

Creative Assignment:  Each Proposer shall create and submit as part of its Proposal an advertising campaign designed to increase the awareness of Powerball.  Each Proposer must consider and provide goals and measures of success.  Proposers may determine assumptions other than the following:
· Assume that Powerball has been available in Wyoming for 5 years and sales have been on a steady growth pattern, however, product tracking studies report lackluster product awareness.
· The audience: Wyoming residents between the ages of 18 and 35. 
SECTION 8

CONTRACT MANAGER RESPONSIBILITIES
8.1 
CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

8.1.1 
Contract Manager. The Gaming Operations Officer is the employee responsible for the overall management and administration of the Contract.
8.1.2 
The Contract Manager will be responsible for approving payment vouchers and is the person that the Contractor will contact after the Contract is executed for answers to any questions and concerns about any aspect of the Contract.

8.2 
REMEDIES

Unless otherwise provided in this Contract, all claims, disputes and other matters in question between the Wyoming Lottery Corporation and the Contractor arising out of, or relating to, this Contract or the breach of it will proceed as follows:

8.2.1 The Contractor shall initially submit any questions, concerns, disputes, claims and requests to the Contract Manager.
8.2.2
Failing informal resolution through the Contract Manager, the Contractor shall submit the matter to the Chief Executive Officer for resolution.

8.2.3
In the event that a resolution of any dispute involves the modification and/or clarification of any term and/or condition of the Contract, such modification and/or clarification shall require the prior written approval of the Chief Executive Officer.
8.2.4 In the event that any claim or dispute arises during the performance of the Contract; the Contractor shall, unless ordered by the CEO, continue to perform the Contract pending final resolution of the claim or dispute.
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PRICE SCHEDULE
WYOMING LOTTERY GAMING SYSTEM AND SUPPORT SERVICES
Proposers are required to quote the System price as a percentage of Net Total Sales (draw games) for the five (5) year contract period.  This includes all fees.  No other payments will be made to the Contractor unless authorized by a contract amendment.
The Successful Proposer will receive no compensation prior to the successful launch of the Gaming System.  Successful launch constitutes a successful week (seven [7] consecutive days) of ticket sales. 

Total Net Sales Percentage: ______________________________________________%*

*(total net sales percentage should have four (4) decimal places (example: 00.0000%)

TBD pricing is not allowed.

Authorized Signature______________________________________________________

By signing this attachment, the Proposer acknowledges that no contract is hereby created.

Print or Type Name   ______________________________________________________

Title                             ______________________________________________________

Business Name of Proposer ________________________________________________

Address of Proposer    _____________________________________________________

                                       _____________________________________________________

                                       _____________________________________________________

Phone Number             _____________________________________________________

Email address               _____________________________________________________

Date                               _____________________________________________________

Please note: this price schedule is required to be submitted in a separately sealed, addressed envelope and received no later than January 17, 2014.  
See event schedule section 1.6.
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NO CONTACT AGREEMENT AND CERTIFICATION

1. I certify and confirm on behalf of the Proposer that neither the Proposer, its directors, officers or employees, or on behalf of the Proposer, its consultants, legal representatives or lobbyists has initiated any Contact, as defined in Section 2 of the Request for Proposal, with any Executive Branch employee during the Procurement Process, except as permitted in Section 1.6, Event Schedule.
2. I agree that no one on behalf of the Proposer, including its directors, officers, employees, consultants, legal representatives, lobbyists or other agents of the Proposer shall initiate any contact, as defined in Section 2.2 of this RFP, with any Executive Branch employee during the Procurement Process, except as permitted in Section 1.6 of the RFP.
3. I have read Section 2.2 of the RFP and I hereby acknowledge on behalf of the Proposer that the Proposer is fully aware of the possible consequences of the Proposer’s violation of Section 2.2 of the RFP, which may include disqualifying the Proposer from bidding or from further consideration of its proposal (if the proposal has been submitted), or, if in the best interests of the Wyoming Lottery, rescinding the Contract Award or terminating the Contract, if the Contract has been awarded to the Proposer.
4. I certify that the above statements are true to the best of my knowledge, belief and information.  I am aware that I may be subject to punishment if any of the foregoing statements are materially false.
Authorized Signature______________________________________________________

By signing the Proposal, the Proposer acknowledges that no contract is hereby created.

Print or Type Name   ______________________________________________________

Title                             ______________________________________________________

Business Name of Proposer ________________________________________________

Address of Proposer    _____________________________________________________

                                       _____________________________________________________

                                       _____________________________________________________

Phone Number             _____________________________________________________

Email address               _____________________________________________________

Date                               _____________________________________________________
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PROPOSER’S COMMITMENT

I hereby commit ______________________________________________________                                   
                                                          (Company Name)

to provide the goods and services described in the attached Proposal for Lottery Operations and Services required by the Request for Proposal for the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.



Signature:_____________________________________

By signing this attachment, the Proposer acknowledges that no contract is hereby created.


Printed Name: _________________________________


Title: ________________________________________


Date: ________________________________________
ATTACHMENT 
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FINANCIAL COMMITMENT AND RESPONSIBILITY
This financial commitment and responsibility statement is to be completed by the parent corporation’s chief financial officer.

_________________________________________________ is a fully-owned subsidiary of

                                (Subject)

_________________________________and that as such____________________________

                               (Parent)                                                                      (Parent)

Is fully responsible for any and all financial obligations of 

______________________________________________.

                                (Subject)




Signature:_________________________________

By signing this attachment, the Proposer acknowledges that no contract is hereby created.
                   
Title: _____________________________________




Date: _____________________________________

ATTACHMENT 
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START-UP COST PROPOSAL

The Proposer must provide start-up costs through Go-Live, plus, estimated first quarter operating costs.

Start-Up Costs:


Primary, Back-up & Tertiary Center



$_______________


Software Development




$_______________


Communications Network




$_______________


Call Center






$_______________

Terminal Equipment & Peripherals



$_______________


Terminal Installation, Maintenance & Repair

$_______________


Field Representatives





$_______________


Corporate Overhead





$_______________

First Quarter Operating Costs:

Operating Costs





$_______________

___________________________________________________

Signature of person authorized to contractually bind the Proposer

___________________________________________________

Printed Name and Title

___________________________________________________

Date

ATTACHMENT 
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SAMPLE PERFORMANCE BOND

Bond No.____________________


(company name, address), as Principal and (surety company), a corporation licensed to do business in the State of Wyoming and admitted to write bonds, as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, 1620 Central Ave, Suite 100, Cheyenne, Wyoming  82001, as Obligee, in the full sum of (written amount) Dollars ($_________) for the payment of which said Principal and Surety bond themselves, and their respective heirs, administrators, executors, successors, assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents.


WHEREAS, the Principal has entered into a written Contract with Obligee dated the ________day of ______________, _______, for (type of services) which Contract is hereby referred to, as if fully and to the same extent as if copied at length herein.


NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that, if during the term of this Contract (or annual bond), the Principal shall faithfully perform such Contract, or shall indemnify and save harmless the Obligee from all cost and damage by reason of Principal’s failure to do so, then this (if annual bond, add this paragraph).


The term of this obligation is for the period commencing on __________ and expiring at 12:00 a.m. on __________________.  This bond may be renewed on an annual basis at the option of surety.  If the surety does not choose to renew this obligation, it will so notify the Obligee and Principal not later than thirty (30) days prior to its expiration.


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and Surety have signed and sealed this instrument this ________day of ___________________, _________.








Principal:
______________________


(seal)





By:

______________________








Surety:

______________________


(seal)





By:

______________________










(Attorney-in-Fact)
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NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT
A. Company wishes to receive certain trade secret, confidential and proprietary information (hereinafter, collectively “Information”) pertaining to the Request for Proposals for Lottery Operations and Services 0003, including but not limited to, information relevant to Lottery security or information that is claimed to be proprietary by third parties.  Company wishes to receive the Information for the sole purpose of responding to the Request for Proposals for Lottery Operations and Services 0003.
B. Company is willing to receive the information on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

Therefore, Company agrees as follows:

1. That the disclosure of Information by the Wyoming Lottery Corporation (WLC) to Company is in the strictest confidence and thus Company shall:

a. Except in accordance with Section 1(c) of this disclosure, not disclose to any other person the Information and use at least the same degree of care to maintain the Information secret as the Company uses in maintaining as secret its own secret information, but always at least a reasonable degree of care;

b. Use the Information only for the purposes stated herein:

c. Restrict disclosure of the Information solely to those directors, officers, employees and agents of Company having a need to know such Information in order to accomplish the purpose stated herein:

d. Advise each such director, officer, employee or agent, before he or she receives access to the Information, of the obligations of Company under this Non-Disclosure Agreement, and require each such director, officer, employee and agent to maintain those obligations;

e. Within fifteen (15) days following the earlier of (i) the deadline for submission of Proposals (if Company does not submit a Proposal) or (ii) request of WLC, return to WLC all documentation, copies, notes, diagrams and other materials containing any portion of the information, or confirm to WLC, in writing, the destruction of such materials; and

f. Immediately upon sale of Company or merger of Company with a third party, return to WLC all documentation, copies, notes, diagrams, and other materials containing any portion of the Information, or confirm to WLC, in writing, the destruction of such materials.

2. This Non-Disclosure Agreement imposes no obligation on Company with respect to any portion of the Information received from WLC which (a)(1) was known to the Company prior to disclosure by WLC, and (2) the Company has no obligation not to disclose or use; (b) is lawfully obtained by the Company from a third party under no obligation of confidentiality; (c) is or becomes generally known or available other than by unauthorized disclosure; (d) is independently developed by the Company; or (e) is generally disclosed by WLC to third parties without any obligation on the third parties.

3. This Non-Disclosure Agreement imposes no obligation on Company with respect to any portion of the information disclosed by WLC, unless such portion is (a) disclosed in a written document or machine readable media marked “CONFIDENTIAL” at the time of disclosure or (b) disclosed orally to Company as being confidential.

4. The information shall remain the sole property of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.

5. THE WYOMING LOTTERY CORPORATION DOES NOT MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION WITH RESPECT TO AND DOES NOT WARRANT ANY INFORMATION PROVIDED UNDER THIS NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT, BUT SHALL FURNISH SUCH IN GOOD FAITH.  WITHOUT RESTRICTING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, WLC DOES NOT MAKE ANY REPRESENATIONS OR WARRANTIES, WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, STATUTORY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WITH RESPECT TO THE INFORMATION WHICH MAY BE PROVIDED HEREUNDER, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.  WLC SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OF ANY NATURE WHATSOEVER RESULTING FROM RECEIPT OR USE OF THE INFORMATION BY THE COMPANY.

6. In the event or a breach or threatened breach or intended breach of this Non-Disclosure Agreement by Company, WLC, in addition to any other rights and remedies available to it at law or in equity, shall be entitled to preliminary and final injunctions enjoining and restraining such breach or threatened breach or intended breach.

7. This Non-Disclosure Agreement is governed by the laws of state of Wyoming.

8. The rights and obligations of the Company under this Non-Disclosure Agreement may not be sold, assigned or otherwise transferred.

This Non-Disclosure Agreement is binding upon Company, and upon its directors, officers, employees and agents.  This Non-Disclosure Agreement is effective as of the date of execution by Company and will continue indefinitely.  However, Company’s obligations of confidentiality and restrictions on use of the Information disclosed by WLC shall survive termination of this Non-Disclosure Agreement.

	Company Name
	

	Address
	

	City, State, Zip Code
	

	Authorized Representative Name (Printed)
	

	Authorized Representative Signature
	

	Title of Authorized Representative
	

	Date
	


ATTACHMENT
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VENDOR BACKGROUND INVESTIGATION FORM

APPARENT SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER

The Chief Executive Officer of the Wyoming Lottery Corporation may require a vendor background investigation prior to awarding any Vendor Contract.

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

1. Type or print all information.

2. The Apparent Successful Proposer, including the parent or subsidiary of the Apparent Successful Proposer or any designated Subcontractors of the Successful Proposer, may need to complete and return these forms.

3. The Wyoming Lottery and/or its agents are authorized to obtain criminal history records from the Wyoming Department of Public Safety, the Federal Bureau of Investigations or any other law enforcement agency.

SALES AGENT ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS

The following people are prohibited from holding a Wyoming Lottery Ticket Sales License:

1. Persons convicted of a felony, criminal fraud, gambling or a gambling-related offense whose sentence, parole, mandatory supervision or probation ended less than ten (10) years ago.

2. Persons convicted of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude whose sentence, parole, mandatory supervision or probation ended less than ten (10) years ago.

3. Persons who are or have been professional gamblers.

4. Persons currently delinquent in the payment of certain state taxes or student loans.

5. The spouses of those people named above.

Also, a business is prohibited from holding a Wyoming Lottery Ticket Sales License if that business includes a person identified in items 1 – 5 above and that person:

· Is an officer or director of that business;

· Holds 10 percent or more of the stock in that business

· Holds an equitable interest greater than 10 percent in that business;

· Is owed more than 10 percent of the business’s debt

· Owns or leases a business through which the applicant will conduct ticket sales; 

· Will share in the profits of that business (not including stock dividends); or

· Participates in managing the affairs of the applicant or sales agent
OWNERSHIP INFORMATION FOR APPARENT SUCCESSFUL PROPOSER

	Corporation or Legal Business Name
	

	Business Ownership (i.e., Sole Owner, Partnership, Wyoming Corporation, Foreign Corporation, other)
	

	If Wyoming Corporation, list Charter Number and Date
	

	If your business is a foreign corporation enter, Home State, Charter Number, Wyoming Certificate of Authority Number, Wyoming Certificate Date
	____________________________________________________

(Home State)

____________________________________________________

(Charter Number)

____________________________________________________
(Wyoming Certificate of Authority)

_______________________________________________________________

(Wyoming Certificate Date)

	If Limited Partnership, enter Home State and Identification Number
	

	Federal Employer’s Identification (FEI) Number, if any
	

	Taxpayer Number for Reporting any Wyoming Tax or your Wyoming Identification Number 
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WYOMING LOTTERY CORPORATION
Consent to Release Personal Information

Note:  The Apparent Successful Proposer must complete and return this Consent to Release Personal Information form for all individuals subject to background investigation under section 5.3. Each release form should have a personal resume attached.
	1. Name (First, Middle Initial, Last):
	

	2.  Social Security Number:
	

	3. Address (Street & Number, P.O. Box or Rural Route and Box Number)
	

	4. City, State and Zip Code:
	

	5. Home Phone:
	

	6. Driver’s License Number; include City and State
	

	7. Date of Birth (mm/dd/yyyy)
	


I understand and hereby give my voluntary consent to any investigation or any other inquiry into information described above.  Further, I hereby consent to the release of any information to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation and/or persons conducting an investigation or inquiry on their behalf.  I understand that certain information obtained through this investigation or inquiry may prevent me from contracting with the Wyoming Lottery Corporation.
I further hold harmless and release the Wyoming Lottery Corporation, its agents, officers or employees, from any and all liability for this investigation or inquiry, and for any action taken as a result of information obtained through this investigation or inquiry.  I further hold harmless and release any person providing information in good faith to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation or to any person conducting an investigation or inquiry on their behalf.

I further understand that any person or employee who intentionally, knowingly, or with criminal negligence makes a material incorrect or deceptive oral or written statement to a person conducting an investigation commits a misdemeanor.

_________________________________________________    ______________________

Applicant’s Signature





 Date

ATTACHMENT
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST

All key personnel identified in Sections 3.26 and 5.3 must also complete this Conflict of Interest document.

Yes     No



 I hold interest in a business in Wyoming.  List the business name, address, and 



 Business type.



 _______________________________________________________________



 _______________________________________________________________



 _______________________________________________________________

Yes     No
       


 I have a family member(s) (i.e., parent, grandparent, brother, sister, child) that 



 operates or has interest in a business in Wyoming.  Name the family member, 


 
 family member’s personal address, date of birth and social security number,


     
 business name, location and business type.



 _______________________________________________________________



 _______________________________________________________________



 _______________________________________________________________



 _______________________________________________________________

In order for the Lottery to have adequate information to verify compliance with Section 3.26, please provide the full legal names, date of birth of all members of your immediate family (spouse or domestic partner, child, brother, sister, parent) residing in your home as defined below.

	
	Contractor or Subcontractor Name:
	     

	
	Your Name         
	                                                                                                                                                                      

	
	Family Member 
Full Legal Name
	Date of Birth
	City, State, ZIP
	Relationship to Contractor/

Subcontractor
(spouse or domestic partner, child, brother, sister, parent)

	1. 
	     
	     
	     
	     

	2. 
	     
	     
	     
	     

	3. 
	     
	     
	     
	     

	4. 
	     
	     
	     
	     

	5. 
	     
	     
	     
	     

	6. 
	     
	     
	     
	     

	
	 FORMCHECKBOX 
 If you need additional space, check box and use the bottom  of this form 
	
	

	This document serves as notification to the Wyoming Lottery Corporation of all of my immediate family members.  I acknowledge and understand that these names will be added to the ineligible player list and as such, these persons are ineligible to be paid a prize in any Wyoming Lottery game.  I further acknowledge that it is my responsibility to submit a new form if there are any additions to or deletions from this list.


	
	Definitions:

Spouse: The current spouse by legal marriage of the employee.

Domestic partner: An individual joined in a registered domestic partnership.

Parent: A biological or legal adoptive parent of the employee.

Brother/Sister: A biological or legal adoptive sibling of the employee.

Child: A biological or legal adoptive child of the employee.


___________________________________
__________________________________

(Signature)
       




(Date)

___________________________________
__________________________________

(Printed Name)




(Position held by Successful Proposer)
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SCORING CRITERIA AND WEIGHTS (AVAILABLE POINTS)
The weights (available points) for each of the evaluation criteria are as follows:

	RFP           Section
	Description
	Points

	
	Central Configuration
	100

	
	Retailer Terminals, Peripherals and Other Devices
	130

	
	Communications Network
	110

	
	Software Controls and Data Management
	170

	
	Games and Marketing
	100

	
	Emergency Management Terminals
	60

	
	Contractor Facilities and Disaster Recovery Plan
	75

	
	Staffing, Services and Operations Security Plan
	100

	
	Gaming System Implementation
	80

	
	Bidder Corporate Capability
	75

	
	TOTAL TECHNICAL POINTS
	1,000


Although some criteria are more heavily weighted than others, the Proposer is cautioned that every criterion reflects requirements that must be met regardless of a criterion’s weight.  A poor response to a lessor-weighted criterion still can have a significant impact on the Proposer’s final technical score.
SCORING SCALE FOR EVALUATION

Points in this system are ‘earned’ based on the Lottery Committee’s consensus judgment using the following award scale:

	Percentage
	Description

	90 – 100%
	The Proposal contains no significant limitations for the criterion.

	80 – 89%
	The Proposal has no more than one significant limitation and otherwise only minor limitations for the criterion.

	70 – 79%
	The Proposal has a few significant limitations or concerns and otherwise only minor limitations for the criterion.

	60 – 69%
	The Proposal has several serious flaws and concerns with the approach or capability for the criterion.

	Less than 60%
	The Proposal is so severely flawed for this criterion as to render an essential element of the solution unworkable and therefore render the Proposal ineligible for contract award.


Thus, for each of the ten (10) criteria, the Proposal will receive a score as a result of multiplying the point’s available times the scoring percentage.  All ten (10) scores will be combined for the Proposal’s total technical score.

A technical score of less than sixty percent (60%) on any of the ten (10) criteria, or, a total technical score below seventy percent (70%) [i.e., less than seven hundred (700) of the available one thousand (1,000) points] shall render the Proposal ineligible for contract award.

BEST AND FINAL OFFER (BAFO)
Following the opening of the Cost Proposals, the CEO and selected Lottery designees, may negotiate with Proposers the final terms and conditions of this procurement, including price.  When negotiations occur, a written record of the nature and content of the negotiations, as well as the dates and persons involved, shall become part of the RFP record.
The following is the process that will be followed for BAFO’s:

· Initially, the Lottery Team will conduct a review of all of the proposals and select Proposers to negotiate and/or conduct a BAFO based on its evaluation and determination of the Cost Proposal that best satisfies the evaluation criteria and RFP requirements.  The Lottery Team may not contact all Proposers to negotiate and/or to submit a BAFO.

· In response to the request for a BAFO, Proposers may submit a revised price proposal that is equal to or lower in price than their original submission, but must continue to satisfy all mandatory requirements.  Any revised price Proposal that is higher in price than the original will be rejected as non-responsive and the original proposal will be used for any further evaluation purposes.

· After receipt of the results of the BAFO(s), the Lottery Committee will complete its evaluation and award that responsible Proposer’s whose Proposal, conforming to this RFP is most advantageous to the Wyoming Lottery.

· All contacts, records of initial evaluations, any correspondence with Proposers related to any request for negotiation or BAFO, any revised Proposal and/or price Proposals, the Lottery Committee Report and the Award Recommendation, will be marked for the records as ‘confidential’.  

Price evaluation will occur after technical scoring. The Lottery Committee will only evaluate a Proposer’s price proposal if the Lottery Committee has determined, in its reasonable discretion, that:

· The Proposer has demonstrated quality, fitness and capacity to satisfactorily carry out the responsibilities of the Contract.

· The Proposal meets all submission requirements and complies with all mandatory technical requirements stated in the RFP.

· The Proposal has achieved an over-all technical score of at least seventy percent (70%) of available points.

The price evaluation will be based on the proposed price submitted and ranked among all proposers.  The Lottery Committee will then award up to 100 points for price.  The point allocation for Pricing Proposals will be as follows:

	Lowest Cost Proposal
	100 points

	Next lowest cost
	80 points

	Next lowest cost
	60 points

	Highest cost 
	50 points


If there are five Pricing Proposals and one falls between the ranges, the pricing score will fall between the ranges as well (i.e., the Proposer’s Price is not the highest but higher than the ‘next lowest’ the Proposer will receive 55 points).
TOTAL POINTS = Total Proposal Points + Total Pricing Points

The available one thousand (1,000) proposal points and one hundred (100) price points provide a maximum possible points of one thousand, one hundred (1,100) points.  The Proposal scoring the highest amount of points will be recommended for contract award, regardless of how slim the margin.

In the event the total amount of points results in an exact tie, the tie will be resolved in favor of the Proposal scoring the highest number of technical points.
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